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Letter from the Chairman
Shareholders,
2020 drew to a close on a very sad note. It is with great sorrow and a heavy heart that I announce the passing
of two of our company's founders: Giovanni and Franco. They will be remembered fondly for their entrepreneurial
spirit which, along with their brothers, led to the creation of the Group I represent. All companies in the group
strive to foster that spirit every day.
2020 was the year of the pandemic, what some may call a black swan event, disrupting the lives of people across
the globe, impacting health, the economy and social relations.
At this time, the construction sector has proven to be a strategic stronghold of Italian and international industrial
production, an asset capable of holding up the economic fabric of countries, at a time when the sectors known
to be most fragile have been at a standstill for months.
Our Group addressed the pandemic in a very serious and skillful manner, implementing COVID-19 control and
prevention protocols to protect our employees and independent contractors, all of which comply with the
government measures in each country where we operate. Thanks to our hard work, dedication and
commitment, none of our plants were forced to close because of the virus, nor were any of our activities on
pause. The Group's positive key performance indicators also relays the quality of the work carried out by our
entire organization. The cement segment was - once again - a major driver of growth, especially in the
Dominican Republic with Domicem, which closed the year with a profit of 30 million euro, and in Tunisia, where
CAT made a profit of over 6 million euro.
We now have to think about what the future holds with even greater determination, how to approach the epochmaking 'revolution' of decarbonization that will affect our business: what to make, how to make it, where to make
it. This will be a costly process and require investments. The world will evolve into something different, certainly
more sustainable and advanced in terms of technology and knowledge. We are confident that technology will
make extraordinary progress, but without the cultural evolution of people, companies and all stakeholders, the
desired targets will not be achieved.
We will take action in a timely and consistent manner in line with market trends and new social contexts. As
always, we will continue to pursue innovative investments, based on our deep-rooted corporate culture of
sustainability. Our future really depends on how successful we are in this area.

Chairman
Dott.ssa Francesca Colaiacovo
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Business Philosophy
Financo is the holding company of the Colaiacovo group, whose core-business is the production and marketing
of cement and concrete.
Our subsidiary, Colacem, is Italy's third-largest cement producer, and Colabeton covers the same leading
position in the concrete production sector. In addition to the Tracem and Inba transport companies, developed
based on the core companies, Financo is involved in diversified sectors such as renewable energy with Greenfin,
tourism-hotel, insurance, radio television, and even the sports sector with the Misano World Circuit "Marco
Simoncelli" of Misano Adriatico.
The philosophy of the Financo Group is the result of a family business tradition based on excellence in terms of
the products and services offered, the use of the best available technologies, an organization of trained and
capable people and long-standing know-how.
Relations with stakeholders, based on involvement and dialogue, remain at the center of this philosophy,
because it is thanks to the knowledge and cultural exchange between different subjects of a community that the
most advanced results can be achieved. These are some of the real elements that can well summarize our
Group's approach to sustainability, reaffirmed in the Mission and Vision.
Mission
The Financo Group contributes to making the places where it operates better and more livable, creating
economic, cultural and social value. The Group companies are constantly engaged in the challenge of
decarbonization and global markets, with the desire to be leaders and forerunners of innovation in industrial
policies, organization and working methods.
Vision
Sustainability and the ethical dimension of entrepreneurial action are the values, which have characterized the
Group since the very beginning. Our commitment to environmental stewardship and safety at work is
demonstrated by our investments in staff training and industrial plants, in addition to paying constant attention
to scientific and technological progress.
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Group Code of Ethics
The Financo Group, i.e. Financo S.r.l. as Parent Company and its subsidiaries, has adopted a Code of Ethics
and takes as its guiding principles compliance with the law and regulations, in a framework of integrity, fairness
and confidentiality. Market competitiveness is pursued in accordance with competition law.
The Financo Group operates by taking a dynamic view of its surroundings, with the aim of turning challenges
into real goals, focusing on strengthening the credibility and trust of the stakeholders.
Each Group company acts with the utmost commitment towards sustainability, adopting the best available
technologies to maximize the positive impacts on the communities and minimize as much as possible the
negative ones, in each country where it operates.
In terms of social responsibility, the Group devotes significant resources to protect the safety of workers, and the
various aspects of communities where it operates. The Group fosters studies, works together with public
authorities, protects the historical heritage and monuments, supports cultural activities and encourages social
life. It takes all the necessary steps to remedy any existing environmental damage.
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Group structure
CEMENT

Colacem
Calce e Cementi Lauriano
Maddaloni Cementi
Ragusa Cementi
Spoleto Cementi
Cementos Colacem
España Colacem Albania
CAT
Domicem
Buying House
Citadelle United

CONCRETE
Colabeton
Luciani
Eurocava
Consorzio Stabile S. Francesco
Co. Riobeton
Cava di Cusago
Calcestruzzi Germaire

Calcestruzzi Lario 80
N.C.C.
Consorzio Vallemme

AS AT
31/12/2020
TRANSPORTATION
Tracem
Inba
Cat Transport
Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo

DIVERSIFIED
Tourist
Poggiovalle
Santamonic
a Radio
Gubbio
Umbria TV
Grifo Insurance Brokers
Aermarche
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International presence

1

HAITI

Citadelle United S.A.
2

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
Domicem S.A.

3

JAMAICA

Buying House Cement Ltda.

4

SPAIN

Cementos Colacem España S.L.U.
5

TUNISIA
Les Ciments Artificiels Tunisiens S.A.

6

7

ITALY

Colacem
S.p.A.
Colabeton
S.p.A.

ALBANIA

Colacem Albania Sh.p.k.

1
2

3

6
4
5
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2020 RESULTS
For many years to come, 2020 will be remembered as the year of COVID-19 and its devastating impact on the
world's population and economy as a whole. Unfortunately, this situation is not over yet.
As a result of the pandemic in 2020, the global economy fluctuated, with heavy restrictions in the early part of
the year, caused by the negative impacts of the outbreak of the first COVID-19 cases. The entire planet was
completely unprepared to manage this public health emergency. This initial period was followed by a period of
economic recovery, and then in the last part of 2020, marked by a large spike in COVID-19 cases, there was a
considerable slowdown in the world economy, with particular repercussions on the more advanced economies.
In respect to the worldwide situation, the negative effects caused by COVID-19 in the Euro area were much
stronger than those experienced in other parts of the world. As a matter of fact, the new surge in infections during
the last months of 2020, forced various European countries to further tighten measures to prevent the virus from
spreading. They were also forced to take an expansive approach in reshaping their monetary policy instruments
in order to ensure favorable economic support measures throughout the period of the pandemic.
With reference to Italy, the Bank of Italy's bulletin reports that growth in the summer months was greater than
expected despite the negative effects related to COVID-19. Unfortunately, national economic activity in the fourth
quarter of 2020 was unfavorably aligned with the world economy.
Based on the information available, the decrease in GDP in the last quarter can be currently estimated at around
-3.5 per cent on the previous quarter.
According to the annual report of the National Association of Construction Companies (ANCE) the timid signs of
recovery in the Italian construction market, already heavily impacted by a crisis which since 2008 never really
ended, have been blocked by the pandemic. ANCE estimates that investments in construction fell by -10.1% in
2020 compared to the previous year.
The Italian National Statistics Institute (ISTAT) index relating to production in the construction sector in the first
eleven months of the previous year, reports a decrease of -8.9%, affected by the sharp drops during the months
of the lockdown (-35.5% in March and -68.9% in April), gradually recovered with the easing of the measures
adopted by the government to control the pandemic, triggering a rebound in production starting in the summer
months. However, this has still not been enough to bring the overall performance of the sector back into the
positive range.
Within this complex economic environment, the Group has sought to operate carefully in an attempt to seize all
the opportunities that the market has to offer.
On the whole, the majority of companies in the Financo Group have managed to limit the negative effects tied
to the pandemic, with the exception of certain companies in the hydraulic binders division that are undergoing a
radical operational restructuring, and other companies operating in the tourism and motorsports sectors,
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segments hit particularly hard by COVID-19, even managed to achieve better financial results with respect to
those of 2019.
The Financo Group closed 2020 with a consolidated turnover of 536.2 million euro, reporting an EBITDA of 106.1
million euro and an EBIT of 64.7 million euro, all improving with respect to 2019 (the comparative figures for the
previous year were 523.5 million euro, 101.3 million euro, and 54.5 million, respectively).
Group profit reached 19.8 million euro (versus 10.6 million euro in 2019). Cash flow for 2020 increased compared
with the previous year and amounted to 62 million euro after depreciation, amortization and write-downs of 40
million euro.
The improvement with respect to 2019 was mainly due to the significant improvement of 9 million euro in
operating revenue, a positive effect to which an overall reduction in production costs of approximately 1 million
euro was added.

2020

2019

2018

536,200

523,467

466,528

42,835

48,414

64,666

106,065

101,304

79,029

% on revenues

19.7%

19.4%

16.9%

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs

41,366

46,760

45,565

64,699

54,544

33,464

12.0%

10.4%

7.2%

19,834

10,564

11,663

3.6%

2.0%

2.5%

61,754

57,953

58,020

11.5%

11.1%

12.4%

Key financial highlights
Net revenue
Other revenue and income
EBITDA

Operating income (EBIT)
% on revenues
Group Net Result
% on revenues
Cash flow (income + depreciation/amortization + value
adjustments)
% on revenues

Revenue by Business area

Employees by Business area

Cement - 76.3%

Cement - 76.5%

Concrete - 21.1%

Concrete - 11.3%

Transportation -0.6%

Transportation - 8.3%

Diversified - 2.0%

Diversified - 3.9%
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Corporate structure of the Parent
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Francesca Colaiacovo Chairman
Maria Carmela Colaiacovo Vice Chairman
Carlo Colaiacovo Director
Stefano Farabbi Director
Mariano Spigarelli Director
Paola Colaiacovo Director
Giuseppe Colaiacovo Director
Cristina Colaiacovo Director

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
Alcide Casini Chairman
Renato Zanotti Standing Auditor
Paolo Agnesi Standing Auditor
Antonio Di Giovanni Alternate Auditor
Luca Vannucci Alternate Auditor
SUPERVISORY BODY
Biscarini Alessandra Chairman
Lorenzo Belloni Member
AUDITING FIRM
DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Limited liability company
Registered office in Gubbio [Perugia] - Via della Vittorina
60 Share capital 6,000,000 euro fully paid-in
Tax Code, VAT number and registration number in the
Business Register of the Court of Perugia: 00261100549
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
Shareholders,
While 2020 will be remembered around the world as the year of the tragic COVID-19 pandemic, we will remember
this year mainly for the unexpected passing of two pillars of our group and our community, brothers Giovanni
and Franco Colaiacovo.
Our founding partner, Giovanni Colaiacovo, passed away last April. He dedicated his entire life to his work, his
beloved and large family, and his town. Giovanni Colaiacovo was an entrepreneur who courageously and
skillfully had the ability to interpret market trends, foreseeing and anticipating needs and encouraging changes.
The successful partnership established with his brothers allowed the small company based in Gubbio to become
an industry player, both in Italy and around the world. He held numerous offices within our Group companies.
The most important one was certainly Chairman of the Board of Directors of Colacem S.p.A., the most important
company of the Financo Group. He represented the heart of the business due to his empathy and ability to build
strong relationships.
Still trodden with a heavy heart, Mr. Franco Colaiacovo passed away soon after in November. Together with his
brothers he was also a founder of our Group. Signor Franco, as he liked everyone to call him, represented the
innovative spirit of our Group; long ago he realized that competitiveness of the industry was connected to
sustainability and environmental compatibility. He succeeded in transmitting his enthusiasm and passion for
research and technological evolution to all of us. His future-oriented thinking was always in perfect harmony with
his love for the history and culture of Gubbio, a town always close to his heart.
Their life lessons and values will always be part of our corporate heritage.
Although we are extremely saddened by the loss of Franco and Giovanni, we still have the obligation to present
the results for the year ended 31 December 2020. It was a difficult year for the entire industrial world, but one
that our Group was able to handle. The results achieved allow us to look ahead with optimism.
The consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, report a
profit of 19,834 thousand euro mainly due to the solid performance of the Group as a whole. Sales in Italy and
abroad increased, accompanied by lower costs, in particular as regards energy costs and, in general, the main
production costs.
The following companies were included for the first time in these consolidated financial statements using the full
consolidation method: Poggiovalle S.r.l., a subsidiary that has been in the agriculture and hospitality business
for decades; Skydomus S.r.l., a finance company that also works in real estate and owns 40% of Poggiovalle
S.r.l. (another 40% of Poggiovalle S.r.l.'s capital is held directly by Financo S.r.l.). They also include the merger
by incorporation of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. With regard to the latter,
Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. was included in the consolidated financial statements in the previous year as an
associate, in that it is directly owned by Colacem S.p.A. In 2020, Colacem S.p.A. purchased an additional interest
in Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l., thereby taking 100% ownership of the company and, on 30 December 2020,
proceeded with a merger by incorporation.
The year just ended was characterized by an increase in consolidated operating revenue, in the amount of 6,586
thousand euro (+1.2%) which, as already mentioned, can only be attributed to the improvement in overall sales
revenues (+12,733 thousand euro), offset by the decrease in the item Other revenue and income which in the
previous financial statements was positively impacted by the economic effects resulting from the capital gain
realized by Colacem S.p.A. resulting from the sale of the of the business unit for marketing white cement for 13
million euro.
Overall, production costs contracted by 3,569 thousand euro (-0.7%), which allowed the Financo Group to
achieve an EBIT of 64,699 thousand euro, against an EBIT of 54,544 thousand euro reported in 2019.
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KEY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DATA
2020

Financial highlights for the Financo Group

2019

536,200
42,835
(1,178)
1,453
106,065
19.8%
40,026
1,340
64,699
12.1%
19,834
3.7%
61,754
11.5%

Revenue
Other revenue and income
Changes in inventories
Increase in own work capitalized
EBITDA
% on revenues
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs
Other provisions
Operating income (EBIT)
% on revenues
Group Net Result
% on revenues
Cash Flow (Income + Depreciation/amortization + value adjustments)
% on revenues

523,467
48,414
(3,802)
1,787
101,304
19.4%
39,090
7,670
54,544
10.4%
10,564
2.0%
57,953
11.1%

[*] EBITDA (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”): performance indicator calculated by the Group as a result for the year, adjusted
for the following accounting items: (i) taxes (ii) net financial income (expenses) including value adjustments to financial assets, (iii) other provisions and writedowns including credit write-downs, (iv) depreciation/amortization of tangible and intangible assets. It should be noted that the criterion for determining the
reported EBITDA applied by the Group may not be the same as that adopted by other companies or by other groups and, therefore, the balance obtained by
the Group may not be comparable with that determined by the latter.
[**] EBIT (“Earning Before Interest and Taxes”): performance indicator calculated by the Group as a result of the financial year gross of the following income
statement items: (i) "net financial income (expenses)" including value adjustments to financial assets, and (ii) "taxes". The Group believes that it represents a
useful indicator of its ability to generate profits before financial management and tax effects.
[***] EBITDA FOR THE CALCULATION OF COVENANTS (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”): performance indicator calculated
by the Group as a result for the year, adjusted for the following accounting items: (i) taxes, (ii) net financial income (expenses) including value adjustments to
financial assets, (iii) other provisions and write-downs including write-downs of receivables, (iv) depreciation/amortization of tangible and intangible assets, (v)
leasing fees listed in the table of costs for leased assets in the amount of 1,830 thousand euro.

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA ( in thousands of Euro)
Revenue

2020
536,200

2019 difference change% 20/19
523,467
12,733
2.4

Value Added

194,821

197,371

(2,550)

(1.3)

Gross Operating Margin (Ebitda [*])

106,065

101,304

4,761

(4.7)

% on revenues (Ebitda margin)

19.8%

19.4%

Amortization and depreciation

40,026

39,090

936

1,340

7,670

(6,330)

(82.5)

64,699
12.1%
(10,046)
(554)
54,099
16,609
37,490
(17,656)
19,834

54,544
10.4%
(8,797)
(629)
45,118
19,931
25,187
(14,623)
10,564

10,155

(18.6)

(1,249)
75
8,981
(3,322)
12,303
(3,033)
9,270

(14.2)
11.9
(19.9)
16.7
(48.9)
(20.7)
(87.8)

61,754

57,953

3,801

(6.6)

457,097
(135,407)
20,003
1,461

350,090
(123,968)
21,066
1,031

107,007
(11,439)
(1,063)
430

30.6
(9.2)
(5.1)
41.7

Other provisions and write-downs
Operating income (Ebit [**])
% on revenues (Ebit margin)
Net financial income and (expenses)
Value adjustments to financial assets
Earnings before tax
Tax
Profit for the year including minority interests
(Profit) Loss for the period relating to minority interests
Profit (Loss) for the year
Cash Flow (Income (Loss) + Depreciation/Amortization
+ Provisions + Value adjustments)
Equity
Net Financial Position with Third parties
Technical investments
Equity investments
20
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The economic indicators shown below may not be directly comparable with those used by other companies, as
there is no uniform way of expressing the aggregate data taken as reference for the calculation. Therefore, the
value obtained by the Group may not be comparable with the value determined by other companies.

Profitability ratios

2020

2019

R.O.E.

Net Income / Shareholders' Equity

4.34%

3.02%

R.O.I.

Operating Income/Net Invested Capital

10.84%

11.32%

R.O.S.

Operating Income / Sales

12.07%

10.42%

Financial equity ratios
Debt Equity

Net financial position/ Shareholders’ Equity

0.31

0.38

Liquidity ratios

Gross Working Capital / Current Liabilities

2.26

1.66

Per capita Revenue

Revenue/No. of Employees

269

268

Employee Performance

Revenue / Cost of Labor

6.04

5.45

Efficiency Ratios

NET FINANCIAL DEBT
The total net financial position came to 130.9 million euro, compared to 112.4 million euro in the previous year
(up 18.5 million euro). Furthermore, financial exposure towards third parties increased significantly from 124.0
million euro in the previous year to 135.4 million euro in the year under review (up 11.4 million euro).
NET FINANCIAL DEBT

Liquidity (A)

2020

2019

59,867

29,509

163

182

59,704
4,697

29,327
14,615

-

-

303

2,838

Other
Current financial debt (C)

4,394
(31,541)

11,777
(42,713)

Current portion of Bank borrowings

(28,154)

(35,834)

Current portion of Group Company borrowings

-

-

Current portion borrowings from Other Lenders
Net current financial debt D=(A+B+C)

(3,387)
33,023

(6,879)
1,411

171,566

11,856

555

7,108

3,652

1,662

To third parties
Non-current Financial Payables (F)

3,439
(175,017)

3,086
(125,627)

To banks

(127,857)

(79,605)

-

-

Cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Current financial receivables (B)
From subsidiaries
From associates

Non-current financial receivables (E)
From subsidiaries
From associates

To subsidiaries
Derivative Instruments, liabilities

-

-

To third parties
Net non-current financial debt H = (E+F)

(43,709)
(163,920)

(46,022)
(113,771)

TOTAL Net financial debt (D+H)

(130,897)

(112,360)

Third party adjusted net financial debt

(135,407)

(123,968)
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GENERAL ECONOMIC FRAMEWORK
Before we analyze and discuss the financial performance of the main industrial areas in the world, we must say
a few words about the extremely serious COVID-19 pandemic. This event affected the entire world to various
degrees throughout 2020, with adverse effects for both production activities and aggregate demand in all the
world's economies. The pandemic continued in 2021, bringing with it the inevitable unfavorable impacts on the
economy that had already surfaced in the early months of 2020. This issue will be further discussed in the
Outlook and Going Concern section of this management report.

WORLD
According to the Bank of Italy's Economic Bulletin published in January 2021, after a better than expected
recovery in the summer, global economic activity slowed in the fourth quarter of 2020, affected by the new wave
of the pandemic, especially in the advanced countries.
The resurgence of the pandemic between October and December, particularly intense in the European Union
and the United States, and the subsequent stepping up of containment measures in many countries – though
generally less intense than in the spring – led to a new slowdown in the world economy in the last quarter of
2020. The longer-term outlook has instead improved, thanks to the launch of vaccination campaigns in many
countries;
however, the distribution and large-scale vaccine administration times, on which the effects on the economic
cycle will depend, remain uncertain.
In the third quarter of 2020, there was a robust recovery in economic activity, albeit to a much lesser extent in
the service sector, which remained weak everywhere. In the United States, Japan and the United Kingdom, GDP
was still below pre-pandemic levels, by 3.5, 4.2 and 9.7 per cent respectively; however, it rose above the levels
prior to the public health emergency in China, where growth strengthened.
In the last part of 2020, the spike in infections curbed economic activity, especially in the advanced economies.
In December 2020, the purchasing managers’ index (PMI) for manufacturing remained above the threshold
compatible with expansion in the United States, the euro area and the United Kingdom. In the service sector,
the hardest hit by the measures to contain the pandemic, the outlook remains negative overall, especially in the
tourism and recreation services sectors. Only in China, where infections have practically fallen to zero since last
spring, do the indices signal an expansion in all sectors.
These trends are reflected in world trade. After the robust recovery recorded in the third quarter of 2020, the
latest data indicate a slowdown in the fourth quarter. The overall contraction in world trade is expected to be
around 9 per cent for 2020.
The CEB reports that in the United States, after a sharp upturn in the third quarter of 2020, economic growth
slowed down in the fourth quarter. To counter this trend, the US government, towards the end of last year,
approved a sizeable new fiscal stimulus package, which will support consumption at a time when the labor
market is still weak. The unemployment rate continued to be high at 6.7% in November, supported by a reduction
in temporary lay-offs. Overall, subdued consumer confidence, combined with rising numbers of daily new
COVID-19 infections, pose downside risks to economic activity.
As regards Japan, the ECB reports that while economic recovery stalled towards the end of 2020, consumption
remained relatively robust; growth in industrial production weakened in November, while the services PMI
continues to stand below the neutral threshold, signaling ongoing weakness. While a new fiscal package of about
3.5% of GDP would support activity in the short term, a third wave of COVID-19 infections prompted additional
lockdown measures that weighed on the growth outlook.
In the United Kingdom, on 24 December 2020 the EU and the United Kingdom announced that they had reached
an agreement on their future relationship, which ensures tariff-free goods trade and zero
quotas on goods traded. However, companies face additional administrative burdens and longer border
processes owing to customs and regulatory checks. According to the ECB report, this situation reduces the
uncertainty surrounding the Brexit negotiations, but the worsening pandemic situation and deteriorating labor
market conditions continue to weigh on consumer confidence and demand. Official monthly UK GDP data and
surveys signal a decline in growth into negative territory in the fourth quarter of 2020.
As regards the Chinese economy, the ECB reports that China’s GDP in the fourth quarter increased by 2.6%
(quarter on quarter), which brings annual growth for 2020 to 2.3%. This makes China one of the few countries
in the world to record positive economic growth in 2020.
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The GDP figures for the final quarter of 2020 indicate that the recovery momentum has broadened from
investment towards consumption. PMI data also indicate that the service sector is gaining strength as the
pandemic remains broadly under control in China, notwithstanding lockdowns in several municipalities amid new
cases.

EUROPE
According to the Bank of Italy's Economic Bulletin economic activity in the euro area weakened at the end of
2020, owing to the resurgence in infection and the tightening of containment measures. The ECB Governing
Council recalibrated its monetary policy instruments, making them more expansionary, to guarantee favorable
financing conditions over the pandemic period, which looks set to last longer than previously hypothesized.
In the third quarter of 2020, euro-area GDP grew more than expected, by 12.5 per cent, after recording a
cumulative loss of 15 per cent in the first half of the year. Value added increased across all sectors, though it is
still far from the end- 2019 levels, especially in the service segments most exposed to social interaction. GDP
grew in all the major economies, but nowhere did it return to pre-pandemic levels.
According to the available data, GDP decreased in the fourth quarter of 2020. The purchasing managers’ indices
(PMI) are compatible overall with a contraction in economic activity. Signs of recovery in manufacturing
strengthened in the fourth quarter on average, while there was a weakening in services, though to a lesser
degree than in the spring months. The €-coin indicator rose in December, reflecting the resilience of
manufacturing activity and the improvement in the expectations of households and firms.
According to the ECB, total economic activity rose by 12.4% quarter on quarter in the third quarter of 2020,
following declines of 11.7% and 3.7% in the second and first quarters respectively. A breakdown of growth in the
third quarter of 2020 shows that the recovery in output was broadly based, with increased domestic demand and
net trade making positive contributions to growth totaling 11.4 and 2.3 percentage points respectively.
Whereas service sector activity is being severely curtailed (albeit to a lesser extent than in the first wave in spring
2020), manufacturing activity is continuing to hold up well. Growth patterns in the euro area are expected to
remain uneven across sectors, with the service sector being hardest hit by the pandemic (partly as a result of its
sensitivity to social distancing measures). The same is true across countries whose activities are dependent on
infection rates and efforts to contain the pandemic.
The ECB reports that the unemployment rate stood at 8.3% in November, down from 8.4% in October and just
under 8.7% in July. At the same time, the figure for November was still around 1.1 percentage points higher than
the rate seen in February prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Job retention schemes continued to
cushion developments in the labor market, covering an estimated 5.8% of the labor force in November, up from
around 5% in October in response to the latest lockdown measures.
Employment increased by 1.0% in the third quarter of 2020, following a decline of 3.0% in the second quarter.
Nevertheless, employment was still 2.2% lower than it had been in the fourth quarter of 2019.
The ECB reports that housing investments in the euro area (proxied by real residential investment) recovered
strongly in the third quarter of 2020, increasing by 12.3% quarter on quarter, following a cumulative decline of
14.3% in the first half of 2020, and is expected to remain subdued in the short term. That recovery was particularly
strong in the large euro area countries that were most affected by lockdowns during the first wave of the
pandemic, with Italy, France and Spain seeing substantial increases of 45.0%, 30.6% and 15.7% respectively.
In Germany, meanwhile, housing investment declined by 2.0% in the third quarter. Activity tended, overall, to be
driven by firms working their way through a large backlog of construction plans, with construction sites reopening
and new building projects being launched. However, the short-term outlook for housing investment remains
subdued, with the backlog of orders dwindling and new business activity drying up as countries increase
restrictions in order to contain the spread of the virus. Indeed, the euro area PMI for construction output remained
below the expansionary threshold in the fourth quarter, declining further quarter on quarter in average terms.
Meanwhile, construction production increased by 1.4% month on month in November 2020, pointing to an overall
slowdown in quarter-on-quarter terms in the fourth quarter. Looking further ahead, despite some slight
improvements in the fourth quarter of 2020, firms’ expectations continue to point to weak developments over the
short term.

23

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

According to the ECB report, November 2020 data on nominal trade in goods confirm that growth in extra- and
intra-euro area trade has moderated since September, but the process of returning to pre-pandemic levels of
trade is continuing, with growth rates higher than those seen in the two years to February 2020. Euro area
imports and exports have increased since April 2020, especially exports to the United Kingdom (in part as a
consequence of UK stockpiling of goods ahead of Brexit) and exports to China. Consumption goods (especially
cars and fuel) have seen a robust expansion, boosted by strong Chinese demand for German goods.
Conversely, the weakness of private investment has dampened trade in capital goods and will continue to weigh
on activity until uncertainty surrounding the rolling-out of vaccines and the evolution of the pandemic dissipates.
While it has been less affected than capital goods, trade in intermediate goods (which remains subdued) tends
to shape the overall picture, as it accounts for the bulk of total flows (especially for intra-euro area trade).

ITALY
According to the Bank of Italy's Bulletin, growth in the summer months of 2020 was greater than expected,
indicating a significant capacity to recover. Nevertheless, in the fourth quarter of 2020, the economy began to
decline again with the resurgence of the pandemic. Based on the available data, the central value of the fall in
GDP is currently around -3.5 per cent on the previous quarter, but this estimate is affected by significant
uncertainty.
In the third quarter, GDP increased by 15.9 per cent. The economy was driven by the sharp upturn of both
exports and national demand (especially marked for gross fixed investment), which surpassed the levels
recorded at the end of 2019. Value added rose in all sectors; in construction, it outpaced the levels seen before
the outbreak of the pandemic. The service sector saw a partial recovery in segments such as retail, transport,
hotels and restaurants, professional services, and recreational, cultural and personal care services.
The latest indicators of the Bank of Italy suggest that GDP began to decline again in the last quarter of 2020,
following a sizeable increase in the number of cases of infection. According to the economic data currently
available, both qualitative and quantitative, it appears that the reduction in growth is marked in services but
marginal in manufacturing. At the end of the year, the Ita-coin indicator rose to levels close to zero, driven by the
improved business confidence observed in the manufacturing industry.
The data available from the Bank of Italy suggest that, after rising sharply in the summer, industrial production
fell slightly in the final months of the year. Its surveys reveal that firms’ assessments have become less favorable,
but are still far removed from the levels of pessimism in the first half of 2020. Firms plan to increase their
expenditure on investment this year.
After the recovery in the third quarter of 2020, in November industrial production decreased by 1.4 per cent
compared with October, falling to levels 4.7 per cent lower than in January 2020. According to the Bank of Italy,
industrial activity fell slightly, by around 1 per cent, in the fourth quarter as a whole; it decreased by more than
10 per cent for 2020. Firms believe that investment conditions have worsened, although they expect to increase
their investment in 2021, especially those in industry. In December, the purchasing managers’ indices (PMIs)
rose, remaining above the threshold compatible with an expansion in manufacturing. Services – which have
been more heavily impacted by the spread of the virus and the restrictions imposed to contain it – are still far
below that level.
According to the Bank of Italy's report, the volume of house sales rose in the third quarter of 2020, while price
growth slowed. However, according to the Italian Housing Market Survey conducted between November and
December 2020, the estate agents’ outlook for the property market has worsened markedly, in both the short
and medium term.
With reference to the Italian construction market, which is where the main Italian companies in the Group operate,
the report of the National Association of Construction Companies (ANCE) indicates that the building industry,
already slammed by the crisis starting in 2008 which is still far from being over (compared with 12 years ago,
there is still a wide gap to close: production levels down 35% from 2008 to 2019), the pandemic stalled the weak
signs of recovery. The estimate by the National Association of Construction Companies (ANCE) for 2020
construction investment suggests a sharp decrease of 10.1% in real terms compared with the previous year.
This is in line with the forecast made in April 2020.
The Italian National Statistics Institute (ISTAT) index for production in the construction sector decreased by 8.9%
in the first eleven months of last year. This downturn reflects the sharp drops recorded during the months of the
lockdown (-35.5% in March and -68.9% in April), gradually recovered with the easing of the measures adopted
to control the pandemic, triggering a rebound in production starting in the summer months. This has still not been
enough, however, to bring sectoral levels into the positive range.
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At the same time, the quarterly national accounts prepared by Istat for the third quarter of 2020 also indicate a
4.8% increase in investments in construction compared with the third quarter of 2019. The strong growth reported
in the summer months still did not offset the losses suffered in the previous two quarters: -27.1% in the second
quarter and -7.3% in the first quarter. There was a marked contraction in investments in construction during the
first nine months of 2020 (-9.8%).
ISTAT data for the first half of 2020 on building permits for both residential and non-residential buildings, which
may be considered an indicator of future production, also showed a significant drop of
-13.6% for the number of new dwellings granted and -39.3% for permits for non-residential construction, breaking
the positive trend since 2015.
As regards employment in the construction sector, ANCE reported a decrease of 10.5% in the number of hours
of worked in the first eleven months of 2020, against a slight increase in the number of registered workers
(+2.1%) compared with the same period of the previous year. Despite the pandemic, companies have
demonstrated their ability to maintain their workforce and know-how acquired over time, so as to be able to
promptly resume and sustain production with the gradual easing of restrictions and the improvement of the
economic scenario.
In its report, ANCE notes that the drop in production levels observed in 2020 for the construction sector as a
whole (-10.1%) involves all sectors to varying degrees.
ANCE estimates that investment in new homes dropped 12.5% in real terms compared to 2019. This decrease,
which interrupts the positive trend beginning in 2017, reflects a twofold effect: the gradual restart of production
in the second half of the year - once the lockdown phase (March-April) to manage and control the COVID-19
public health emergency was over - alongside, however, the continuation of an uncertain and cautious attitude
towards new investments, especially by households, in view of the resurgence of the pandemic at the end of last
October and the consequent containment measures. Investments for upgrading the housing stock were close to
37% of the value of investments in construction and which had fueled the market in recent years during the crisis,
recorded its first negative sign (-9.8%). This result is affected not only by the public health emergency, but also
by the fact that all operators are waiting for the actual take-off of the 110% Superbonus scheme.
Private investment in non-residential building suffered a sharp blow of 13.5% in real terms in 2020. This negative
sign reversed the positive trend that had been ongoing since 2015, an estimate that is affected by the challenging
economic situation that has a significant impact on production levels in the non-residential private sector, which
is more linked to the trends in the various sectors of economic activity.
As regards investments in public non-residential buildings, ANCE estimated a further decline of 2.5% for 2020;
this took into account the contraction of production levels both for ongoing initiatives and for new construction
project launches as a result of the public health emergency. Adding to this decline were the consequences of
disruptions in functioning of public authorities and the shifting of resources for investments to cover the costs
involved in dealing with the public health emergency.
According to ANCE, large infrastructures and large entities with a high level of expenditure, such as ANAS (Italy's
highway management agency) and Ferrovie (Italian state railway operator), have also been affected over the
last year as a result of the public health emergency. This has led to a slowdown in both work in progress and
projects in the pipeline, although some major works are up and running again, such as the Brescia-VeronaVicenza-Padova high-speed railway, mega lot 3 of the "Jonica" highway, and the Genoa junction. The result of
2020 does in fact reflect the aforementioned events, with a significant contraction in the number of tenders
published for the award of public works (-11.1% year-on-year). The overall trend in amounts tendered was
positive (+28.7%), due to the increase in invitations to tender exceeding 5 million euro, driven by the major works
and/or projects divided into territorial lots promoted by ANAS and RFI (Rete Ferrovie Italiana SpA).
CONSTRUCTION SECTOR

2020
2019
(at current values) (at current values)

Change % 19/20
(in real terms)

% 2020
on the Total

(Investments in millions of euro)

Residential

58,510

64,676

-10.5%

49.5%

- new houses

15,220

17,205

-12.5%

12.9%

- extraordinary maintenance (redevelopment)

43,290

47,471

-9.8%

36.6%

Non-residential

59,844

65,507

-9.6%

50.5%

- private

37,170

42,504

-13.5%

31.4%

- public

22,674

23,003

-2.5%

19.1%

118,354

130,183

-10.1%

100.0%

Total Construction
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Employment in the construction sector decreased by 10.5% in the number of hours worked in 2020, but there
was a slight increase in the number of workers. The sign is that companies, despite the pandemic, demonstrated
their ability to maintain their workforce and know-how acquired over time, so as to be able to promptly resume
and sustain production with the gradual easing of restrictions and the improvement of the economic scenario.

2020
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November

October

September

August

July

June

May

April

March

February

January

In this situation reported by the construction industry in Italy, due to the pandemic in 2020, cement production
fell by about 6.5% compared with the previous year, bringing the figure to the lowest ever recorded in the 2000s,
or 18.6 million tons. Despite this, the cement sector contracted to a lesser degree than the national economy
and the construction sector as a whole. This is because, on the one hand, structural changes and restructuring
in recent years have brought some efficiency back to the domestic market and, on the other hand, many
construction sites, especially in the public works and major works segments, have continued to operate regularly.
National cement deliveries, estimated in 2020 at around
Cement Deliveries 2020
16.8 million tons, contracting 6.8% compared to the
previous year, which closed with a slight increase of
40%
23%
19%
0.9%.
20% 6% 5%
9% 10%
10%
4%
The evolution of the pandemic is also reflected in the
0%
-8%
-6.8%
seasonal trend of cement deliveries. The volumes
-20%
-16%
delivered in the first two months grew by about 6%,
-40%
-44%
giving us hope that we could expect a positive change in
-60%
the market. Then, as a result of the outbreak of the
-80%
-86%
COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent containment
-100%
measures taken by the government to deal with the
public health emergency, the activities of the companies
in the industry literally collapsed. In March there was a
decrease in deliveries of over 40%, which got even worse in April, when the lockdown was almost total, with a
decrease of over 80%. Many facilities were closed, construction sites, with the exception of major works and a
few others, came to a halt, and transport was difficult. The gradual reopening of the market in May partly slowed
the fall, but still resulted in a drop of some 15% for the month. The delivery market in the first half of 2020 fell by
approximately 22%.
Following the subsequent improvement in the
epidemiological situation since June, we observed a
significant rebound in cement deliveries, and an attempt to
recover as much as possible from the contraction suffered
by the market in the previous months. Cement deliveries in
the third quarter increased by about 12%.
The resurgence of the pandemic in autumn put the brakes
on the strong recovery being observed, with a second half
of the year growing by more than 5%. However, this was
not enough to end the year on a positive note. At the local
level, there was a general downturn across the country,
although to varying degrees relating to

Cement
Deliveries
2018-2020
2018 2019 2020
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Cement Production/Deliveries
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Internal deliveries

20.5
20.0
19.5
19.0

8

18.5
18.0

6

17.5
17.0

4

16.5
16.0

2

15.5
15.0

0

the impact of the various containment measures taken. In the central and northern regions, where the outbreak
was more intense, the collapse in deliveries was more significant. In Northern Italy, deliveries fell by 7.4% and
came to about 9 million tons, accounting for 54% of the domestic market; the contraction in the North-East (8.2%) was stronger than in the North-West (-6.8%); in the Center, a much greater drop (-11%) was estimated,
with deliveries amounting to 2.7 million tons.
With respect to these figures, the decline in deliveries in the South and the Islands was less marked (-4% and 1.3%, respectively); the product delivered totaled 3.6 and 1.5 million tons.
Cement consumption, which expresses the effect of cement deliveries plus cement imports, decreased by -5.8%
and came to 18.2 million tons, compared with 19.4 million tons in the previous year. Cement imports have steadily
grown over the past 5 years. They increased 7.7% in 2020 (+1.2% from 2019). Imported quantities for the year
amounted to 1.4 million tons, including 148 thousand tons in white cement, the latter of which came almost
exclusively from Turkey.
In 2020, Greece became the leading country from where grey cement is imported, with about 361 thousand tons
(+22%); it is followed by Slovenia (277 thousand tons; -8%), Croatia (245 thousand tons), France (128 thousand
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tons),Turkey (120 thousand tons; +28%), and Albania (64 thousand tons; +19%). Together, these countries
regularly cover about 94% of national imports. Cement imports from Spain have practically disappeared in the
past two years.
The opposite trend has been recorded for cement exports, which have contracted sharply over the last five years.
Exports fell by 4% in 2020 and came to about 1.8 million tons. The country's trade balance remains largely
positive, confirming that Italy is a nation that still has a hold on the export market.
Portland cement exports alone are worth around 1.5 million tons, down 8.7%, while white cement, in terms of
volume, accounts for only 80 thousand tons per year in exports, down by about 14%. On the contrary, special
cement exports have increased, reaching 250 thousand tons in 2020.
France is confirmed as the top destination for exports with 483 thousand tons of cement; Malta, Spain,
Switzerland and Slovenia follow as the major countries of destination. The first five Countries cover about 93%
of national export.
The trend in the import - export of clinker has continued along the same path as recent years. Clinker exports,
in the amount of 178 thousand tons, remained stable year-on-year. Albania, with 161 thousand tons, remains
the main destination for clinker, accounting for 91% of total exports. Clinker imports have steadily increased over
the last 5 years by an average of 100 thousand tons per year, and reached 711 thousand tons (+10.2%) in 2020.
90% of clinker comes from Slovenia and Turkey alike, the latter increased by over 70% compared with the
previous year.
[Source – Federbeton, Eurostat and internal estimates].

The concrete industry, where Colabeton S.p.A. operates, as well as the construction industry has been turned
upside down by the closures and restrictions imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Last year, the production indices for the three-year period 2017 to 2019 confirmed a weak recovery, marking the
end of a slump in production that since 2008 has been about 58%, after having weathered the first crisis in 2008
- 2009, that originated in the US real estate market and then spread to the financial markets of all advanced
economies, followed by the second, more severe financial crisis in 2011- 2016.
The consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic led to a roughly 6.8% drop in concrete production in 2020
compared with the previous year, bringing the figure to an all-time low of 28.3 million cubic meters produced.

2020

Italy production
(Mln of cm)
28.31

Change %
Change %
(previous year) (compared to 2008)
-6.79%
-58.5%

Diff.(vs. 2008)
(Mln of cm)
(39.96)

2019

28.31

0.86%

-55.5%

(37.89)

2018

30.37

0.65%

-55.9%

(38.15)

2008
Internal estimate

68.26

Despite this, the contraction in the concrete sector was less pronounced than in the national economy as a whole
and in the construction industry.
This was since, on the one hand, structural changes and certain market restructuring operations in recent years
have efficiently reorganized the market,
Concrete Production
and on the other hand, many worksites, especially in
Chg %
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80

1st crisis

2nd crisis

COVID-19

5%

0.3% 0.6% 0.9%

70

0%

60

-5.4%

-2.8%

-3.0%

-5%
-5.6%

-6.8%

-7.0%

50

-10%

Millions
(m3)

40

-15.0%

-15.3%

-15%

30

-20%

20

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2013

-25%
2014

2012

2011

2010

2009

-22.6%
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the public works and major works segment, they were
able to work as usual even during the pandemic.
Production grew in the first two months of the year,
giving hope for the consolidation of the expected trend
on the domestic market. Then came the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The consequent containment
measures taken to deal with the public health
emergency caused the collapse of businesses in the
industry. Production dropped by more than 44% in
March; the situation got even worse with the almost total
lockdown in April, with a decline of well over 80%.

[Source: ANCE]
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Similar to what has been explained above, in the cement sector, many plants were closed. Construction sites,
with the exception of major works and a few other projects, came to a screeching halt, and transport was difficult.
The gradual reopening of the market in May partly slowed the fall, but still resulted in a drop of around 8% for
the month. Concrete production in Italy fell by almost 22% in the first half of the year. Following the subsequent
improvement in the epidemiological situation since June, we observed a significant rebound in the production of
concrete, and an attempt to make every effort to close the production gap generated during the months in
lockdown. Production increased significantly in the third quarter of the year. The resurgence of the pandemic in
autumn partly curbed the strong
recovery that was being consolidated in the market, with
second half of the year estimated to have grown
Change % Concrete production 2020
considerably by 8.6%. However, this was not enough
(Source: Colabeton estimate)
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to end the year on a positive note.
The national geographical characterization of the
concrete market in 2020 followed the trend of recent
years. Well over half of the market is concentrated in
Northern Italy, where most of the "Major Works" sites
are located, and where trends in the non-residential
private segment are certainly stronger.
In contrast, the central and southern regions of Italy
continue to show a certain weakness, amplified by the
ongoing pandemic.

As far as the destination segments for ready-mix concrete are concerned, the housing sector, which accounts
for around a quarter of the market, continued to suffer in 2020, and has become a minority with respect to the
other sectors. Growth continued in the civil engineering/public works and non-residential private sector, which
also benefited from the new logistics platform projects in central and northern Italy.
Although the market is still affected by and extreme level of localized competition, concrete selling prices
generally increased in 2020, as a natural consequence of the growth in the prices of various inputs.
The Italian concrete production structure is still characterized by a large number of small, family-owned
companies, with fairly low and underperforming production rates, to the detriment of average profitability in the
sector.
This fragmentation is strongly present throughout the country, especially in the central and southern parts of
Italy. On the contrary, in the North, in Emilia and Tuscany, there has been a rationalization of the market in favor
of larger and more structured companies.
[Source Federbeton; internal estimates]

TUNISIA
Tunisia's economic activity was also characterized by an unprecedented recession in 2020 in connection with
the COVID-19 pandemic, which affected all sectors of activities, with the exception of the agriculture, which
performed well due, in particular, to an exceptional olive harvest and a record-high date crop.
The manufacturing sector saw a decline in business in the main exporting fields such as trade in metals, electrical
components, textiles, clothing and leather; business declined also in the chemical, building materials, ceramics
and glass sectors. The negative trend in the sectors listed above was somewhat mitigated by the relative
improvement in the agri-food and oil refining industries. As regards the performance of the non-manufacturing
industries, the continuing difficulties in the mining areas and oil sites further aggravated the decline in their "value
added". The services sector was hit hard by the restrictions which included closing borders, the almost all
transport being halted, and the closure of hotels, with a drastic drop in tourist flows during the lockdown periods.
(Source: CBT notice on economic and monetary developments - February 2020)
The Tunisian economy recorded an unprecedented contraction of 8.8% according to the latest estimates of the
National Institute of Statistics against a growth rate of 1.4% last year.
On the foreign exchange market, the dinar exchange rate appreciated by an average of 2.4% against the euro
and 4% against the US dollar during the year.
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Against this frail economic context and a turbulent and unstable political situation, the national economy is once
again subject to financial and budgetary pressures, especially after the downgrade of Tunisia's rating to B3, while
maintaining the negative outlook, as stated in the Moody's report of February 2021, which generates uncertainty
about Tunisia's ability to initiate structural changes aimed at overcoming these difficulties.
In the context described above, the national grey binder sector was characterized during 2020 by a sharp
downturn in demand because of the public health emergency, plus the distress in the real estate and public
works sectors. This situation is all the more accentuated by the overcapacity in the industry following the entry
into operation of Carthage Cement, which could worsen in the future if new permits are granted for four potential
new production site projects.
However, the last two quarters show a relatively moderate recovery in both the local and export markets.
During 2020, the local market's demand for cement again reached its lowest level since the post-revolutionary
period with a decrease of about 10% compared to last year, recording 5.8 million tons on 31 December 2020
compared to 6.5 million tons on 31 December 2019. On the export side, the Libyan market, although relatively
unprofitable due to strong competition, nevertheless represented an opportunity to dispose of surplus demand
from the local market. A total quantity of 0.8 million tons of cement was exported in 2020, down 28% compared
with the 1.1 million tons exported last year.
Clinker exports decreased by 62%, from 0.6 million tons in 2019 to 0.2 million tons in 2020.
As a result, the total demand for cement and lime was 6.6 million tons as at 31 December 2020 compared with
7.6 million tons in 2019, down 12.8%.
Clinker production in 2020 fell by 15.4% compared to 31 December 2019, decreasing from 7.2 million tons last
year to 6.1 million tons this year. The production of grey binders decreased by approximately 13.9% to 6.6 million
tons as at 31 December 2020, compared to 7.7 million tons the previous year.
Within the sector-specific context described above, CAT's share of the global market (including exports and
without considering clinker) fell slightly by 0.2 percentage points, decreasing from 12.15% in 2019 to 11.95% in
2020, positioning itself as the leader in the cement export market with its 32.92% of the market share as at 31
December 2020 compared with 28.89% the previous year (Source: National Chamber of Cement Manufacturers
report).

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
As for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2020 data from the Economic Commission for Latin America and the
Caribbean (ECLAC) estimates a regional recession of around 7.7%, a downward revision from the July forecast
of 9.1%. GDP is falling in nearly all Latin American and Caribbean countries, with subregional contractions
forecast to be 7.3% in South America, 8.5% in Central America and Mexico, and 7.9% in Caribbean countries (10.8% if Guyana is excluded).
The region went into the pandemic having already racked up a six-year run of weak growth - 0.3% on average
over 2014–2019 and just 0.1% in 2019. With the outbreak of the pandemic, on top of this slack economic growth
came negative external shocks and the need to implement lockdown and physical distancing policies and to shut
down production activities, which turned the health crisis into the worst economic, social and production crisis
the region has experienced in 120 years, with a 7.7% contraction in regional GDP.
That contraction in economic activity was accompanied by large rises in the unemployment rate (+10.7%) and
considerable increases in poverty and inequality leading to an increase of 5.4 million people unemployed. If
those who have dropped out the labor force are included, there would be an extra 31.2 million people out of
work, which illustrates the real magnitude of this crisis.
According to the preliminary report of the Central Bank of the Dominican Republic, GDP in 2020 contracted by
6.7%, reflecting an upward trend in economic activity from the third quarter of the year. The trend in economic
activity in 2020 was largely due to the Dominican economy's favorable reaction to the preventive health
measures to control the coronavirus (COVID-19) imposed by the government since March, as well as monetary
and fiscal stimuli aimed at resuming production and consumption. Analyzing GDP performance by different
economic activities in 2020, positive changes in real value added are observed in the following sectors: health
(12.5%), financial services (7.1%), real estate (3.8%), agriculture (2.8%), communications (2.7%), public
administration (0.8%) and energy and water (0.4%).
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On the contrary, the economic activities that recorded negative changes were: hotels, bars and restaurants (47.5%), mining and quarrying (-12.5%), other service activities (-11.1%), construction (-10.7%), transport (7.6%), trade (-4.8%), education (-3.7%), free zones (-2.7%) and local manufacturing (-2.2%).
During 2020, the value added of the construction sector changed by -10.7%, indicating an upward trend in activity
from the second half of the year. This result is associated with the effects of existing projects coming to a
complete standstill from the end of March onwards, as a preventive measure due to the spread of COVID-19.
The recovery shown is largely due to the implementation of private investment projects, resumed after being
interrupted by the pandemic, driven by the credit facilities made available by the monetary authorities, from which
the construction industry is one of the main beneficiaries.
During 2020, the volume of domestic sales of the main products used in the construction industry were down by
-21.1% for paints, -5.0% for cement, -1.1% for steel and -7.3% for the rest of the materials used in construction.
Domestic sales of cement and iron for reinforced concrete picked up in the second half of the year, increasing
by 9.7% and 9.3% respectively. Conversely, asphalt-cement imports decreased by 68.0%, while the financial
resources earmarked for building and buying houses reached about 4.6 billion euro at the end of 2020, 0.3%
higher than the same period of the preceding year.
As for the trade sector, it recorded a year-on-year decrease of 4.8%, which was influenced by the decrease in
business operations following the implementation of preventive measures against the spread of the Coronavirus,
a trend reflected in the contraction in volumes of imported - traded goods (-14.0%) and local production (-1.1%).
As regards the tourism sector, the Central Bank reported a contraction in its added value of 47.5%, reflecting the
negative impact suffered by the sector as a result of the distancing measures adopted by the Government to
prevent the spread of COVID-19. The closure of all air, sea and land borders, adopted in the second quarter of
this year by Decree 134-20, paralyzed tourism flows and all hospitality services were forced to close. In this
sense, the hotel sector recorded an occupancy rate of 30.4% in 2020, down 41.2 percentage points compared
to the previous year (71.6%). Tourism thus contracted by 62.7%, resulting in a 64.3% reduction in tourist
revenues.
The communications sector grew by 2.7% year-on-year, consistent with the dynamism shown by mobile phone
and internet services, which increased by 5.3% and 5.5% respectively.
Inflation for January-December 2020 reached 5.55% while the analytical or reference series associated with the
new CPI reference base (annual base October 2019-September 2020) at the end of 2020 shows an inflation rate
of 4.63%.
The average exchange rate of the spot market for the purchase of the US Dollar during the period January December 2020, was RD 56.47 / 1 USD, recording a depreciation of 10.3% with respect to the same period of
2019. On the other hand, during January-December 2020, the average nominal spot market selling rate was
56.58 Dominican pesos per US dollar, representing a depreciation of 10.3% compared to the average for the
same period in 2019.
With regard to the export sector, the balance of payments current account closed with a deficit of 1,418.1 million
USD, equivalent to 1.8% of GDP, reflecting the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; the tourism sector
was particularly hard hit by the pandemic. Analyzing the trade balance, total exports decreased by 8.2% in the
January-December 2020 period, corresponding to approximately 917.3 million USD less than the figure in 2019,
reaching 10.3 billion USD. As for total imports, they fell by 3.2 billion USD compared with the end of 2019, a drop
of 16.0%; this performance mainly reflects a general reduction in imports of petroleum products and its
derivatives.
As regards the construction sector, within which Domicem S.A. Group company operates as a cement producer,
2020 showed a year-on-year change of -10.7%, reporting an upward trend from the second half of the year. In
fact, despite the issues that the Dominican Republic has to deal with because of COVID-19 and the
unemployment rates in April and May, since trade resumed in June, the construction sector has been coming on
strong to the point that demand for cement consumption, in July - December 2020, reached approximately 2.6
million tons which represents a growth of + 9.7% over the 2.4 million tons recorded in the second half of 2019.
According to the consolidated sector data provided by the Central Bank, cement consumption in the Dominican
Republic in 2020 was 4.5 million tons, only -5% down from the 4.7 million tons consumed in 2019.

.
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The estimate made in March 2020, suggested a market decline of around -25%. The main reasons why the
market has had this upturn in consumption include: the presidential elections held on 15 July which accelerated
the completion of public works, private builders who were able to complete works that had already started, and
finally the residential repair and renovation sector which proved to be more active at all levels of society.
The breakdown of cement sales within the domestic market proved to be very similar to that recorded in 2019,
where 38% of cement sales were concentrated in the Santo Domingo area, 34% in the North, 12% in the South
and 16% in the East.
In the period January - December 2020, cement production in the Republic of Santo Domingo amounted to 5.2
million tons, down 8.4% compared to the same period of 2019 and a percentage of use of the installed capacity
of 66% at the plants.
In terms of exports, 12.6% of production was sold abroad, down 3.3% compared with 2019.
The export market closed the year with sales of 0.6 million tons, down 27.8% compared with the 0.9 million tons
sold in 2019. The decrease is mainly attributable to the effects of the pandemic: the entire country was put in
lockdown from mid-March until mid-June, resulting in the closure of the border with Haiti, which accounts for
about 70% of national exports, as well as exports by sea, which started to fall in the second quarter since foreign
markets stopped imports for health safety reasons.

HAITI
During 2019-2020, the Gourde/US dollar exchange rate recorded a decisive event that can be seen as
completely irrational and without economic and/or market fundamentals driven by the government's desire to
reduce dependence on US currency. Looking ahead, for economists the sudden appreciation of the Gourde
against the US dollar does not mean that the problem of exchange rate instability has been solved; on the
contrary, the fundamentals of the economy, such as supply and demand, domestic production, and foreign direct
investment, are still the same. This instability generates uncertainty and is not a favorable environment for the
country's economic planning.
In January 2020, the inflation rate was 20.7%, by October it had risen to 21.6% and, according to the BRH (the
Bank of the Republic of Haiti), it was estimated at 25.7% year-on-year.
Some data and estimates show that cement consumption during 2020 in the country was about 1.6 million tons,
used by the private construction, public works and road sectors. The distribution of cement sales in the country
is dominated by the Port-au-Prince area, which represents the most important part of the market.

SPAIN
Spain’s economy, hit hard by COVID-19, suffered a historic 10.8% slump in 2020. It marked the steepest drop
since 1936, when it fell by 26%.
Public expenditure recorded its biggest increase since 2009, rising by 3.8%, while household consumption fell
by 12.4%. Industry investment fell by 11.4%, the biggest drop since 2009. The only economic sector that
improved was agriculture. The construction sector contracted sharply by about 15%, especially in the renovation
and new residential housing segments.
Cement consumption in Spain, according to the latest data published by Oficemen, amounted to 13.3 million
tons and decreased in 2020 by approximately 9.8% despite the upturn at the end of the year. The sector has
reached consumption levels almost identical to those of 1967, more than 50 years ago, although cement sales
in during the 2013-2017 crisis were lower.
Cement production in 2020 fell by 7%, or about 16 million tons per year, with an average production capacity
utilization of 60%, while cement imports, of about 650 thousand tons, continue to grow, and clinker imports fall.

ALBANIA
As regards Albania's economy, the World Bank estimates that GDP contracted by 6.7% in 2020. The country
had to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic while it was still recovering from the earthquake in 2019. Despite good
growth forecasts for 2021, the IMF's concern about the stability of the economy remains high. Of particular
concern is the public debt, which reached 83% of GDP at the end of 2020, the highest level since Albania left
the communist system.

31

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

The Albanian government is trying to allocate more funds to the building sector, both public and private, and the
European Union is investing significant resources in the energy and infrastructure sectors. In fact, going against
the general trend, the positive trend in the construction sector stands out. Local businessmen have concentrated
all their resources in this sector, driven by the increase in post-earthquake demand, tax relief and subsidized
loans.
The cement sector, in spite of the critical situation in which it operated, recorded consumption levels of around
1.5 million tons, up 11.2% over 2019. Growth was seen in both bagged cement, which is the dominant segment,
and bulk cement, thanks to numerous major works and post-earthquake reconstruction.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS SECTOR
Revenues by business
0.7%

2020

2019

3.8%

19.5%

Cement

409,347

397,909

Concrete

113,234

102,159

Concrete

Transport

2,679

3,640

Transport

Diversified

10,940

19,759

Diversified

TOTAL

536,200

523,467

Cement

76.0%

HYDRAULIC BINDERS SECTOR
The performance of the main Group companies operating in the hydraulic binders sector is shown below.

COLACEM S.P.A.

In short ( thousands of euro)*
2020
2019
In 2020, Colacem S.p.A. achieved a total
turnover of 275 million euro, down 1%
Revenue
274,646
277,566
compared to the previous year.
EBITDA, in the amount of 43.8 million euro, EBITDA
43,808
29,247
decreased significantly compared with the EBIT
32,716
10,710
29.2 million euro recorded in the previous
18,379
4,541
year. This result was achieved in spite of the Net income
Cash-Flow
(Income
+
Dep/Amort
+
Value
adj.)
30,288
45,624
public health emergency, which particularly
* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate
affected the first months of the year,
thanks to improved net margins combined with careful and constant monitoring and control of production costs.
Net financial expenses and income were positive at 12.9 million euro, with an increase in the dividend flow from
foreign subsidiaries which grew from 15.2 million euro in 2019 to 20.8 million euro in 2020, of which about 8
million euro from the Tunisian subsidiary Les Ciments Artificiels Tunisiens S.A. and 12.8 million euro from the
Dominican subsidiary Domicem S.A.
Earnings before tax, in the amount of 29.5 million euro compared to 10.1 million euro in the previous year, despite
the negative impact of adjustments to financial assets in the amount of 16.2 million euro, generated by the
realignment of the book value of the investments held in Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. (12.4 million euro) and Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l. (3.7 million euro).
Colacem S.p.A. closed 2020 with a net profit of 18.4 million euro and a cash flow of 45.6 million euro, after
amortization and depreciation of 9.6 million euro.
Multiple factors have contributed to making Colacem S.p.A. one of the most important companies in the
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sector over a short period of time. The company’s vision, always geared towards sustainability, to invest in and
innovate its corporate assets, also in terms of workplace safety and environmental protection, is one of the main
factors. Having plants that are extremely efficient, thanks to the desire to always focus on the best available
technologies and the continuous modernization of the plants, which are now considered among the most
advanced in Europe has been a key success factor.
Despite the crisis of recent years and the pandemic that halted or reduced production, Colacem S.p.A. continued
to invest in 2020. In the financial year just ended, the company invested approximately 0.6 million euro in
intangible assets and approximately 4.2 million euro in tangible assets.
Most of the investments made during the year were for the replacement and integration of many pieces of
equipment and machinery at all of the company's cement plants. in some cases, the aim was to upgrade and
innovate production facilities and in others, to replace obsolete assets.
It is worth noting that some investments benefited from the "Tax credit for investments in capital goods" scheme
provided by the 2020 and 2021 Budget Law, and included in both the "Industry 4.0 assets" and "Ordinary
Tangible Assets" categories. The main investment under the 'Industry 4.0 assets' category, in the amount of 871
thousand euro, was for the new Hitachi excavator at the Caravate (VA) plant. This excavator is equipped with
devices that allows it to be interconnected with company systems. The tax benefit amounted to approximately
348 thousand euro. Also included in the 'Industry 4.0 assets' category was the purchase of a new sequential
spectrometer for the chemical analysis of raw materials and semi-finished products installed at the Rassina (AR)
plant. Overall, out of approximately 1.4 million euro of eligible investments, the benefit obtained amounted to 426
thousand euro.
Among the other investments during the year, we would like to mention the replacement of the ferrules, in
important sections of the kilns at the Sesto Campano (IS) and Rassina (AR) plants; at the Caravate (VA) plant,
the construction of a new cement bagging and palletizing line is nearing completion, as is the construction of
new hoppers for batching ashes to feed the "raw" line. At the Galatina (LE) cement plant, in addition to converting
the shed to allow the indoor storage of pet coke, the entire domestic water system was adapted with an adjoining
sub-irrigation system; finally, at the Sesto Campano (IS) plant, a new feeding and drying plant was built to enable
the production of pozzolanic cements, and the mill reducers of the "raw" line were revamped.
The success obtained with the industrial research and experimental development project of the new "hybrid filter"
in the Galatina (LE) plant, concluded in previous years, led management to want to replicate this innovative
solution for energy efficiency and emission reduction at other Company plants starting from 2021.
In view of the massive shift to Smart Working, imposed suddenly last year by the pandemic, the company quickly
replaced most of the company's personal computers used by employees. Each employee was provided with a
new latest-generation portable computer, paying much attention to data security policies, so that they could work
from home in case of need or other requirement.
In 2020, the company acquired a business unit for the production of concrete linked to the production plant in
Matelica (MC), and another business unit, also for the production of concrete, related to the production plants
located in Spello (PG), Gualdo Tadino (PG) and San Severino Marche (MC). The total investment came to about
1.2 million euro.
In short ( thousands of euro)*
2020
2019

LES CIMENTS
ARTIFICIELS TUNISIENS
S.A.
CAT S.A. closed 2020 with an operating profit
of 6,140 thousand euro.
The change in profit compared to the
previous year was mainly attributable to items
that affected EBITDA, but also to the
decrease in net financial income offset by the

Revenue

36,735

39,802

EBITDA

8,932

10,895

EBIT

8,075

9,980

Net income

6,140

7,705

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value
adj.)

6,955

8,627

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

positive effects related to the decrease in depreciation/amortization and provisions as well as a lower tax burden.
EBITDA decreased by 18% compared to the previous year. This decrease was mainly due to the 7% fall in
Revenues which decreased from 39,802 thousand in 2019 to 36,735 thousand euro in 2020, accompanied by
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a sharp drop in production costs as a result of the production plant shutdowns scheduled for February as well
as the shutdown imposed by government decree from mid-March to the end of April due to COVID-19, as well
as the unexpected downtimes for maintenance in July and August, which led to a drop in production of around
14.9% for raw meal, 13.9% for clinker and 14% for cement and lime, preventing the company from achieving
economies of scale and optimizing the management of its production costs.
In addition, the inflation environment led to significant increases in the prices of key inputs such as electricity,
with the exception of the price of coal, which had a significant impact on the result for the period.
The total cost of electricity was up 16.7% compared to the previous year, increasing from approximately 6.3
million euro in 2019 to 7.5 million euro in 2020. This increase is mainly due to both the 34.6% hike in the average
KW price, following the revision of tariffs by STEG from 1 November 2019, an increase of approximately 41%
for gas and an increase in the cost of electricity of between 22% and 41% depending on the time of use, and a
second increase on 1 June 2020 of approximately 16% for gas and between 9% and 15% for electricity
depending on the time of use.
Secondly, the cost of raw materials consumed decreased in 2020 by approximately 10% (approximately 3.4
million euro in 2020 compared to approximately 3.8 million euro in 2019) due to the 15% drop in quantities
produced, partially offset by the 1.2% increase in the average purchase price. In addition, there was a general
increase in 2020 for both the cost of the main maintenance materials and consumables as a result of planned
and unplanned plant shutdowns and in the cost of transporting products sold as a result of the increase in
quantities transported by ship.
Against this background, CAT S.A.'s sales on both the local and export markets were significantly affected by
the restrictions and constraints caused by the public health crisis. Cement sales on the domestic market, in the
amount of some 0.5 million tons, declined 12.1% compared with the 2019 results (0.6 million tons) and accounted
for 68% of total sales compared to 66% last year. This decrease was offset by a 5.58% increase in average
sales prices. Therefore, revenues from local sales came to approximately 29.2 million euro compared to 30.7
million euro last year, down 4%.
Export sales, intended exclusively for the Libyan market, in terms of quantity decreased by 21.84% compared
with the 2019 results, falling from 321 thousand tons last year (of which 14 thousand tons of clinker sold to the
Group company Domicem S.A.) to 251 thousand tons in 2020, representing 32% of total sales against 34% in
2019. In terms of price, the average export price of all types of products sold increased by 3.3% with respect to
2019. Overall, export revenues decreased by 19.27% compared to the previous year, falling from 9 million euro
in 2019 to about 7.5 million euro in 2020.
2020, compared to the previous year and in the context described above, was characterized by a slowdown in
production activity when compared to 2019; a slowdown that the company has tried to make up for over the last
two quarters, in attempt to limit the contraction in the first half of the year.
The kiln operated for 289 days in 2020, a decrease of about 12% compared with 2019 (328 days).
The daily production of clinker in 2020, although in line with the projections (2,315 tons per day), declined by
2.2% compared to 2019, decreasing from 2,380 tons per day to 2,328 tons per day. Clinker production during
2020 totaled 672 thousand tons compared to 780 thousand tons in the previous year, down 13.9%, while cement
and lime production in 2020 reached 788 thousand tons, down 13.96% compared to 2019 (916 thousand tons).
In addition, as described above, the period under review was characterized by the increase in electricity costs,
which was mainly due to the increase in electricity rates by STEG. Despite having completed its upgrading plan,
in 2020 capital expenditures reached 1.3 million euro for the purpose of optimizing production processes,
improving the environmental integration of the plants and consolidating its leadership in technological innovation.
The company made the following investments during the year:
• acquisition of a Doosan excavator for an amount of approximately 142 thousand euro;
• installation of a Gambarotta bucket elevator for an amount of approximately 94 thousand euro;
• installation of screening at the Grombalia crusher for an amount of approximately 50 thousand euro;
• construction of a new impeller on the BC5 crusher separator for an amount of approximately 38 thousand euro;
• construction of an air inlet system to the cooling grid for an amount of approximately 33 thousand euro.
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DOMICEM S.A.
The company ended 2020 with a net profit of
29.7 million euro, an increase compared with
the 27.8 million euro profit achieved in 2019
(+2 million euro, or +7%). Total revenues
reached approximately 106.6 million euro
compared with 101.5 million euro in 2019
(+5.3 million euro, or +5%). EBITDA came in
at 46.5 million euro compared with 43.9
million euro in the previous year (+2.7 million
euro, or +6.1%).

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

106,578

101,543

EBITDA

46,544

43,860

EBIT

41,921

38,889

Net income

29,749

27,769

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

34,381

32,740

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

In 2020, as already mentioned several times, all Financo Group companies were penalized by the COVID-19
pandemic. Domicem S.A. produced about 853 thousand tons of clinker with 297 days of kiln operation. The
warehouses ran out of space due to a surplus of finished product, so production was stopped in April and part
of May. Approximately 994 thousand tons of cement was produced during the year. The company took
advantage of the period when production was forced to shut down to carry out the preventive and corrective
maintenance that had already been planned beforehand. This made it possible to resume production at the end
of May (at maximum capacity) without any further major stoppages during the year. Among the changes made
to the production plant during the year was the installation of a new Howden FL SLIA 157 fan with a capacity of
80,000 m3/h at 4,500 Pascals. The installation of the fan in question, mounted on production line I, has made it
possible to ensure both higher productivity and improved operation of the mill. A similar fan was purchased for
production line II, but installation was postponed due to the increase in cement sales after May, which meant
that the production plant could not be shut down. It is scheduled to be installed after Easter 2021.
Another investment worth mentioning was the replacement of a kiln scanner with a new generation scanner. The
new scanner, a British-made Thermoteknix TK50 with a monitoring system, enables high-definition detection of
hot spots in the kiln, high quality monitoring of the state of wear of the refractory bricks lining the kiln, ensuring
much more reliable performance of the production plant.
All other improvements planned for 2020 were postponed until 2021, due to the uncertainty created by the
COVID-19 pandemic in the early months of the year.
As far as energy is concerned, significant savings were achieved. The solar farm generated around +/- 2,500,000
kilowatts, between 2% and 3% of the total energy consumed by the plant during the year. The new solar farm
expansion planned for 2020 has been postponed to 2021.
As regards mines, during 2020, work continued, in cooperation with the mine owner, to obtain the permanent
concession to operate the "Dry Quarry Puerto Plata" mining site for the extraction of pozzolana (pozzolanic ash).
During 2020, the extraction of the material continued, as allowed by the temporary mining permit, and the mineral
was regularly sent through the port of Puerto Plata to the subsidiary Citadelle United S.A. in Haiti.
In 2020, the company continued to pursue the process to obtain the mining concession (for the exploitation of
clay called “Ampliacion Los Cabritos”), which is located in the province of Peravia and near the Los Cabritos
concession, and currently registered to the Compania Anonima de Explotaciones Industriales (CAEI) and leased
to Domicem S.A. To date, the request has been forwarded to the General Directorate of Mines and the issue of
the concession is pending.
During 2020, Domicem S.A. sold approximately 832 thousand tons of cement in the local market, compared to
816 thousand tons in 2019 reaching, according to Central Bank data, 18.6% of the domestic market share, an
increase of +1.3% compared to 2019. These results, which are higher than what was forecast for 2020 before
the restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, show the very dynamic nature of the market after activities
resumed at the end of May 2020 and Domicem S.A.'s ability to take advantage of this favorable situation to make
up for what was lost in the second quarter of the year, to the point of exceeding the results for the previous year.
It is also worth noting the solid trend in collections from customers, once again demonstrating their reliability.
Distribution of the product in the different geographic areas of the country changed slightly with respect to 2019,
as a result of the pandemic. In the East, all hotel projects were completely stopped, while in the North, the region
of the country with the best economy, enjoyed considerable growth. Domicem S.A. acted, considering the current
market situation and, on the basis of these aspects, the DR's capital city, Santo Domingo, has grown and
accounted for approximately 40.2% of sales, the North rose from 20.4% to 25.7%; the South rose slightly from
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21.4% to 21.9% and the East, for the reasons mentioned above, fell from 19.6% to 12.2%.
In 2020, sales of domestic clinker reached about 135 thousand tons, of which 70% (about 95 thousand tons)
was produced locally and 30% (about 40 thousand tons) was purchased and shipped directly to local customers
from the Haina port. The remaining 33 thousand tons produced locally and not destined for cement production
were exported to the subsidiary Citadelle United S.A. in Haiti from March 2020, after the end of the strike in the
Dominican Republic due to COVID-19 and the change in business strategy that caused the temporary
interruption of trading for the subsidiary Citadelle United S.A. and the subsequent direct sale of clinker produced
in the Sabana Grande de Palenque plant. Purchases and sales of clinker with the same destination resumed in
June, with a total volume of about 214 thousand tons traded in 2020.
In 2020, export sales amounted to about 163 thousand tons, down 10.5% from the 194 thousand tons sold in
2019. This decrease was mainly due to the Jamaican Government's cement import quota, which renewed the
authorization in July for about 30 thousand tons and only in September was an additional 20 thousand tons
granted. Another point that influenced the contraction of exports was that destinations to Turks & Caicos,
Suriname and Guyana, decreased imports from March to May due to COVID-19. The distribution of exports on
the foreign market was as follows: 50.5% to the Jamaican market, 32.0% to the Suriname and Guyana market,
12.0% to Haiti and the remaining 5.4% to the Southern Caribbean and Turks and Caicos market.
Like the company's other operating sectors, the transport area was also affected until the end of May by the
restrictions put in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic. After that, and as sales and shipments have resumed,
the industry has responded strongly to the transport needs of the products, driven by strong local sales and
exports, while still respecting the protocols in place to mitigate the risks of the pandemic.
For 2020, the company had planned to buy new equipment to continue the plan for replacing some of the trucks
used to deliver products and to buy some specific trailers to speed up the shipment of products and better meet
customer expectations. These investments have been postponed to 2021; at the reporting date, orders have
already been placed to buy new tractors.

CITADELLE UNITED S.A.
In 2020, one of Citadelle United S.A.'s
priorities was and remains to protect the
health and safety of its staff, customers and
business partners, by adopting new
strategies
in
accordance
with
the
recommendations
of
governmental
authorities, and of course protecting the
environment, which is an integral part of the
company's mission and vision. In order to

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

39,311

22,574

EBITDA

8,564

4,223

EBIT

6,514

2,727

Net income

3,069

369

5,119

1,865

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

protect and maintain the continuity of its operations, the company has implemented very specific protocol
measures in order to limit cases of viral infections, enabling it to continue production at full capacity so it can
achieve its targets. In order to continually meet the demand of its customers, Citadelle United S.A. encourages
the use of IT tools with its customers for trade, financial and technical dealings.
Citadelle United S.A. has an annual production capacity of approximately 400 thousand tons of cement and
achieved a sales volume of approximately 386 thousand tons in 2020, an extraordinary 74% increase over the
volumes in the previous year. Its participation in the local market was 25%, an increase of almost 13% compared
to the previous year. Imports from Turkey continue to influence the market with very low prices, in particular,
aggressive competition from importers in 2020 has repeatedly changed the price growth forecasts. Unfortunately,
the government does not seek to protect local producers, i.e. these measures encourage massive cement
imports, in some cases carried out irregularly, to the detriment of domestic production initiatives.
During 2020, Citadelle United S.A. was able to successfully purchase new heavy equipment such as a Caterpillar
loader, forklifts and other equipment and machinery useful for its production cycle. The decision to pave a space
adjacent to the cement warehouse may have been one of the most useful investments in 2020; this makes
parking trucks easier and optimizes shipping times.
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CEMENTOS COLACEM ESPAÑA S.L.U.
Cementos Colacem España S.L.u operates
with the two import port terminals located in
Cartagena and Alicante. In this context, the
company's turnover amounted to 14.9 million
euro, an improvement of 1.2%, with a
decrease in volumes that was more than
offset by price increases.
The company's performance was better than
the market because the impact of the
pandemic was lower in small and medium-

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

14,948

14,774

EBITDA

1,702

297

EBIT

1,074

(349)

771

(454)

1,399

193

Net income
Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

sized urban centers, where the company operates. In any case, Eastern Spain proved to be a particularly
dynamic region. Operating margins came to 1.7 million euro, a clear improvement with respect to 2019. The
financial year closed with a net profit of about 0.8 million euro, after amortization and depreciation of 0.6 million
euro.

COLACEM ALBANIA SH.P.K.
Colacem Albania Sh.p.k. closed the year
with an increase in sales of about 27.9% in
real terms, for a total amount of some 16.2
million euro.
Sales volumes increased by about 15% on
the whole. Local sales increased by 17.1%
while exports by 9%. Selling prices in
local currency also improved.

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

16,196

12,744

EBITDA

2,346

237

EBIT

440

(1,628)

Net income

359

(1,574)

2,265

291

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

Due to the increase in sales volumes and price trends, operating margins saw a sharp improvement, with a
positive impact on EBITDA for 2.3 million euro.
The Albanian subsidiary closed the year with a profit of 0.4 million euro, against depreciation and amortization
of 1.9 million euro.

MADDALONI CEMENTI S.R.L.
The subsidiary Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.
joined the Group in 2018. The company
operates the production plant located in
Maddaloni (CE), where only clinker grinding
operations are performed. The company
operates through an exclusive agent
agreement with the parent company Colacem
S.p.A.

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

11,574

16,043

EBITDA

(8,191)

11,912

(15,065)

6,127

Net income

(9,499)

3,827

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

(2,625)

9,612

EBIT

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

In 2020, the company's revenues came to
11.6 million euro, a significant decrease
compared to the 16 million euro achieved in the previous year, due to a significant decrease in sales volumes.
EBITDA was negative by approximately 8.2 million euro.
In line with the operations already implemented by the previous owner prior to the acquisition, since 2018 the
Maddaloni plant has continued to engage only in clinker grinding and cement production; it temporarily
suspended clinker production and therefore the use of the kiln, which the plant does have. Due to the unfavorable
economic situation of recent years, the volumes of cement produced and sold by the Maddaloni plant do not
economically justify the reactivation of the clinker burning line, coming to the conclusion that it is substantially
impossible for the plant to recover full productivity not only in the short term but also in the near future. Therefore,
in line with our Group's production strategies and policies, company management has grown wiser and approved
the definitive and irreversible removal of the clinker burning line and certain related systems from the production
process. As a result, in 2020, disposals and write-downs in the value of land came to a total of 9.3 million euro.
As a result of this disposal transaction, EBIT was negative by approximately 15.1 million euro. The financial
year closed with a net loss of about 9.5 million euro after amortization and depreciation of 6.9 million euro.
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RAGUSA CEMENTI S.P.A.
Ragusa Cementi S.r.l., set up in 2019 as a
result of the contribution by the parent
company Colacem S.p.A., has managed the
cement production plant located in Contrada
Tabuna - Ragusa (RG) and the related mining
activities since 1 March 2019. It entered into
an exclusive agent agreement with Colacem
S.p.A. for the sale of cement manufactured at
the plant in Sicily.

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

23,924

18,882

EBITDA

4,615

1,885

EBIT

3,893

1,410

Net income

2,821

993

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

3,633

1,468

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

In 2020, revenues came to 23.9 million euro, with an overall increase in sales volumes concentrated in the last
two quarters of the year, in line with the post-lockdown economic rebound. EBITDA amounted to 4.6 million euro,
an increase of over 2.7 million euro compared to the previous year. The financial year closed with a net profit of
about 2.8 million euro, after amortization and depreciation of 0.8 million euro.

SPOLETO CEMENTI S.R.L.
Market restructuring operations in Italy led, in
early 2019, to the acquisition by the
Heidelberg Cement Group of the entire
holding in the newly established Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l.
The company, although equipped with a
clinker kiln, and in line with the operations
performed by the previous owner, continued
to perform clinker grinding operations and, in

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

6,700

8,306

EBITDA

(903)

1,005

EBIT

(4,610)

(434)

Net income

(2,192)

(434)

1,515

1,005

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)
* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

line with the strategy for the synergistic reorganization of the market, it signed an exclusive contract under which
commission is payable on sale of its products with the parent company Colacem S.p.A.
Also in this case, due to the crisis in the cement sector, in agreement with the workers' representatives and after
a period using the extraordinary redundancy fund (Cassa Integrazione Guadagni Straordinaria), from 2019, the
company found it necessary to make staff cuts at the plant, which employed 28 workers at the end of 2020.
Similarly, applying the same considerations as in the case of Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l., with the same view that
it is substantially impossible for the plant to recover full productivity not only in the short term but also in the near
future, the directors approved the definitive removal of the clinker burning line and certain related systems from
the production process. As a result, in 2020, disposals and write-downs in the value of land came to a total of
3.9 million euro.
In the year just ended, 6.7 million euro in revenue was achieved, a sharp decline compared with the previous
period, which closed with 8.3 million euro in revenue. EBITDA, also as a result of the aforementioned disposals
and write-downs, was a negative 0.9 million euro.
2020 closed with a net loss of around 2.2 million euro after amortization and depreciation of 3.7 million euro.

38

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE SECTOR
COLABETON S.P.A.

In short ( thousands of euro)*
2020
2019
As mentioned above, the ready-mix concrete
sector was also strongly affected in the first
half of the year by the events following the Revenue
113,446
102,295
COVID-19 pandemic; in the second half of
EBITDA
(3,194)
(4,978)
the year, demand bounced back and
EBIT
(8,978)
(13,168)
exceeded the previous year's levels.
(7,412)
(10,892)
The market remains highly competitive and Net income
with widely varying regional trends, with 54% Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)
(2,702)
(1,628)
of the total volumes concentrated in the * data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate
North.
In this difficult scenario, Colabeton reported revenues of approximately 113 million euro, up 10.9% over the
previous year.
On the whole, the increase stems from the combined effect of both a slight increase in prices recorded in the
target market and the significant increase in sales volumes, which generally grew in all areas where the company
operates but, in particular, in the Central area thanks to the acquisition of new assets and the restarting to supply
the sites of the Asse Viario Marche - Umbria (Quadrilatero) highway project.
In fact, the company continued to pursue its policy of increasing its market share through a series of different
transactions for the acquisition of assets, mainly concentrated in Central Italy. In 2020, these operations led to
the acquisition of nine concrete mixing plants.
With regard to the trend in sales channels, 2020 saw a slight contraction in the major works segment, due both
to a slowdown in some works contracted in the past and to the slow start of new works, while the ordinary works
segment continues to grow and is still the prevailing channel. EBITDA, although still negative by 3.2 million euro,
improved significantly compared to the previous year. Margins are still suffering as a result of the increase in the
prices of production inputs.
The company closed 2020 with a loss of 7.4 million euro after amortization and depreciation of 3.1 million euro
and provisions and write-downs of over 2.7 million euro, the latter amount includes 2.3 thousand euro for the
allowance for doubtful accounts.
In order to maintain a correct financial equilibrium, the company took out a new medium-term loan with Intesa
Sanpaolo S.p.A., in the amount of 5 million euro, backed by a guarantee from the SME Guarantee Fund,
benefiting from the government measures deployed to help deal with the pandemic.
Colabeton S.p.A.'s business vision has always been geared towards innovation, focusing its investment policy
on the continuous modernization of its production facilities. The objectives guiding the investments remain
respect for the environment with a view to sustainable development, safety in the workplace and the efficiency
of its facilities, with increasingly advanced technologies.
The company confirmed its vision even in a challenging year like 2020 where, due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the entire manufacturing world seemed to be on the verge of collapsing a number of times. In 2020, Colabeton
S.p.A. invested approximately 5 million euro (up significantly from the 3.1 million euro invested in 2019), of
which 4.7 million euro in tangible investments and about 0.3 million euro in intangible assets. The main
investment, in terms of value, was the purchase of the company branch from Sical S.r.l. relating to the concrete
mixing plant located in Castelbellino (AN) for a total amount of approximately 1.2 million euro, which took place
in September 2020.
In 2020, work began on the construction of a new, modern concrete production plant in Cernusco sul Naviglio
(MI); investments undertaken in the year amounted to approximately 1 million euro and will be finally completed
in 2021 with the commissioning of the concrete mixing plant.
At the Gaggiano (MI) plant, revamping of the entire production complex has begun and will only be completed
in 2021. A total amount of approximately 630 thousand euro was spent on interventions.
In all the company's other concrete mixing plants, investments and extraordinary maintenance work were carried
out, involving both building work and the plant systems. Among the main projects, it is worth mentioning that at
the concrete mixing plant in Caprese Michelangelo (AR), the land where the production plant used to be located
was purchased for approximately 100 thousand euro. At the Momo (NO) plant, about 54 thousand euro was
spent on work to reopen production that had been suspended. At the Fossato di Vico (PG) plant work was
completed, worth approximately 40 thousand euro, to bring it up to code with the requirements of the Single
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Environmental Authorization. Approximately 52 thousand euro was invested in the Pisa (PI) plant in order to
reopen the second loading point; this work will be completed in 2021. In the Livorno (LI) plant, about 53 thousand
euro were invested for Single Environmental Authorization compliance and asbestos removal work on the
building.
Finally, at the leased facilities in Brindisi (BR), Martinsicuro (TE), Grottammare (AP) and Matelica (MC),
investments were made in safety measures and upgrading of facilities, totaling around 240 thousand euro.
At the company's other plants, minor interventions and investments were made, aimed at ensuring maximum
performance and improving production.

TRANSPORT SECTOR
The restrictions on mobility and production activities in 2020, due to the Coronavirus, resulted in an unimaginable
fall in transport activities. According to the Confcommercio Transport Index (ITC) passenger mobility has dropped
by almost 50%, with traffic decreases ranging from 32.2% for motorways to 41.7% for railways, and around 73%
for air and sea transport. More limited, but still exceptional, were the declines in freight transport, which in 2020
recorded an overall drop of 18.7%, with peaks for road transport (-25.8%) and air transport (-23.6%). These are
the main results reported in the Osservatorio Congiunturale Trasporti report prepared by the Confcommercio
Research Office, in cooperation with Conftrasporto.
The analysis indicates two sides of transport: one that, during the pandemic, supported the manufacturing for
export and agri-food sectors, the latter being necessary for the survival of people. A role that today, and even
more so in the near future, will see an increasing commitment to supporting healthcare distribution. On the other
side, overlapping the first, we see the ban on firing employees, the extension of the wage supplementation
scheme (cassa integrazione) and promises of relief, along with a freeze on the economic system, the labor
market and company accounts. There is a risk that not all companies will hold fast and not all workers will
continue to be part of the transport system, at least until they fully recover from the losses suffered in 2020.
The transport system as a whole, at least until the fourth quarter of last year, was able to respond positively to
the input originating from the demand for services generated upstream (manufacturing) and downstream
(consumption). This situation is confirmed both by the trend in the expectations of road haulers, which have
clearly turned around with respect to the first six months of 2020, even if they are still at very low levels, and by
the continuation of past trends in terms of absolute and relative growth of transport companies set up as joint
stock companies, which now account for 26% of the total.
Against this general backdrop, the four main companies in the sector, Tracem S.p.A., Inba S.p.A., Trasporti
Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l. and Cat Transport S.A., attempted to consolidate the situation which
characterized the market in the previous year. The transport service offered by Group companies continues to
consist mainly of hydraulic binders, primarily on behalf of Financo Group companies, although, in order to
optimize logistics and minimize costs, relationships with other transport companies have been intensified in an
attempt, through the rationalization of vehicle fleets and exchange of work, to make the use of vehicles even
more efficient. Overall turnover decreased by 26% compared with the previous year.
In the year under review, the average cost of diesel in Italy decreased compared to the previous year (0.78
euro/liter net of VAT Italy and excise duties, compared with 0.92 euro/liter in 2019). Similarly, the average cost
of methane (both liquid and gaseous) also decreased compared to the previous year (0.62 €/liter net of VAT,
compared to 0.68 €/liter in 2019).

TRACEM S.P.A.
The type of transport carried out by the
company continues to mainly involve
hydraulic bonds, mostly on behalf of the
Financo group companies. Overall turnover
decreased by 7% compared with the
previous year as a direct consequence of
the Coronavirus public health emergency.
Net income improved, increasing from 128

In short ( thousands of euro)*

Revenue

2020
13,741

14,798

EBITDA

583

545

EBIT

105

2

Net income

168

128

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

646

671

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate
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thousand euro in 2019 to 168 thousand euro in 2020 (+40 thousand euro) achieved in a year marked by a
contraction in turnover (down 1,057 thousand euro), is primarily due to the favorable trend in the cost of diesel
and natural gas for automotives which, as previously mentioned, took an exceptional nose dive in 2020.
In 2020, therefore, the management team of Tracem S.p.A. strived to preserve its financial position, always
maintaining high quality standards in our customer services; customer care and satisfaction are fundamental
and essential values. To this end, as part of the measures put in place by the Government to deal with the
COVID-19 public health emergency, in September 2020 the Company formalized two new loans that are 90%
backed by guarantees issued by the Central Guarantee Fund pursuant to Decree-Law no. 23 of 8 April 2020, as
converted by Law no. 40 of 5 June 2020
(the "Liquidity Decree"):
• a loan for 1000 thousand euro granted by the bank BCC di Pergola e Corinaldo, for a term of six years, to
be repaid in monthly instalments by 02 September 2026.
• a loan of 1000 thousand euro granted by the bank Banca Centrale - Credito Cooperativo, for a term of six
years, to be repaid in monthly instalments by 11 September 2026.
The company purchased the following vehicles during the year: 2 used semi-trailers for 17 thousand euro; 2
used vehicles for 23 thousand euro; 4 new LNG-powered vehicles for 488 thousand euro and 7 new semi-trailers
for 336 thousand euro. It should also be noted that 11 vehicles for which the leasing contract expired in 2020
were purchased, 8 transport vehicles were sold for 80 thousand euro, with a capital gain of the same amount,
and 1 trailer was sold for 2 thousand euro, with a capital gain of the same amount.

INBA S.P.A.

In short ( thousands of euro)*
2020
2019
The financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 closed with a profit of 291
4,325
4,992
thousand euro against a profit of 221 Revenue
thousand euro in 2019, after amortizations EBITDA
330
243
and depreciations in the amount of 85 EBIT
245
133
thousand euro.
Net income
291
221
In this general context, the company, as well
Cash-Flow
(Income
+
Dep/Amort
+
Value
adj.)
331
376
as
consolidating
the
situation
that
* data before intra-group eliminations at average
characterized the market in the previous year, exchange-rate
has tried to contain the negative effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
The core business continues to be mainly represented by the transport of hydraulic binders and the excavation
of aggregate materials on behalf of the Financo Group company Colacem S.p.A.
As already commented on above in the analysis of performance of Tracem S.p.A., the improvement in the net
result for the year, which increased from 221 thousand euro in 2019 to 291 thousand euro in 2020 (+70 thousand
euro) achieved in a year marked by a contraction in turnover (down 667 thousand euro), is primarily due to the
favorable trend in the cost of diesel and natural gas for automotives which, exceptionally, took an nose dive in
2020.
In order to reduce management costs, relating mainly to vehicle maintenance, which is constantly increasing,
the company has continued to stipulate scheduled maintenance contracts with vehicle manufacturers with regard
to new purchases and local workshops for older vehicles. The policy of cost reduction was also supported by the
company by the constant renewal of the vehicle fleet.
Also in 2020, the company is present in the share capital of a maritime shipping company based in Greece, M.T.
Management Marine Company in liquidation and a transport and charter company in Italy, Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l., of which it holds 100% of the share capital, in addition to 85.5% of the share capital of Trading
Puglia S.p.A., a company set up to optimize and create a synergy between the transport activity and the
warehousing activity.
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DIVERSIFIED SECTORS
The commitment of the Financo Group continued in 2020 in sectors other than its core-business, which has
proven to be always attentive and ready to seize the development opportunities offered by these collateral
segments. The companies Tourist S.p.A., Santa Monica S.p.A., and Poggiovalle S.r.l., the latter of which
included for the first time in these consolidated financial statements using the full consolidation method, are a
solid example of the efforts made by the Group and the consequent successes obtained respectively in the
tourism-hotel sectors, sports and farms activities.

TOURIST S.P.A.

In short ( thousands of euro)*
2020
2019
The company, which has been successfully
operating for years in the hotel sector in the
Umbria region in Gubbio (PG), is 100% Revenue
2,590
5,389
owned by Colacem
EBITDA
(495)
288
S.p.A. and owns the "Park Hotel ai
(674)
(69)
Cappuccini", located in the outskirts of the old EBIT
Net income
(508)
(111)
town of Gubbio (PG).
As already mentioned, the tourism - Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)
246
(329)
hospitality sector was one of those specific * data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate
sectors that was hit extremely hard by the
COVID-19 public health emergency.
For the tourism sector, the pandemic was an unimaginable event that brought the entire sector to a screeching
halt for many months of 2020; there was a brief upturn unfortunately only in the second and third quarters of the
year. The 2020 figures reported by Tourist S.r.l. fully reflect the hard times the sector as a whole, and the
company in particular, is going through.
Revenues fell from 5,389 thousand euro in 2019 to 2,590 thousand euro, a decrease of 2,799 thousand euro (51.9%). More specifically, the first two months of 2020 saw good performance supported by an initially favorable
outlook but, with the arrival of the pandemic, from March onwards and throughout the year, sales showed a
constant downward trend that at times even degenerated into zero, except for the month of August.
The company was therefore forced to do its best to limit the damage caused to its financial position in
performance by this exceptional situation, trying to keep overhead as low as possible by using both social safety
nets to cope with personnel costs and the various benefits provided specifically for the tourism sector put in place
by the government. This included cancelling payment of the municipal property tax (IMU), the use of the holiday
bonus and a series of financial support measures provided over time.

SANTAMONICA S.P.A.
Among the subsidiaries not operating in the
core-business sector, it is worth noting Santa
Monica S.p.A., owner of the "Misano World
Circuit", which closed the year with a loss of
40 thousand euro, compared to a profit of
1,913 thousand euro in 2019. This loss was a
direct result of the adverse effects of the
pandemic outbreak in early 2020, which had

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

2019

Revenue

8,032

14,878

EBITDA

1,078

2,313

EBIT

194

1,078

Net income

(40)

678

Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)

844

1,913

* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate

a major negative impact in terms of a lower operating revenue in 2020 compared with 2019. The immediate
action taken by the company, both in terms of restructuring production costs, and in terms of rescheduling the
timing of the planned investments, the latter having become necessary also as a result of the work sites
coming to a halt as imposed by the regulations in force at the time, have however made it possible to achieve
interim profit margins.
Despite the fact that Operating Revenue contracted by 43.48%, compared with the previous financial year, and
for reasons objectively related to the COVID-19 pandemic, the company managed to reach EBITDA of 1.1 million
euro, compared to an amount of 2.3 million euro in 2019 and an EBIT, although still positive, of 0.2 million euro,
compared with an amount of 1.1 million euro in 2019.
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The sharp drop in operating revenue, attributable to the pandemic, is linked to the lower number of working days,
to the atypical operation of the various facilities available to the circuit, as well as to a significant reduction in
revenues related to each sporting event and/or business activity, due to a strong reduction in the audience at
the events following the regulatory provisions related to the aforementioned pandemic.
It should be noted that the amount of the loss for the year was affected by the lower amount of depreciation and
amortization recognized in the income statement, which amounted to 0.9 million euro, compared with 1.2 million
euro in the previous year, due to subsequent provisions of law aimed at mitigating the adverse economic effects
of the pandemic on companies.
The main goal of the company in 2020 was to be able to carry out as many sporting and commercial activities
as possible, in full compliance with the regulations in force at the time on COVID-19. The company introduced,
also independently, strict operating protocols aimed at safeguarding all workers at the circuit, such as employees,
independent contractors, companies and users, for which the company received widespread recognition from
the various parties with whom it worked.
The sporting events organized by the company all take on a particular economic and communication importance,
constituting the basis for carrying out a connected commercial activity in its operating sector. In particular, the
company organizes, on the basis of multi-year contracts, for motorcycles, the “Moto GP Grand Prix of San Marino
and the Riviera of Rimini”, an event which in 2020 was organized in conjunction with the “Romagna and Rimini
Riviera motorcycle Grand Prix”, the “Italian Cup”, the “F.M.I. Cup”, as well as the “Misano Classic Week End”.
The races organized for cars included the “Italian Car Championship - Misano Racing Week End”, the “Porsche
Cup Swiss”, the Italian leg of the international car race “GT World Challenge” and the heralded Ferrari Challenge
and Lamborghini Trofeo one-make racing series.
The pandemic made it impossible to organize major events like the Superbike World Championship, the
"Campionato Italiano Velocità" (Italian Speed Superbike Championship) trials, the "European Truck Racing
Championship" round in Italy. Preparations are underway to organize all of these events in 2021.
In addition to these professional sporting activities, the company organizes a series of minor competitions,
together with the direct development of a comprehensive commercial activity and rental of the various facilities
to car and motorcycle clubs, always focusing on the quality, efficiency of services and safety of the facilities.
In order to provide high quality services, with the aim of presenting itself on the market with an excellent value
for money, the company works together with various partners, specialists in the sector, entrusting them with the
direct management of facilities and/or services, such as the Medical Center (health center affiliated with the local
health authority (ASL), open to both racetrack users and the outside world), the safe/fast driving activity, the gokarting activity, food service management, as well as fuel management.
The company, through its own in-house department and for all types of events, is able to provide its customers
with various types of logistics services through third-party contractors with whom it has well-established
contractual relations.
During the second quarter of the year, thanks to the easing of the restrictive measures adopted and the news
that vaccines would soon be available, the company was able to witness a phase of slight recovery in the
economic cycle. The company was therefore able to resume operations, even if only in part, in May 2020, so it
was possible to contain the serious negative economic impact.
In this economic scenario, strongly impacted by the pandemic, the company was obviously unable to proceed
with the consolidation of the various economic aggregates achieved in previous years, in terms of both revenue
and profit margins.
The company did all it could do to stay afloat in 2020 - the year of the pandemic. It faced exceptional difficulties
due to the cancellation of events, the absence of spectators for almost the entire season and the increase in
management costs to deal with the public health emergency, in order to operate in complete safety, both in
relation to employees of the company and people using the services offered by the company.
In particular, Santa Monica S.p.A. had an excellent MotoGP 2020 experience, demonstrating that, with prudence
and professionalism, it is possible to organize events safely, becoming a reference point, appreciated by all
operators inside and outside the sector.
The various difficulties encountered during 2020 did not stop the operations of the corporate structure, but rather
prompted the adoption of new development strategies, confirming the need to proceed with the investments
planned, which, during 2020, inevitably came to a standstill, to then be set back in motion in 2021.
In spite of the difficulties encountered in 2020, the gradual, albeit fluctuating, revival of economic activity not only
made it possible to contain the serious and negative economic effects, but, irrespective of the initial expectations,
made it possible to generate a positive cash-flow, sufficient to meet its financial commitments.
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In this context, operating revenue fell 43.48%, compared with the previous year, decreasing from 15.1 million
euro in 2019 to 8.6 million euro in 2020. Accordingly, operating costs fell 40.52%, decreasing from 14.1 million
euro to 8.4 million euro in 2020; depreciation and amortization decreased from 1.2 million euro in 2019 to 0.9
million euro in 2020, making use of the option provided by current legislation to reformulate depreciation and
amortization, in order to take into account the effects of the Coronavirus pandemic, both in terms of lower
revenues and in terms of reduced profit margins.
It should also be noted that management's unending focus on maintaining high quality standards, both of the
structures and services connected with the events, in a period of stress testing as a result of the pandemic effect,
has made it possible to underline the company's ability to react positively in very special situations, such as the
case of the possibility of organizing the double MotoGP event, which was the first major international sporting
event open to the public, organized with procedures aimed at ensuring full compliance with the regulations put
in place to stop the spread of COVID-19.
It should be noted that the strong tendency to maintain high quality standards essentially refers to aspects related
to the general safety of the circuit, with regard to both direct users of the various facilities and spectators. In this
regard, it should be noted that the track was completely resurfaced in 2020, in order to maintain the circuit's high
safety standards.
The company continued to focus on the details of organizational and communication aspects related to the
events organized, paying close attention to the development of partnerships with brands of international appeal,
which find in the Misano Adriatico circuit the ideal place to enhance specific marketing policies.
With reference to the activity carried out by the company as a whole, it should be noted that it has put in place
relationships based on a spirit of cooperation and transparency with all the various operators in the area, with
the general awareness of the important economic and image impact assumed by the type of activity performed.
The various remarkable percentage drops in relation to the various areas of operation are clearly linked to the
COVID-19 public health emergency. These decreases were projected to be much worse in the modelled
scenarios during the months in lockdown.
In conjunction with the attention paid to the organization, meticulousness and sale of the services offered, Santa
Monica S.p.A. constantly monitored management costs, as revised during the lockdown, in order to limit the
effects of the pandemic as much as possible and achieve the necessary economic and financial equilibrium, in
line with the objectives set by the Board of Directors, an equilibrium that is already particularly fragile in a
company whose type of activity can be significantly affected by factors that are often hard to predict, such as
how a sports championship might go, changes in marketing strategy by customers and/or commercial and/or
institutional operators in general, weather conditions that have a huge impact on activities.
Among the investments made by the company in 2020, it’s worth noting the resurfacing of the international
racetrack, the total value of which was 1.7 million euro.
The investments that were yet to be completed as at 31 December 2020, are mainly related to work on
expansions of the pit building, which were stopped in March and April 2020 due to the pandemic lock-down, and
continued throughout 2020, with the first functional block expected to be completed for the Moto GP 2021.

POGGIOVALLE S.R.L.
The company has always worked in
agriculture, producing cereals and raising
animals for meat. In the last few decades, it
expanded its business by adding hospitality,
offering
perfectly
renovated
quaint
farmhouses that are furnished with all the
comforts a person needs, electricity
generation by PV systems and, most
recently, food services.

In short ( thousands of euro)*

2020

Operating revenue

1,772

1,876

EBITDA

191

285

EBIT

(79)

40

(138)

(77)

132

168

Net income
Cash-Flow (Income + Dep/Amort + Value adj.)
* data before intra-group eliminations at average exchange-rate
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The company, which was a direct associate of the parent Financo S.r.l., which still holds a 40% stake, following
the acquisition by Skydomus S.r.l., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Financo S.r.l, of an additional 40% stake, in
2020 Poggiovalle S.r.l.'s classification in the Financo Group changed from associate to subsidiary and, as a
result thereof, concurrently with its direct parent Skydomus S.r.l., the consolidation method used for both
companies changed for the first time from the equity method to the full consolidation method.
The company closed 2020 with a loss of (138) thousand euro (vs. a 77 thousand euro loss in 2019) against a
total operating revenue of 1,772 thousand euro (vs. 1,936 thousand euro in 2019). Although the company, like
all Group companies, was forced to live with the pandemic, Poggiovalle S.r.l. was able to significantly limit the
distress created by COVID-19. This is evidenced by the fact that the increase in the loss for the year was mainly
due to the decrease in state subsidies allocated to agriculture.

45

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING PERFORMANCE OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The draft financial statements of the Parent company Financo S.r.l. for the year ended 31 December 2020, which
we submit for your review and approval, indicate a loss of (6,412) thousand euro, after write-downs of equity
investments in the amount of 7,431 thousand euro. The negative result (5,419 thousand euro) compared to the
previous year, is mainly related to the combined effect of the decrease in write-downs of investments held in
subsidiaries compared to the previous year (-4,931 thousand euro), mainly attributable to Colabeton S.p.A., an
effect that had a positive impact on the result for the year compared to the 2019 financial statements, and the
total absence of dividends from subsidiaries (-12,362 thousand euro) mainly related to Colacem S.p.A. which,
on the other hand, had negative consequences with a greater impact than the reduction in the afore-mentioned
cost items.

OTHER INFORMATION
The table below shows the reclassified Income Statement of the Parent Company Financo S.r.l. to help readers
gain insight into results of the company's operations for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Reclassified Income Statement for 2020 and comparative figures for 2019:
2020
2019

Interest income and similar income

100

55

(190)

(180)

0

10,106

Adjustments to financial assets

(7,431)

(12,362)

NET FINANCIAL INCOME, EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES

(7,521)

(2,381)

Revenues for services

3,170

3,903

Work and related costs

(371)

(395)

Administration and other general overhead costs (net)

(1,213)

(1,372)

EARNINGS BEFORE TAX

(5,935)

(245)

(477)

(748)

(6,412)

(993)

Interest expense and similar charges
Dividends and capital gains on investments

Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes for the year
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
In 2020, the Group's main companies, as was already the case in the previous year, continued to pursue the
development of research and innovation programs for products and processes in order to acquire ever more
new and in-depth knowledge aimed at both the improvement of existing products and the development of new
technologies on products and/or processes, able to continuously satisfy the complex and changing needs of
the consumer, attentive to the effectiveness and quality of the purchase. With this in mind, there have been
many initiatives involving the main companies of the Group in 2020.
Although the crisis in the sector shows no sign of ending soon, Colacem has maintained its mission as a company
focused on the constant attention of the social and environmental dimension connected to the development of
its activities, in the continuous improvement of its business management system, strongly focused on operational
excellence and responsible management of processes, thus strengthening its competitive positioning.
In this context, Colacem continued its research and development activities, focusing its efforts on identifying
innovative solutions for the improvement and control of product quality, the prevention/management of possible
complaints and the optimization of productive processes, with the dual objective of reducing environmental
impacts and reducing production costs.
Based on these values, several initiatives have involved Colacem also in the course of 2020, through its Central
Technological Laboratory, a true research hub.
Among the many initiatives of Colacem S.p.A., it is worth mentioning the important partnership agreement
reached with other companies for a preliminary study of the possibility of using ashes from waste incineration
systems in the production processes of post-firing cement and/or concrete.
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The project will be carried out in 2021. In 2020, Colacem S.p.A. concluded its research activities, funded by
UNICEMENTO, aimed at pre-regulatory activities relating to the widespread problem of ASR (alkali-silica
reaction, i.e. concrete cancer). In this area, the Central Technological Laboratory of the company contributed by
analyzing numerous aggregates and packaging numerous concrete products subjected to expansion tests at the
University of Rome. The dossiers have been handed over to UNI (Italian National Unification body) and a specific
standard for the production of alkali–silica reaction resistant cement is expected to be published in 2021.
Finally, several self-financed internal research projects are underway, aimed at improving the quality and
characteristics of the Group's clinker and cement, and at optimizing the use of cements in concrete, especially
in particularly critical environmental conditions, also in cooperation with additive suppliers.
Colacem S.p.A. has also started a project to improve the sampling stage and preparation of RDF samples to be
sent to external accredited laboratories for characterization for ETS purposes. To this end, a line of specific
equipment was purchased and installed at the company's Central Technological Laboratory to crush and make
samples uniform before sending them to the laboratory.
Finally, Colacem S.p.A. has launched a research project on the development of curing 'boxes' for concrete
specimens during the first 72 hours. The project is being developed by Colabeton S.p.A. together with an
engineering company and tested at the Central Technological Laboratory of Colacem S.p.A.
The project stems from the need to ensure that the specimens manufactured on site cure properly in the first 72
hours in accordance with the requirements of UNI EN 206-1.
Even in a difficult and uncertain year like the one marked by the COVID-19 pandemic, Colabeton S.p.A.
continued to pursue activities and projects aimed at continued innovation in cement-based composites. The
ability to innovate its products and production processes, integrating sustainability and technical performance, is
now fundamental for Colabeton S.p.A. so it is able to compete in an increasingly demanding construction market.
The area laboratories of Colabeton S.p.A., coordinated by the Central Technical Service, are responsible for
research, design, testing and verifying new products and application technologies. The company is directing its
efforts around the research and development of new materials to combine with, or partly replace, traditional
constituents of concrete. This will allow the company, on the one hand, to further improve the performance of its
products while guaranteeing full cooperation in the most appropriate choices to be made on site; on the other
hand, it means looking to the future of construction to design buildings that are more environmentally friendly,
energy efficient, as well as durable and safe. In a nutshell: sustainable buildings.
On these lines Colabeton S.p.A., after a trial period, put into production, on some important works, the innovative
admixture Master X-Seed STE 50 that facilitates growth of crystals, increases the strength of concrete, thereby
lowering the possibility of cracks due to the heat of hydration, and increases strength development in a period
of 7-28 days. In 2020, the company also implemented the production of new CAM (Minimum Environmental
Criteria) mixtures in the Castelbellino (AN) and Parma Sissa (PR) plants in addition to those already in production
at the Taranto (TA) plant, thus meeting regulatory requirements for products with a minimum content of recycled
material, while being environmentally sustainable.
The company is planning a major project which will materialize in 2021. This will offer the possibility to make new
cement-based composites specifically designed for the restoration of bridges and/or viaducts, using hightechnology mobile production plants, as part of Industry 4.0. This particular market segment, in which Colabeton
S.p.A. is currently not involved, will see volumes grow exponentially due to the many tenders focused on the
renovation of existing buildings and structures.
One of the most innovative projects for the company was the introduction, already in past years, of the Colabeton
SMART THINKING system. The objective of SMART THINKING is to make it as easy as possible for the designer
to choose the right product and to achieve the best quality of the final result, also thanks to the potential of BIM
- Building Information Modeling, thus shaping the future of concrete. During the year just ended, all the "Technical
Notebooks" of the products supporting the SMART THINK platform were defined, analyzed and corrected; they
were scheduled to be published by the end of 2020, but will be out in autumn this year. This delay was mainly
due to the public health emergency that is still ongoing, and to allow all of the relevant photographic material to
be collected.
The FlatScreed-SL product, developed last year by Colabeton S.p.A., is now in production and has already
been used in major projects. Among these, it is worth mentioning the Hospice Bellaria in Bologna, a non-profit
organization that helps people suffering from incurable diseases. This project was designed by architect Renzo
Piano. The company has also introduced the innovative SmartLab laboratory management system, which will
improve performance in the analysis and processing of products sold.
For Colabeton S.p.A. The digitization of processes is currently being explored.
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Colabeton S.p.A.'s Technological Service is pursuing two areas of this subject.
The first concerns the traceability in the concrete supply chain, which necessarily passes through the packaging
of the concrete specimens. The company is testing a system for geo-referencing the moment when the
specimens are packaged, allowing the company and the Project Manager to be certain of correct execution in
accordance with the provisions of the "Technical Standards for Construction" laid down in Ministerial Decree 17
January 2018. The problems passing through the packaging of specimens have often put the entire sector in a
bad light and, therefore, the idea that Colabeton S.p.A. is one of the first companies to supply a system that
digitalizes the entire flow and, consequently, highlights the correct procedures for the production and control of
its concrete, is an extremely interesting subject; traceability of the concrete supply chain could find its way into
a loss prevention policy.
The second very interesting subject, closely linked to the previous one, concerns the curing concrete specimens.
After packaging the specimens, an operation regulated by a UNI standard, they must be left in the place where
they were taken for at least 16 hours and no more than 72 hours (UNI EN 12390-2) at a temperature of 20 °C ±
5 or 25 °C ± 5 in hot climates; then, after this interval, they must be placed in a room equipped with curing tanks
or humidity chambers at a temperature of 20 °C ± 2 with relative humidity higher than 90%. Failure to comply
with the conditions in the early hours, especially in hot climates, leads in many cases to litigation because the
correct increase in expected mechanical performance is invalidated. The Technological Service of Colabeton
S.p.A., in conjunction with the laboratory of Colacem S.p.A. in Gubbio, is testing a particular container which
could remedy an aspect of the UNI EN 12390-2 standard which, although correctly regulated, the temperature
specifications cannot be complied with on work sites. Thanks to special phase change materials, the container
should make it possible to maintain the temperature required by the standard for the time required and,
consequently, guarantee the correct development of the expected mechanical performance of the concrete
specimens, thus avoiding the risk of non-compliance, which very often leads to disputes. Colabeton S.p.A. is
currently the only company to have this container and, therefore, could be the first company to be able to offer it
together with supply traceability.
The company is also planning a cloud-based system to link the huge amount of data from the supply monitoring
and from the innovative specimen container to some BIM objects representing our concretes to enhance the
SMART THINKING service.
Finally, smart working, which became necessary especially during the first lockdown, was used by the Colabeton
S.p.A. Technological Service to set up a technical training cycle for the sales network through dedicated
webinars. The call system proved to be a very fast and practical way that will now be used on a regular basis.

PRODUCT QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICE
As far as Colacem S.p.A. is concerned, all the cements produced in the company's factories are equipped with
the Certificate of Constancy of Performance (CE mark) which certifies compliance with the European standard
EN 197-1 and any relevant additional certifications related to high resistance to sulfates (SR) and/or low
hydration heat (LH). The Group's product range is constantly evolving; the key features in terms of performance
and environmental impact are carefully planned to ensure that they remain in line with market needs.
The company has designed, tested, CE marked and launched for consumption, from the Maddaloni (CE) plant,
a CEM IV/A(P) 42.5 N-SR pozzolanic cement with low alkali content intended for the Naples-Bari high-speed
railway project.
In order to facilitate the penetration of the above-mentioned cement in the major works market, Colacem S.p.A.
cooperated and carried out technical analysis with the Na-Ba and Italferr consortia.
Colacem S.p.A. closely follows issues on reducing CO2 emissions; it is working towards this updating its product
range trying to reduce, as far as possible, the clinker-to-cement ratio, i.e. the k/c ratio.
The company has taken a step in this direction by obtaining CE marking and through the production in Galatina
(LE) of a CEM II/A-LL 42.5 R that will gradually replace the current CEM I 42.5 R. The new cement will offer the
same performance as the current one, but contain less clinker. It will also be sold in the Spanish and French
markets, subject to obtaining the additional AW and NF certificates. As a prudent measure, the company
obtained CE marking for the three cements produced in the Tunis subsidiary so they can be exported to the EU.
Colacem S.p.A. is still in the development phase of an innovative system for the estimation of long-term
compressive strength, that will make it possible to implement any corrective measures in production at an earlier
stage in order to have products with constant performance over time, in line with the quality budget.
The company has further improved its data collection and analysis techniques used to assess customer
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satisfaction, obtaining feedback that confirms the quality of the service provided and at the same time offers
suggestions for improvement.
Colacem S.p.A. presented a detailed internal audit plan carried out in close cooperation and synergy between
Quality Assurance and the Central Technological Laboratory with a view to assistance and sharing with
peripheral laboratories.
The company continued its technical cooperation with major customers involved in the supply of the first
construction sites of the Naples-Bari high-speed railway project, also involving, through the consortia, Italferr.
Colacem S.p.A. successfully implemented the activities included in IO 78 “Operational management of the
technological characterization tests required by the Central Technological Laboratory”. This is a very important
document, shared by Colacem S.p.A. and Colabeton S.p.A., which introduces a new testing methodology called
MBE "Mortie de Beton Equivalent".
The MBE methodology allows, in an easy and relatively fast way to test, on an "equivalent mortar", the
performance of cements when combined with various combinations of additives/aggregates. This will make it
possible to measure and monitor the performance of the cements over time, evaluating the feeling with the widely
used additives in order to prevent and/or manage the potential application issues faced by customers. The results
of the first year were extremely interesting and Colacem S.p.A. will continue to pursue the work plan shared with
Colabeton S.p.A.
As regards Colabeton S.p.A., all the company's ready-mix concrete production units are equipped with a
production control system (FPC), in order to ensure that the product meets the requirements set by the standards
and that these requirements are constantly maintained in compliance with Ministerial Decree 17.01.2018 “New
technical standards for construction”.
The company is ISO 9001:2015 certified; the Castelletto Sopra Ticino production unit is also ISO 14001:2015
certified.
For Colabeton S.p.A., EPD (Environmental Product Declaration) certification is an ever-increasing requirement
in technical specifications, due to its importance in terms of environmental sustainability. EPD certification
provides environmental data on the life cycle of the products in accordance with international regulations. To that
end, Colabeton S.p.A. developed the calculation software and concluded the certification process at the
production unit located in Mediglia (MI). Other production units located in the company's areas are expected to
obtain certification in 2021.
In 2020, Colabeton S.p.A. obtained the Validation of Self-Declared Environmental Claims, in compliance with
the provisions of UNI EN ISO 14021:2016 for CAM purposes, for the production sites located in Boffalora (MI),
Brunello (VA), Castelletto Sopra Ticino (NO), Cusago (MI), Gaggiano (MI), Legnano (MI), Lonate Pozzolo (VA),
Mediglia (MI), Seano (PO), Segrate (MI) e Tornavento (VA) in addition to that already obtained for the production
units in Taranto (TA) and San Donnino (FI). In 2021, the company will seek to obtain validation of Self-Declared
Environmental Claims of other production units, thus further boosting its sustainability activities.
Colabeton S.p.A.'s product range is constantly evolving and aligned with the needs of the markets.
In 2020, CAT S.A. certified its products in accordance with EN 197-1 and obtained the CE mark.
Also in 2020, CAT S.A. renewed INNORPI product certificates for cements conforming to the Tunisian standard
NT47.01. It also renewed the API Monogram product certificate combined with the right to use the new cement
for oil wells "Class G-HRS" in compliance with the requirements of the API 10A standard provided by the
American Petroleum Institute. This demonstrates the adequacy of the quality management system of products
and services with respect to the relevant requirements, thereby reflecting its continued compliance.
With regard to the company Domicem S.A., the most important activities carried out in 2020 by the Quality
Management System and the Supply Chain Security Management System (SGSCS) were as follows: the
INDOCAL certification renewal audit; internal audit of the SGC and SGSCS; follow-up audit of ISO 9001:2015
Certification conducted by the Institute of Technical Standards of Costa Rica (INTECO); preparation of the
Laboratory Quality Manual to obtain ISO 17025 accreditation; certification as an Authorized Economic Operator
(AEO) for exporters and importers. For all the activities carried out, the company obtained all of the respective
certificates / renewals.
With regard to Domicem S.A.'s certification as an Authorized Economic Operator (AEO), it is worth noting the
teamwork carried out in conjunction with the internal audit, procurement, warehouses, shipping, human
resources, IT support, physical security, logistics, etc. areas, which made it possible to obtain this important
certification issued by the General Directorate of Customs (GDC). The main objective of AEO programs is to
ensure minimum levels of security and facilitate the flow of international trade by forging strong alliances between
the public and private sectors to ensure the security of the entire supply chain, and build trust in business
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relationships that enable mutual recognition with customs agencies in other countries.
Last but not least the final report on customer perception and satisfaction in terms of the company meeting their
requirements, indicated a high level of satisfaction with a percentage of 97%, similar to the results of last year.
The criteria used to measure customer perception and satisfaction were: timeliness of deliveries, quality of
packaging, quality of products and, among others, satisfaction with the claim handling service.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT, ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY
The Financo Group has continued to pursue its commitment to safeguard the environment and its most important
user, which is man. Also in 2019, the year in which the difficulties of the cement sector continue unfortunately,
the Group has never abandoned its philosophy which is founded, as well as on the highest company values,
which are expressed in the application of the best available production techniques and qualitative excellence of
the products, also on the commitment to take the utmost account of the context in which it operates, a context
that is represented by its employees and local communities and the environment that surrounds the production
sites.
The management of its business, in line with the valuesof environmental sustainability, represents for the Group
not only a social commitment, but a determining factor for the same competitiveness. As part of its activities, the
Group is constantly engaged in the implementation of managerial and production processes inspired by the
improvement of environmental sustainability and safety in the workplace.
Colacem is one of the youngest companies among cement producers in Italy, however it has long been the third
company in the Italian market and first in exports, thanks to the strategic position of some plants. For the most
part, the factors that have allowed such rapid growth are due to their vision, which has always been oriented
towards the market, technological innovation and sustainability.
In an industrial sector with a high incidence of energy costs, the availability of highly efficient plants, capable of
reducing as much as possible the waste of fuel and raw materials, in line with the principles of the circular
economy, has been a success factor.
All this, thanks to the desire to always focus on the best available technologies and on the continuous
modernization of the plants, which today can be considered among the most advanced in Europe.
This commitment is illustrated with information and numbers detailed in the Sustainability Report that Colacem
has been drafting since 2008, in accordance with the international G4 standards of the GRI (Global Reporting
Initiative) and certified by the auditing company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.
Another step towards sustainability has been taken by Colacem S.p.A. thanks to the project aimed at obtaining
the EPD (Environmental Product Declaration) certification of cements. The first EPD to be released and
published on the site epditaly.it is that of the cements from the Caravate (VA) factory owned by Colacem S.p.A.
The Environmental Product Declaration is a document that describes the environmental impacts related to the
production of cement considering all that it entails, for example, in terms of energy consumption, raw materials
and water, production of waste and emissions into the atmosphere. In the case of the aforementioned plant in
Caravate (VA), the “cradle to gate” approach was followed, i.e. considering every impact generated, from the
extraction of raw materials to the shipping of the finished product. The analysis is based on well-defined rules,
the Product Category Rules (PCR), in accordance with ISO 14025 and EN 15804 standards for construction
products. After a complex and in-depth process, the EPD of Colacem S.p.A. has been verified and released by
ICMQ, an independent and accredited third party. The EPD for cements made at the Colacem S.p.A. plant in
Sesto Campano (IS) was published in 2020.
The latest version of the EPD of Caravate (VA) was published and the data collection phase for all other cements
in the group was completed with the aim of publishing all EPDs by early 2021.
The EPD for cements made at the plant in Sesto Campano (IS) was published in 2020. The latest version of the
EPD of Caravate (VA) was published and the data collection phase for all other cements in the group was
completed with the aim of publishing all EPDs by early 2021.
Another important certification project of Colacem S.p.A. was started in 2020: the CSC certification promoted at
a voluntary level by the GCCA (Global Cement and Concrete Association), which will involve the plant located
in Caravate (VA) and, subsequently, certain concrete plants of Colabeton S.p.A. The CSC Rating, in fact,
evaluates the positive aspects of the concrete manufacturing company in terms of environmental and social
sustainability, carefully assessing whether the company has voluntarily exceeded the minimum limits set by law
with its operations.
For the subsidiary Colabeton S.p.A., an EPD was certified and published for certain types of concrete made at
the Mediglia (MI) plant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
In this area, Colacem S.p.A. maintained its commitment to important activities relating to the environment and
the entire economic context: a production model attentive to the needs of the regions in which it operates;
gradually improving technologies and environmental innovation for processes and products; the use of
alternative fuels in production processes in partially replacing fossil fuels in order to reduce the environmental
impact and the high cost of energy; and constant monitoring and control of environmental aspects. These are
the issues reflecting the new challenges ahead for Colacem S.p.A., aimed at strengthening relations with all the
stakeholders involved.
Considering that the issue of the use of alternative fuels is becoming increasingly more important for both the
cement industry and for national environmental policies, because it makes it possible to significantly reduce CO2
emissions, and also contributes to reducing the quantity of waste destined for disposal in landfills, Colacem
S.p.A. has increased its efforts in identifying initiatives aimed at obtaining the necessary authorizations for the
recovery of waste as fuel, while seeking full support by all the stakeholders involved.
In particular, in 2020, at the request of Colacem S.p.A., the competent authorities began the necessary
authorization procedures for the use of Refuse-derived fuel (RDF) at the Ghigiano - Gubbio (PG) cement plant,
to increase the amount of RDF waste and the use of RDF at the Rassina (AR) cement plant and for the use of
RDF waste and RDF at the Ragusa (RG) cement plant.
In 2020, Colacem S.p.A. renewed the environmental management system certificates in accordance with UNI
EN ISO 14001:2015 for its cement plants in Ghigiano - Gubbio (PG), Galatina (LE), Rassina (AR), Caravate (VA)
and Sesto Campano (IS) and the facilities of Ragusa Cementi S.p.A., Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. and Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l.
Furthermore, during the year, the environmental management systems based on UNI EN ISO 14001 adopted
for Colacem S.p.A.'s port terminals in Ravenna (RA), Malcontenta (VE) and Savona (SV) and for the plant for
the production of pre-mixed products in Rome were confirmed.
In addition to the usual periodic environmental training activities, in 2020 Colacem S.p.A. also provided specific
training on the environmental management system as per UNI EN ISO 14001:2015 and on the environmental
crime management model (pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/01).
In 2020, CAT S.A. managed to successfully keep its certificates for the QMS Quality Management System (ISO
9001) and the EMS Environmental Management System (ISO 14001).
With regard to the environmental management system of Domicem S.A., the compliance by the productive
structure of the rules on respect for the environment is confirmed. The systematic checks by the company to
monitor the emission of particles into the atmosphere are carried out through dust collectors, consisting of bag
filters and hybrid filters. This particle control system makes it possible to obtain high ecological performances
and to ensure that emissions are perfectly in line with the limit values established by local and international laws
and regulations.
The quality, safety and environmental objectives, aligned with Domicem S.A.'s 2020 strategic objectives, were
mainly focused on: enhancing the conformity of CPN and CPM cements; adapting the management system to
meet the requirements of ISO 17025; achieving greater production and energy efficiency in production and
packaging facilities; reducing the amount of unplanned downtime at the main production facilities; protecting the
health and well-being of all employees and promoting a safe and risk-free working environment by reducing the
accident rate; increasing the percentage of areas with vegetation in the areas and hillsides of the La Cabra mine.
In general, the results obtained were excellent.
The company's environmental objectives are based on compliance with the Environmental Management and
Regulation Program (PMAA). The results of these objectives are presented every six months to the Ministry of
the Environment and Natural Resources through the Environmental Compliance Reports (ICA), within which
compliance with the requirements of the law on the environment and natural resources is highlighted. n. 64-00
and with the Environmental Quality Standards of the Air envisaged for the control of atmospheric emissions.
The monitoring system includes three control points and, from the surveys carried out, it has emerged that the
concentrations of PM-10 and PM-2.5, as well as the CO, NOX and SO2 values, are below the limits set by local
and international regulations.
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Colabeton S.p.A. shared the operating instructions of the Environmental Management System (EMS), thereby
making all personnel fully aware of:
• the proper management of environmental emergencies which could arise at work;
• the importance and responsibility of properly monitoring all environmental aspects;
• the proper management of waste produced at the plants and keeping records of the waste in the loading
and unloading log books;
• general issues relating to sensitive topics such as water discharges and atmospheric emissions as per
Legislative Decree 152/06 et seq.
The sound corporate awareness of environmental issues is reflected in the fact that it has maintained UNI EN
ISO14001:2015 certification.
In order to further develop the company's "green" approach, in 2020, the company explored a number of
possibilities to give a second life to materials that would otherwise destined (recycle, recovery, etc.) present in
the market. With experts in the environmental sector (in cooperation with Federbeton) Colabeton S.p.A. analyzed
all the opportunities under EoW framework, defining common guidelines for tackling and overcoming the
regulatory constraints currently in place on this delicate subject.
Colabeton S.p.A., in order to increase awareness on environmental issues related to the production of concrete,
in early 2020 concluded the training program started in 2019, for all the technical staff involved in production at
the various concrete plants, all the salespeople involved in marketing concrete and the employees at its plant.
In April 2020, 8 vehicles fueled only by LNG (Liquefied Natural Gas) were delivered to Tracem S.p.A.,
representing a further step towards a cleaner and more efficient transport, demonstrating the company's active
attention to sustainability, economic and environmental issues, in making choices.
Data on the use of the vehicles, despite some foreseeable and expected difficulties related to the new technology
compared to traditional diesel vehicles as well as the lower presence of filling stations, are encouraging.
Convinced that this is only the beginning of a major change in the heavy transport sector, which will bring
significant advantages above all from the environmental standpoint, in October 2020 Tracem S.p.A. signed an
order for 4 additional vehicles powered exclusively by LNG. The new vehicles were delivered in March and April
of 2021. Tracem S.p.A. has a total fleet of 30 methane-fueled vehicles (around 35% of the total), 3 of which run
on CNG, 3 run on CNG/LNG and 24 run exclusively on LNG. All this is part of the LNG project which saw, among
other things, the Padule - Gubbio (PG) branch acting as a model for the complete conversion of the vehicle fleet
from diesel to LNG with the construction of an “internal” storage and distribution LNG plant. This plant, created
in partnership with STB S.r.l. and other companies of the Barbetti cement group, was commissioned on 31 July
2018. In March and April 2021, with the delivery of the new LNG vehicles, the shift to using methane of the other
two branches in Caravate (VA) and Rassina (AR) continued. In particular, 4 vehicles were allocated to the
Rassina (AR) branch and 1 vehicle to the Caravate (VA) branch, which already had 3 CNG vehicles in its fleet.
In 2020, over 2.3 million kilometers were driven with methane gas -fueled vehicles, approximately 35% of the
total.
Inba S.p.A., respecting the environment in which it operates, continues to pursue a policy of reducing the
environmental impact due to exhaust emissions from its vehicles, buying in 2008 - 2009 trucks that reduce the
emissions of fumes in the atmosphere and, remaining within this vein, the company purchased trucks that comply
with the "euro 6" directive.
As regards the company Santa Monica S.p.A., has been, and continues to be, constantly attentive to
safeguarding the environment in which it operates.
The company implements measures on a systematic basis to make its economic activity sustainable. For years
now it has had a system installed that is designed to constantly monitoring the acoustic pressure of the circuit,
at the same time organizing a data and information processing system enabling any control activity by the
relevant Bodies.
In the context of existing regulatory provisions, the company asked the competent authorities by way of
derogation the minimum and indispensable number of days for the virtuous performance of its economic activity.
The identification of these days is carried out with reference to activities and/or events of particular
strategic/communicational value not only for the racetrack, but also for the entire vast surrounding area, which
benefits from the significant economic effects in terms of qualified tourist flows, connected to the events.

52

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

The company has taken steps to contain the acoustic pressure as much as possible, where possible, within
parameters well below those set out by the law, providing strict behavioral prescriptions to the users of the
racetrack, both with reference to technical measures to be adopted and to the time slots in which to operate and
establishing a constant dialog with Bodies and subjects that can, directly and/or indirectly, positively influence
the introduction of measures aimed at containing acoustic pressure.
The implementation of each structural intervention is previously examined from the environmental impact
standpoint, privileging interventions that, due to their pleasantness and relation to the acoustic aspect, can
contribute to the respect for the environment as a whole.
The Misano World Circuit paddock has for some time now offered a vision of great value on the technological
innovation introduced on vehicles, with solutions exclusively based on environmental sustainability. Structural
interventions, modernizations and technological innovation have a common denominator in assessing the impact
they have on the environment and for some time now all this has been summarized by KISS Misano, a program
that aims at mitigating the environmental impact in major events and in particular during MotoGP, through actions
for separate collection, recovery of food surpluses, recovery of oil used by the teams, implementation of services
and areas dedicated to people with disabilities, etc.
Areas of the circuit have been allocated to ecological islands for separate collection equipped by the Hera Group,
together with Corepla (National Consortium for the collection, recycling and recovery of plastic packaging),
Ricrea (National Consortium for recycling and recovery of steel packaging) and CoReVe (Glass Recovery
Consortium).

QUARRIES AND MINES
The extraction of raw materials, such as limestone, clays and marls, which are fundamental to cement
production, has always been a driver for all Group companies to pay continued special attention to all the phases
involved, for both quarries and mines.
The Group's mining activities, whether quarries or mines, are aimed at extracting the basic raw material for
cement production, as in the case of quarries: limestone, clay and, in the case of mines, cement marl. The
primary objective of these activities continues to be the constant search for ways to minimize possible impacts
on the environment, ecosystems and landscape in general. Actions continue that can mitigate possible impacts,
as well as help rehabilitate the environment in a way that recreates the natural assets of the areas once mining
is completed, bringing benefits both to biodiversity and to the ecosystems present in each specific area of
intervention. The environmental reclamation phase is constantly present as mining operations progress and
monitored and enhanced gradually over time, leading to the gradual restoration of the areas once mining has
been completed. The various Group companies involved in mining activities to obtain the various raw materials
they need for the development of their production process, have taken steps to foster the reintroduction of
local/native plant varieties, with respect to situations with the most immediate environmental impact but certainly
of less environmental value.
After mining operations are over, new natural spaces are often offered to the community. The mission in the
mining sector is to research and promote the most advanced techniques for the different stages of mining, trying
to establish a correct mining and recovery project, involving all stakeholders through initiatives promoting
transparency, listening and assessing the needs of the territory and local communities.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
The protection of the safety and health of workers is a value that the Financo Group has internalized in its
corporate culture as a central element that directs the development of technologies and work methods in order
to guarantee its employees and independent contractors a safe and healthy working environment.
The Group has for some time been equipped with an organizational structure responsible for security with a
central garrison and local managers in the various peripheral establishments. This allowed to develop a careful
risk analysis, to carry out intense training and information activities and to promote constant vigilance and
compliance with the procedures and rules of conduct at work.
The Group has always allocated considerable resources for the better management of activities related to the
prevention and protection of workers compared to occupational hazards.
In 2021, Colacem S.p.A. will undertake improvement actions such as relaunching the Sicuramente project and
defining safety objectives designed to reduce accidents. Throughout the year the company achieved important
results: the Ghigiano - Gubbio (PG), Maddaloni (CE) and Galatina (LE) plants celebrated 1 year without an
accident, the Caravate (VA) plant celebrated 2 years and the Sesto Campano (IS) plant celebrated the historic
achievement of 3 years without an accident. Also the company's terminals/plants celebrated 8 accident-free
years in Salone (RM), 4 years in Savona (SV) and Mestre (VE) and 3 years in Ravenna (RA).
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With regard to Domicem S.A., it should be noted that during 2020, the company conducted virtual training
sessions, through the company's webex team platform, to continue to broaden the knowledge of staff on health
and safety issues. At the same time, the company implemented the COVID-19 Prevention and Safety Protocol
to ensure business continuity in a sustainable and safe manner, doing everything possible to mitigate the risks
arising from the pandemic and its complications. The protocol approved by Domicem S.A. has been implemented
taking into account the protocols of the Dominican government, WHO_OPS and those implemented by the Head
Office, resulting in safe, reliable and respectful management of people both inside and outside the company. In
addition, the area has been an active part of the program led by Adocem and its Chairman, as well as CEO of
Domicem S.A., to draft and implement the Protocol for the Prevention of COVID-19 in the cement and concrete
supply and distribution chain. This has played an important role in getting the industry and the country's economy
in general back on its feet.
As regards Colabeton S.p.A., it should be noted that the production process of concrete in mixing plants
originates only dusty effluent emissions deriving from the “cold” production cycle and therefore without triggering
any combustion process with the emission of greenhouse gases as per Law 316/2004.
The company believes that maintaining optimal conditions of health and safety in the workplace constitutes a
fundamental dimension of the social responsibility of a company and at the same time constitutes a distinctive
and competitive factor in an increasingly broader and demanding market context in the field of quality and
behavior.
Colabeton S.p.A. has set up an internal service responsible for implementing the procedures required pursuant
to Legislative Decree no. 81/2008, also adopting the specific article 30 integrating the provision of Law no.
123/2007.
During 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. continued updating the DVRs by carrying out training courses for both supervisors
and managers.
As for the safety and compliance of its products, Colabeton S.p.A. has promptly complied with the provisions of
EC Regulation no. 1907/2006 (REACH) governing the placing on the market and the use of chemical
substances.
In response to the pandemic, Colabeton S.p.A. enforced all the string of protocols set out in the various Prime
Ministerial Decrees (DPCM), and which are currently still in force, in order to allow all staff to work in safe
conditions at all times. Regular medical screening via rapid antigenic tests has also been made available on a
voluntary basis.
However, the fact remains for the Group as a whole, that training is one of the cornerstones on which risk
management and injury reduction are based, representing the most effective prevention and protection measure.

ACCIDENTS AND PROCEEDINGS
During the past year, no accidents occurred in the Financo Group companies that caused damage to the
environment and therefore no administrative or criminal proceedings were instituted against the companies of
the Group aimed at establishing their guilt. Furthermore, no definitive sanctions or penalties were imposed for
crimes or environmental damage.
The only exception concerned the company Colabeton S.p.A. which, in 2020, was summoned, as a duty, before
the Court of Macerata to establish its administrative liability arising from an offence pursuant to Legislative
Decree 231/2001, following the summons, before the same Court, of its Area Manager for Central and Southern
Italy, to answer charges the offence laid down in art. 590 of the Criminal Code and art. 583 of the Criminal Code
(injuries) for having caused, through alleged negligence and in breach of workplace safety regulations, injury to
an employee of one of the company's suppliers. The events took place in 2018 at the Colabeton S.p.A. plant in
Montecorsaro (MC), where the injured party was hit by a truck owned by a third-party company while backing
up. Criminal proceedings are still ongoing.

EUROPEAN DIRECTIVE ON CO2 EMISSION ALLOWANCES
The ETS is a cornerstone of the EU's policy to combat climate change and its key tool for reducing greenhouse
gas emissions cost-effectively. Therefore, it involves companies operating in Europe in the production of cement
such as Colacem S.p.A. The system sets a cap on the amount of CO2 emission allowances for production
facilities inside the system (including cement production); the cap is reduced annually so that the total emissions
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decrease. Each year, companies are allocated for free a limited number of CO2 emissions allowances, which
can be exchanged if necessary. At the end of each year, companies must surrender enough allowances to cover
all of their emissions, also by acquiring them on the market, if they do not want to face hefty penalties. If a
company reduces its emissions, it can save the unused allowances to cover its future needs or sell them to
another installation that is short of allowances.
This is the mechanism that makes it possible to achieve the goal to gradually reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
thus encouraging companies to support investments in clean and low Co2 emission technologies, constantly
reducing the use of hard coal or pet coke in favor of alternative fuels with low emission levels.
Colacem S.p.A. has always been conscientious and strongly committed to the plan to reduce Co2 emissions
which, together with the sector's current economic environment, has led to our commitment to surrender
allowances in 2020 of about 2.3 million tons. In the second half of 2020, the company carried out a series of
transactions to purchase a total of 580 thousand allowances, and another 360 thousand in early 2021.
In March 2020, the company decided not to exercise the option for futures contracts entered into previous years
for the forward repurchase of 2.5 million allowances, consistent with the financial strategies which, at the time,
in the midst of the COVID-19 public health emergency, were considered feasible.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANIZATION
The Group had a total number of 1,991 employees at the end of 2020, an increase of 40 employees compared
with the previous year, of which 16 were due to broadening the scope of consolidation and all related to the
company Poggiovalle S.r.l. The total turnover of the Group in 2020 was 16.9 %, down compared with the 19%
reported in 2019.
CHANGE IN PERSONNEL
Workforce
31.12.2019

Recruitment

Resignations

Reclassification

Change in the
Scope of
Consolidation

Workforce
31.12.2020

Senior
management

39

-

-

-

-

39

Middle
managers

84

5

(3)

-

2

88

White-collar
employees

737

41

(43)

(2)

11

744

Blue-collar
workers

1,091

135

(111)

2

3

1,120

TOTAL

1,951

181

(157)

-

16

1,991

During 2020, the Group continued to pursue the objectives of maximum containment of labor costs, without
neglecting a positive productivity trend - both with the use of ordinary management systems and with the use of
social safety nets.
2020 was largely marked by the need for all Group companies to reorganize their operations with respect to the
gradually increasing difficulties triggered by the pandemic.
All Group companies were called on to coordinate activities to implement national and local provisions to tackle
and reduce the spread of the Coronavirus in the workplace, not only inside the individual companies, but adopting
a Group-based approach.
The "Shared National Protocol" regarding industrial activities was implemented by issuing specific Group
organizational arrangements aimed at providing the framework within which each company has updated its
specific occupational health and safety management systems.
With regard to all Group companies governed by the laws of Italy, in application of the aforementioned Group
provisions, specific central company committees and local organizational units were set up for the application
and verification of the 'Shared Protocols', which carried out their activities within the framework of a unitary
functional coordination performed by a central Crisis Committee comprising, in addition to the key personnel of
the Human Resources and Organization Department, also the managers and heads of the Technical and Legal
Departments, including the Workers' Representative and the Prevention and Protection Service Manager of
Colacem.
In implementation of the same "Shared Protocols", the Group has promoted and implemented a massive shift to
the agile working model (Smart Working), where possible due to the specific nature of the job and especially at
headquarters, where, during the lockdown period of March-May 2020, staff physically present was less than 8%
of the workforce.
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The Group has made every effort to reduce the existing technology gap and allow employees, not only at
headquarters, to continue working remotely. This has involved the procurement and timely allocation of laptops
or smartphones to each office employee and to most employees of local operating units.
At the same time, the development of electronic platforms continued in order to adapt the working infrastructure
to the extraordinary needs that had arisen. As of today, while the Group continues using the smart working
model, the Group believes it is reasonable to say that it has achieved a high degree of flexible working
arrangements and adapting to any further needs. In order to maximize action against the spread of the virus, the
Crisis Committee promoted the application of directives, initiatives, conduct, restrictions and prohibitions that are
even stricter than those required by the applicable national decrees and the shared protocols, such as splitting
up work spaces, the allowing only one employee at a time to use headquarter offices, in coordination with smart
working programs, the definition of separate routes for staff or external companies.
The Central Crisis Committee was also supported by a clinical specialist, within the framework of a specific
partnership, in order to provide the central task force, and all Group employees, with its expertise and advise in
order to identify the best way to behave whether it be precautionary, in the event of catching COVID-19, or even
suspect and/or possible cases.
Parallel to these initiatives, in 2020 the Crisis Committee also took action to establish a coordination system for
the designated physicians of the main Group companies, in order to ensure maximum coordination with the local
health authorities and to guarantee maximum involvement of the companies and regional offices in initiatives to
prevent and fight the spread of the virus.
The initiatives to fight the spread of the virus made it possible, starting in April and May 2020, in full lockdown,
to resume, first in a strict manner, specifically defined by local authorizations, then in a gradually general manner,
business and industrial activities, until the complete reopening of the plants. People were able to operate in safe
conditions at the plants due to the implementation of national protocols and specific company safety regulations.
As the pandemic progressed, the Human Resources and Organization Department of Colacem S.p.A., which
acted as coordinator within the Group, also dealt with managing and developing similar initiatives at the
international subsidiaries, subject to the distinctive characteristics and specific issues related to the measures
taken by national and local health authorities.
Towards the end of 2020, thanks to the coordination with the designated physician and the effective cooperation
with the local health authorities, the Group started, through local agreements with qualified clinical laboratories,
rapid antigenic screening, by means of a nasal swab, of all employees who had indicated they would like to join
the campaign, responding to the initiative to raise awareness and to take active steps to improve the conditions
for preventing COVID-19 exposure and infection in the workplace. Antigen tests, the cost of which is entirely
shouldered by the various Group companies, and which is still carried out every fortnight on average, has made
it possible to keep the few positive cases detected so far under control.
During the lockdown, from 23 March to 30 June, certain categories of employees at Colacem S.p.A. were put on
temporary layoff using the Cassa Integrazione Guadagni (wage guarantee fund, i.e. CIG) for COVID-19. 81,557
hours of CIG were used for 611 out of 914 employees. The use of social safety nets made it possible to manage
the temporary redundancies linked to the well-known causes of force majeure in an agreeable manner. In 2020,
14 employees terminated their employment with the Company due to early retirement, based on the possibility
of taking advantage of the “quota 100” plan.
With regard to Domicem S.A., there was an average number of 245 employees in 2020; at year-end this figure
came to 246, a decrease of 1.2% compared with the previous year. Also for Domicem S.A., the event that had
the greatest impact on human resources management during 2020 was undoubtedly the outbreak of the COVID19 pandemic. This resulted in the company having to prepare, implement and constantly update the COVID-19
Prevention and Safety Protocol in cooperation with other areas of the company to protect employee health and
ensure business continuity in a safe and sustainable manner.
Following measures taken by the Dominican authorities to minimize mass gatherings, on 18 March 2020, the
company first implemented telecommuting for all positions whose many duties and responsibilities were
considered appropriate for telecommuting. Thanks to the company's excellent and timely planning, employees
were provided with the necessary technology tools to perform their work remotely, such as laptops, mobile
internet and VPN access. The results were excellent, without any inconvenience and/or disruption of the
company, demonstrating the willingness and professionalism of all employees at this challenging time. At the
same time, and perhaps even more importantly, employees in the production and transport area continued
working at employer premises, ensuring the proper operation of the facilities and business continuity.
It is also worth highlighting that Domicem S.A. guaranteed full payment of wages to all its employees during the
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lockdown imposed by the government. In this sense, the company accepted Phase II, a government program
that provided a five thousand Dominican peso subsidy to companies that promised not to lay off their employees.
By the same token, to ensure the health of employees and their families, Domicem S.A. used the services of
Ser-Salud, Cedimat and ARS Yunen to monitor body temperature, carry out COVID-19 diagnostic tests and
provide medical treatment. The management of the plant's medical office was strengthened and a network of
doctors was set up to provide outpatient medical care for employees/family members with suspected or
confirmed cases of COVID-19.
In accordance with this protocol, the company provided masks and all items needed to ensure proper hand
hygiene in all its facilities and disseminated timely information to avoid infection. Similarly, work and social areas
were adjusted to ensure physical distancing as a first preventive measure against COVID-19. At Domicem S.A.'s
Santo Domingo office, employees alternated between working at employer premises and telecommuting,
ensuring that they could be physically distant without disrupting the processes. Things were back to normal in
December 2020, with all employees present at the facilities. The results of these measures were excellent with
a low percentage of positive cases and no outbreaks within the company.
As at 31 December 2020, Citadelle United S.A. had a workforce of 62 employees compared to 60 employees in
2019. In line with the Group's guidelines, health in the workplace is a priority for the management of Citadelle
United S.A. In 2020, the company set up a medical office with full time nurses to attend to any emergencies and
an occupational health specialist who carries out both routine and on-demand visits. The office is able to perform
rapid medical exams to detect COVID-19, which makes it possible to monitor any suspected cases occurring in
the facilities.
With regard to Cat S.A., the cost of personnel expressed in Tunisian Dinars as at 31 December 2020 increased
by 6.8% compared to the 2019 figure and following the arrangements made with the trade unions in 2020.
As at 31 December 2020, the total number of employees was 184 compared with 175 employees at
31 December 2019.
For Colabeton S.p.A., as described above for Colacem S.p.A., 2020 was also largely characterized by the need
to reorganize their operations with respect to the gradually increasing difficulties triggered by the pandemic.
During the lockdown, from 23 March to 4 May, certain categories of employees at were put on temporary layoff
using the Cassa Integrazione Guadagni (wage guarantee fund, i.e. CIG) for COVID-19. 20,740 hours of CIG
were used for 198 out of 220 employees. The use of social safety nets made it possible to manage the temporary
redundancies linked to the well-known causes of force majeure in an agreeable manner.
As regards Tracem S.p.A., during the lockdown, imposed from 23 March to 30 June, certain categories of
employees were put on temporary layoff using the Cassa Integrazione Guadagni (wage guarantee fund, i.e.
CIG) for COVID-19. 12,773 hours of CIG were used for 89 out of 94 employees. The use of social safety nets
also at this company made it possible to manage the temporary redundancies linked to the well-known causes
of force majeure in an agreeable manner.
Within the context described above, the Financo Group has nevertheless continued in an incessant action in the
attempt to contain costs related to work performance, managing with great attention the human capital and at
the same time trying to maintain a positive and constructive company climate.
The management of training, designed and managed as a real growth for employees - an opportunity for
professional and personal development - is very important to the Financo Group.
In all the companies of the Financo Group, the staff took part in training courses for the professional updating of
technical, commercial and administrative personnel for training in environmental, administrative, production,
commercial and linguistic issues.
The commitment in terms of training of Colacem S.p.A. employees clearly suffered a significant interruption
during the lockdown months and the first months of application of the 'Shared Protocols', as it was specifically
prohibited due to the need to ensure social distancing. Later on, training courses gradually resumed thanks to
the extensive availability of personal technology equipment and digital work platforms, as well as the redefinition
of the organizational specifications of in-person meetings in full compliance with the technical requirements to
prevent infection.
The commitment in terms of staff training is reflected in the roughly 6,441 hours of training provided, involving
535 employees among blue-collar workers, white-collar employees, middle managers and senior management.
In addition to training initiatives aimed at the prevention and proper management of health and safety risks in
the workplace, Colacem S.p.A. has maintained a professional development program on administration and the
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environment. The training and information initiatives for all staff on internal regulations on compliance with
protocols for preventing and fighting the spread of the Coronavirus were particularly important; this included
information on how to act during work, to minimize the risks of infection, and on what to do in the event of a
positive tests, suspected cases of COVID-19, as well as direct or indirect exposure to people with confirmed
cases of COVID-19.
We would also stress the importance of the Cyber Security training program, which involved a large part of the
company's administrative staff, called upon to help, in a proactive manner, protect company data and information,
acquiring the ability to recognize the risks associated with their work.
Most of the training activities provided during the year were carried out using Fondimpresa and Fondirigenti
interprofessional funds.
With regard to employee training at Domicem S.A., the company experienced a year of transformation, switching
the main training programs offered to virtual mode, amongst which ASTM 109 test methods, laboratory testing
and calibration according to ISO 17025, evaluation, validation and traceability; all aimed at obtaining
accreditation of the plant laboratory in ASTM test methods for 2021. By the same token, programs related to
obtaining AEO status were also proposed.
Lastly, it is worth mentioning that in 2020 the company continued its important partnership agreement with the
Loyola Polytechnic, promoting internships for students who managed to enhance their school-level knowledge
with a hands-on internship at the plant located in Sabana Grande de Palenque.
Citadelle United S.A., in order to minimize workplace accidents, has planned training sessions in 2021 with the
main objective of educating, cultivating and developing sound health and physical safety practices in all
departments. In this context, company requires a comprehensive and integrated approach involving all
stakeholders in order to create favorable working conditions.
CAT S.A. continued its efforts in terms of continuing education during 2020 despite the constraints relating to
the exceptional health measures. 22 training programs were in fact developed, covering 187 days.
For Colabeton S.p.A., staff training and qualification activities clearly suffered a significant interruption during the
lockdown months and the first months of application of the shared protocols, as they were specifically prohibited
due to the need to ensure social distancing. Later on, training courses gradually resumed thanks to the extensive
availability of personal technology equipment and digital work platforms, as well as the redefinition of the
organizational specifications of in-person meetings in full compliance with the technical requirements to prevent
infection.
Colabeton S.p.A. remains committed to the constant process of training and development of its employees.
About 2,244 hours of training were provided in 2020 to a total of 159 people, including blue-collar workers, whitecollars, managers and senior management.
Colabeton S.p.A., always attentive to safety issues, took steps in 2020 to increase specific training and
awareness-raising initiatives for staff, with particular attention to the prevention and proper management of
workplace health and safety risks, adapting to the new national regulations the level of information and training
of managers and company employees.
The training and information initiatives for all staff on internal regulations on compliance with protocols for
preventing and fighting the spread of the Coronavirus were particularly important; this included information on
how to act during work, to minimize the risks of infection, and on what to do in the event of a positive tests,
suspected cases of COVID-19, as well as direct or indirect exposure to people with confirmed cases of COVID19.
The company has maintained its rolling training program on administration and IT issues. During the year, the
company also provided an in-house refresher on the concrete market and production to all employees in the
commercial areas, plant operators and area technical sales managers.
Colabeton S.p.A. continued with its commitment to corporate training on the procedures and protocols of the
Organization and Management Model provided for by Legislative Decree. 231/2001 (231 Model) integrated into
the company's organizational system, in the two specific areas of management, safety and environment, in order
to allow plant operators and sales managers to participate in the management of the 231 Organization,
Management and Control Model.
A good part of the training in the year were carried out using Fondimpresa interprofessional funds.
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INFORMATION ON NON-RECURRING, SIGNIFICANT, ATYPICAL AND
UNUSUAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
With a view to the rational use of Group synergies among its member companies, some goods and important
services are exchanged for the development of the various company activities, as well as for managing
personnel, using the organized structures in the different sectors such as technical, insurance, legal, financial,
administrative, commercial and IT. Transactions between our Group companies are part of ordinary business
and are regulated by contracts concluded on market terms; there are no atypical and unusual transactions or in
a potential conflict of interest to report in this respect.
The numerical details of the main intragroup transactions concluded during the year with subsidiaries not
consolidated on a line-by-line basis and with associated companies, with information on the transactions, are as
follows:
RECEIVABLES
Commercial
and others

PAYABLES

Financial

Commercial
and others Financial

COSTS
Goods Services

REVENUE
Other

Goods

Services

Other

Subsidiaries not consolidated on a line-by-line basis
Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers S.p.A.
Buying House Cement Ltd.
Calcestruzzi Marchigiani S.r.l.

26

555

262

-

-

-

-

-

5

9

47

-

16

-

-

-

-

-

88

3

1,839

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,785

129

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

36

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

227

170

46

-

-

202

-

-

25

3

-

500

7

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Associates
Bervan S.r.l. - in liquidation
Umbria Televisioni S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Germaire S.r.l.

1,323

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,984

-

-

Calcestruzzi Lario 80 S.r.l.

201

-

-

-

-

-

-

335

-

2

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.

938

2,540

495

-

789

-

11

75

-

16

21

33

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

15

Consorzio Stabile San Francesco S.c.a.r.l.

966

-

1,364

-

-

2,359

-

-

2,205

37

Consorzio Vallemme

946

285

621

-

-

668

-

389

594

10

Co.Riobeton S.r.l.

282

-

31

-

-

-

-

56

-

-

Eugreen S.c.a.r.l.

20

303

21

-

-

235

-

-

26

18

Cava Nacalino S.r.l.
Consorzio San Francesco S.c.a.r.l. –
in liquidation

Edilcalce di Viola O. & figli S.p.A.

27

-

99

-

1,027

-

-

99

-

3

Luciani S.p.a.

1,277

70

-

-

-

4

-

1,922

-

15

Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.

1,003

18

176

-

18

-

39

-

-

5

236

-

2

-

-

-

-

394

1

-

57

422

-

-

-

-

-

-

3

-

N.C.C. S.r.l.
Other

COMPANY RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The main risk factors the Group is exposed to can be grouped into the following categories:
• Strategic and operational risks;
• Financial risks;
• Regulatory and compliance risks.
STRATEGIC AND OPERATING RISKS
The Group's financial position and performance is closely linked to macro-economic trends, currently aggravated
by the pandemic situation as explained in detail above. Uncertainty is affecting and will undoubtedly continue to
affect the Group's core business. However, the prospects for post-COVID-19 economic recovery in the years to
come, makes the Group confident of future results, knowing that it can overcome this moment by capitalizing on
the key factors that have enabled it over the years to obtain and consolidate a market position at the top of the
sector, guaranteeing profitability and development.
The Group operates in several countries and areas of the world as part of its strategy aimed at strengthening its
presence on international markets and at the same time reducing its dependence on a single country.
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However, this policy exposes the Group, in some countries in which it operates, to certain risks, including: the
uncertainty of the political, social and economic system, changes in local regulations, excess inflation, exchange
rate fluctuations, as well as the reliability of the counterparties.
In order to minimize these risks, the Group maintains a constant analysis of the situation in the various countries
in which it operates through the stable presence of its subsidiaries and also with the support of local partners
and consultants. In particular, the companies within the Group are more characterized by aspects related to
internationalization, and have adopted a management model that provides for the presence at central level of
coordination and monitoring structures of its foreign subsidiaries.
However, political and economic instabilities, such as those affecting the countries of North Africa, and the
evolution of the pandemic in the areas where we work, could affect the Group's financial performance and
financial position.
All the companies of the Group are committed to maximizing the rationalization of production processes in order
to reduce the consumption of energy and natural resources. The cost of energy factors recorded significant
changes that could be repeated in the future in relation to external factors outside of management's control, while
the availability of raw materials represents a strategic factor with a view to business continuity. The Group has
adopted a series of measures to mitigate this type of risk, including through a centrally organized procurement
structure.
FINANCIAL RISKS
The operating activities of the main Group companies are exposed to market risks in connection with changes
in interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices. The risk of price changes is connected to the nature of
the business.
With regard to Group companies operating in the production of hydraulic binders, exposure to exchange rates
stems from companies that operate in currencies other than the Euro, which buy a significant part of solid fuels
quoted or linked to the US dollar. Against such risks, the companies put into effect, if deemed opportune,
contracts for the purchase and sale of forward currency, as well as contracts for call and put options on foreign
exchange or other types of hedging instruments.
The main source of exposure to interest risk is represented by floating-rate debt and by fluctuations in interest
rates that affect the market value of the financial liabilities of the Group companies and the amount of net financial
charges. The subsidiaries Colacem S.p.A. and Santa Monica S.p.A., have in place derivative financial
instruments that, in line with the Group's hedging policy, have been entered into with the aim of neutralizing the
exposure to the risk of changes in rates of interest on financial liabilities. For more information on the transactions
and instruments currently in progress, please refer to the explanatory notes.
Credit risk refers to the exposure of the Group companies to the risk of potential losses deriving from the nonfulfilment of the obligations assumed by the commercial counterparts and only to a small extent by the other
financial assets. The main exposure consists of receivables due from customers.
To minimize this risk, it should be noted that the main operating companies of the Group, in addition to obtaining
financial information on customers to be entrusted to independent companies specialized in this matter, are
equipped with adequate internal procedures that, during the preliminary sale phase, allow creditworthiness of
each client and consequently direct the choices in the supplies. The credit position is also continuously monitored
with reference to the degree of reliability of the customer, control of collection flows and management of any
credit recovery actions.
As at 31 December 2020 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. Financial assets are recognized
in the financial statements net of the write-down calculated on the basis of the counterpart default risk,
determined considering the information available on the creditworthiness of the customer. Since the beginning
of the financial crisis, the procedures for the assignment and monitoring of receivables from customers have
been subject to an even closer control that has guaranteed a containment of non-performing positions compared
to a very critical market situation.
Liquidity risk is the risk associated with the difficulty of finding financial resources to be able to regularly fulfil the
commercial and financial obligations assumed.
At present, the Financo Group believes that it has access to sufficient funds to meet its foreseeable financial
needs, including through the availability of sources of funding and lines of credit, also in view of what is reported
in the "Business Outlook" section of this management report.
REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE RISKS
All operating activities carried out by the Group, both in Italy and abroad, comply with the rules and regulations
in force in the reference areas. Particularly important here is compliance with environmental legislation that
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highlights an increasing detailed and complex framework of rules.
In order to protect the risks of people and property, the Group companies constantly check that the protection
and prevention programs are applied by the personnel, both employees and non-employees, working in the
Group's production sites. The regulatory constraints, objectives and initiatives of the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A.
as part of sustainable development, are covered in a specific "Sustainability Report", updated and prepared on
the basis of the latest GRI "G4" guidelines with application level A+, to which reference should be made for any
further information.

PRIVACY
As regards the "Processing of personal data - Privacy", the Group companies that were obliged to do so, set up
an internal interdepartmental working party called COVIP (Comitato Vigilanza Privacy - Privacy Supervisory
Committee) to update and monitor new legislation on the subject, so that the relevant bodies are able to regularly
adapt the measures necessary to protect these rights. COVIP is comprised of individuals from the Human
Resources and Organization Department, the Information Systems and Telecommunications Department, the
Administrative Department and the Legal Department, in order to ensure it has the expertise required for
managing and updating of Privacy related matters.
The Group has correctly complied with the provisions of Legislative Decree no. 196 of 30 June 2003 (Data
Protection Code) and are preparing all the appropriate additions to be in line with the provisions of the new
European Regulation "GDPR" Reg. (EU) 2016/679, also in terms of updating the disclosures and consent forms
for customers, suppliers, employees and stakeholders.
The Group has always managed personal data in compliance with the applicable regulations. It has adopted
various internal procedures in accordance with the regulations and industry practices. BY the same token, all
internal structures are equipped with the most modern tools and information technology designed to protect
privacy.
A project was launched in the current year, also with the help of experts in the field of privacy, to check whether
there is a need to supplement any documents or the management system in order to improve the current privacy
system adopted.

231 COMPLIANCE MODEL AND CODE OF ETHICS
The main Italian companies of the Group, Financo S.r.l., Colacem S.p.A., Colabeton S.p.A., Tracem S.p.A.,
Inba S.p.A. and Santa Monica S.p.A have adopted the Organizational Model pursuant to Legislative Decree
no. 231/01 designed to avoid the administrative and penal liability of companies for some types of crimes. The
models are not designed to prevent criminal liability, although they could have an indirect effect. Specific
supervisory systems have been set up aimed at preventing the types of offenses envisaged by the
aforementioned Decree and potentially achievable by Directors, Statutory Auditors, Managers, employees or
by all those who have contractual, financial and commercial relations with the company.
Supervision on operation, compliance and updating of the Model by each company was entrusted to a
Supervisory Body (SB), composed of independent members and vested with independent powers of initiative
and control.

PENDING DISPUTES AND PROCEEDINGS
Colacem S.p.A.
As already reported in previous financial years, in 2017 the Italian Competition Authority imposed a sanction on
certain operators in the cement sector with reference to alleged arrangements concerning cement sales prices.
Despite our defense arguments, and still convinced the company always acted in compliance with competition
law, in 2020 the Council of the State upheld their ruling on the penalties imposed on the sector, which for
Colacem S.p.A. was 18.3 million euro. At the reporting date, the company has fully paid the amount due for the
penalty. As already extensively reported in previous financial years, in 2017 the Italian Competition Authority
fined certain operators in the cement sector with reference to alleged agreements to coordinate increases in
cement sales prices in certain areas of Italy. Despite the eloquent defense arguments by the company and the
other parties involved, Colacem
S.p.A. was fined 18.3 million euro, to be paid based on a 30-month instalment plan. The appeal before the
Regional Administrative Court (TAR) of Lazio was fully rejected, thereby confirming the penalties imposed on
the operators in the cement sector involved (in particular for Colacem S.p.A. with ruling no. 8538 of 30 July
2018). An appeal before the Council of the State was proposed in 2018 against this ruling. On 16 March 2020,
the Council of State issued ruling no. 1839/2020, which, even if we expected that the fine would be considerably
reduced, confirmed the imposition of the fine.
61

2020 Consolidated Financial Statements

Nonetheless, although the cement sector lost the case, and let us reiterate that the company has always
complied with competition laws. The allegations made by the Authority against companies in the sector (in
particular price coordination) have rational economic explanations other than the implementation of an
agreement between operators; all the more so where the accusations made ought to have been contextualized
in a market environment where, in the period in question, prices were lower than the costs incurred by
companies.
In view of this decision, in 2019 the company deemed it necessary to supplement the provision for risks and
charges, thus covering the entire amount of the fine. For this reason, there are no economic effects attributable
to the settlement of the dispute in these financial statements. As at 31 December 2020, the Company had paid
almost all of the fine; the last instalment of 612 thousand euro has not yet been paid but due to the extension
granted by the Italian Competition Authority is due on 31 May 2021.
In the wake of this case, and following an EU directive providing for the right to compensation to anyone who
believes to have suffered harm caused by an infringement of competition law by an undertaking, the company
received several writ of summons and, in other cases, letters of interruption of the limitations from a small number
of customers who, referring to the antitrust penalty imposed on operators in the cement sector, claimed to have
suffered economic damage, leaving the actual and uncertain quantification to be decided in court proceedings,
if any.
The company considers that it has solid evidence to support the fact that it did not cause any harm to its
customers, where the price charged, due to the contingent difficulties of the market, was often lower than the
costs incurred and could not be lower than that charged. In addition, there are an increasing number of rulings
that deem the recent Legislative Decree 3/2017 inapplicable for timing reasons to the case at issue, which
implemented the aforementioned more favorable Community law, thus reversing the claimant's burden of proof
and based solely on the statutory provisions on damages; an element that makes it harder to prove any harm
which underline does not exist.
For these reasons, the company is confident that this case will be ruled in its favor.
Tracem S.p.A.
In August 2018, 9 employees from the branch in Castel Focognano Rassina (AR) each filed injections, issued
by the Court of Arezzo, with which they requested the payment of an amount as wage differences concerning
the so-called "productivity bonus". In 2019, after paying the amounts in the above-mentioned injunctions, which
came to total of 37 thousand euro, the company challenged the injunctions, pointing out that the claims were
totally unfounded. With sentence no. 176/2019 of 17/09/2019, the Court of Arezzo rejected the opposition of
Tracem S.p.A. The company firmly believes that it has done no wrong and filed an appeal with the Florence
Court of Appeal; the hearing was initially scheduled for 12 November 2020. In its communication of 6 November
2020, due to the ongoing public health emergency, the Court postponed the case until 25 March 2021, since it
was not considered an urgent case. In March 2021, the company reached a settlement agreement to the
satisfaction of all parties, with the exception of one of the workers, and at the same time withdrew its appeal to
the Florence Court of Appeal.
As a precaution, despite the fact that the company's reasons remain intact, the Board of Directors decided to set
aside a provision for risks of 53 thousand euro.

INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 2428, PAR. 2, POINTS 3, 4 AND 6BIS OF THE
ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
Financo S.r.l. does not hold any own shares or holdings in parent companies; in 2019, there were no purchase
and/or sale transactions of said categories of shares and units.
The Company does not have secondary branch offices.

OUTLOOK AND GOING CONCERN
Just over a year after the COVID-19 outbreak, the Italian and world economy bear the deep scars of an
unexpected shock, widespread and prolonged, which still now continues to damage the foundations of the
national economic system. This may have long-term impacts on Italy's growth potential.
The global economy continued to expand in early 2021. The continuing vaccination campaign and the strong
monetary and fiscal policies put in place by key countries, are reflected in a marked improvement in the mediumterm outlook, but the winter resurgence of the pandemic weighs on growth in the short term. Global GDP is
expected to return to its pre-pandemic levels at the end of the year, albeit extremely unevenly across the different
regions.
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In the first few months of 2021, industry has shown some resilience, despite the third wave of the pandemic,
with positive signs in terms of production; while the services sector and private consumption are still affected
by the containment measures in place. In this context, from the second half of the year there should be a gradual
recovery of the Italian GDP, + 4.1% in 2021 and +4.2% in 2022. Private investment will be held back by high
corporate debt, while public investments will make a strong contribution to recovery, which is already picking up
after a decade of contraction.
With reference to the Italian construction industry, there could be a major change in direction in 2021, if it
manages to fully seize some important opportunities on the market. The construction industry should bounce
back in 2021 with 8.6% of all investment going into construction The rebound is expected to be mainly driven
by the residential restoration sector (+14%) and a gradual recovery of activity in both the non-residential private
sector (+5%) and public works and infrastructure (+7.7%); the new housing segment (+3.5%), still lagging
behind, should see more moderate growth. This trend for 2021 should be the result of various factors: the start
of the first series of the various tax bonuses for property, the measures to support public investments provided
by the latest budget laws that, after the slowdown during the lockdown, will be able to move forward with the
approval process, the re-opening of some major infrastructural projects, the acceleration measures provided for
by the so-called ‘Semplificazioni’ Decree Law and the ‘Sblocca Cantieri’ Decree Law, as well as the European
Structural Funds, by now approaching the 2023 deadline, that call for an acceleration of the implementation of
investment programs.
However, more than anything else, an important turning point for the coming years, will be the efforts of the
Italian government which, under the Next Generation EU recovery instrument, has prepared and presented to
EU bodies the National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP).
The NRRP points to construction as a strategic sector to get the Italian economy back on its feet, to make the
green transition and digital transition a reality, to build infrastructures for sustainable mobility and enhancing
social and territorial cohesion. Of the approximately 222 billion euro in the NRRP, it appears that about 108
billion euro is earmarked for the construction sector, almost 48% of the total, mainly concentrated in programs
for the green transition and for infrastructure for sustainable mobility.
The NRRP should outline those investments and reforms that can lead the economy out of the recession caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic. We should see the very first effects as early as 2021, when the cement market is
set to see a robust recovery of more than 5% compared with 2019, a year that was not impacted by the crisis
caused by COVID-19.
The Group's revenue and performance in this early part of 2021 was very positive, not only compared with 2020,
shaped by the pandemic, but also compared with budget forecasts and previous year trends.
Therefore, the Group will be able to reap all the benefits from all the opportunities of the expected recovery,
combining professionalism, sustainability and innovation: factors that have always made us stand out, even in
these difficult years.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 40 LAW DECREE NO. 127/1991
As regards article 40, paragraph 2°, points a) and d), in the Italian Law Decree 127/1991, there
is nothing to report.
Finally, our deepest gratitude goes out to all those who, during this period of major changes and developments,
have helped us to achieve the objectives pursued by the Group which we hope to reach in the near future.

Gubbio, 31 May 2021
The Board of Directors
Francesca Colaiacovo
Maria Carmela Colaiacovo
Carlo Colaiacovo
Stefano Farabbi
Mariano Spigarelli
Paola Colaiacovo
Giuseppe Colaiacovo
Cristina Colaiacovo

Chairman
Vice-Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Balance Sheet for financial year
closed at 31.12.2020 and comparative figures for
2019
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

ASSETS

2020

A) SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL UNPAID
B) FIXED ASSETS
I Intangible
1)
Start-up and expansion costs
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
Total
II Materials
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
Total
III Financial
1)

Total
2)

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
Goodwill
Assets in progress and advances
Other
Consolidation difference

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Industrial and commercial equipment
Other assets
Assets under construction and advances

Investments in
a) subsidiaries
b) associates
c) other companies
Receivables
a) due from subsidiaries
amounts due beyond the next year
b) due from associates
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
c) due from others
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

Total
3 Other securities
Total
TOTAL FIXED ASSETS
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2019
-

-

25

26

1,301

1,771

3,682
10,306
964
5,724
12,045
34,047

4,039
9,405
1,237
5,993
13,734
36,205

177,631
165,925
1,221
11,270
16,868
372,915

160,579
96,142
1,149
9,679
15,575
283,124

5,957
8,681
5,798
20,436

4,225
18,553
6,039
28,817

555

7,108

303
3,652
3,955

2,838
1,662
4,500

1,043
3,439
4,482
8,992
21
29,449
436,411

4,865
3,086
7,951
19,559
0
48,376
367,705
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[Amounts in thousands of euro]

ASSETS
C) CURRENT ASSETS
I Inventories
1)
Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables
2)
Work in progress and semi-finished goods
4)
Finished products and goods
5)
Advances
Total
II Receivables
1)
Due from customers
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
2)
Due from subsidiaries
amounts due within the next year
3)
Due from associates
amounts due within the next year
5-bis)
Tax receivables
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
5-ter)
Prepaid taxes
amounts due within the next year
5-quater) Due from others
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
Total
III Current financial assets
5)
Other securities
IV Cash and cash equivalents
1)
Bank and postal deposits
2)
Cheques
3)
Cash on hand
Total
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
D) ACCRUALS AND PREPAYMENTS
TOTAL ASSETS

2020

2019

74,045
21,283
13,227
1,790
110,345

75,082
22,369
12,182
1,926
111,559

155,111
4,982
160,093

142,486
5,108
147,594

1,913

361

7,468

27,005

7,951
345
8,296

7,172
19
7,191

40,680

40,718

12,780
37
12,817
231,267

23,248
48
23,296
246,165

3,351

6,912

59,704
35
128
59,867
404,830
4,036
845,277

29,327
56
126
29,509
394,145
4,184
766,034
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LIABILITIES
A) EQUITY
I. Capital

2020

2019
6,000

6,000

213,918

124,927

18,576

18,800

164,906

158,134

(859)

(699)

19,834

10,564

422,375

317,726

34,722

32,364

457,097

350,090

200

182

2) For taxes, including deferred taxes

3,164

3,878

3) Derivative instruments, liabilities
4) Other

1,136

920

9,273

24,771

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

13,773

29,751

C) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)

16,017

16,633

II Share premium reserve
III Revaluation reserves
IV Legal reserve
V Statutory reserves
VI Other reserves
VII Cash flow hedge reserve
VIII Retained earnings (losses carried forward)
IX Profit (loss) for the year
X Treasury stock reserve
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE GROUP

XI Minority interests in capital and reserves
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE GROUP
AND THIRD PARTIES
B) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
1) For pensions and similar obligations

[Amounts in thousands of euro]
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LIABILITIES

2020

2019

D) PAYABLES
4) Due to banks
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

24,703

35,834

131,308

79,605

156,011

115,439

5) Due to other lenders
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

3,387

6,879

43,709

46,022

47,096

52,901

1,940

1,713

98,038

91,808

68

144

98,106

91,952

278

945

2,863

14,832

16,682

12,865

6) Advances
amounts due within the next year
7) Due to suppliers
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
9) Due to subsidiaries
amounts due within the next year
10) Due to associates
amounts due within the next year
12) Tax liabilities
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

2,020

-

18,702

12,865

4,914

4,830

13) Due to pension and social security institutions
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

305

-

5,219

4,830

23,146

49,605

1,535

1,729

14) Other payables
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
TOTAL PAYABLES
E) ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME
TOTAL LIABILITIES

24,681

51,334

354,896

346,811

3,494

22,749

845,277

766,034

Amounts in thousands of euro
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Consolidated Income Statement for financial year
closed at 31.12.2020 and comparative figures for
financial year closed at 31.12. 2019
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

2020

2019

A) OPERATING REVENUE
1) Sales and service revenue
2) Changes in inventories for work in progress,
semi-finished and finished products
4) Increase in own work capitalized

536,200
(1,178)

523,467
(3,802)

1,453

1,787

1,686

436

5) Other revenue and income
a) Operating grants
b) Other revenue and income
Total
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE

41,149

47,978

42,835

48,414

579,310

569,866

167,333

169,309

181,933

190,416

6,695

6,958

B) OPERATING COSTS
6) For raw and subsidiary materials, consumable and goods
7) For services
8) For leased assets
9) For personnel
a) wages and salaries

62,603

b) social security contributions
c) post-employment benefits (TFR)

18,888

20,858

4,081

4,225

d) other costs

3,184
88,756

4,655
88,756

5,397

5,144

b) depreciation of property, plant and equipment

27,403

28,158

c) other write-downs of tangible assets
d) write-downs of current receivables and cash
equivalents

4,202

0

Total
10) Amortization, depreciation and write-downs
a) amortization of intangible assets

Total
11) Change in inventories for raw, ancillary and
consumable materials and goods
12) Provisions for risks
13) Other provisions
14) Other operating expenses
TOTAL OPERATING COSTS
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN OPERATING REVENUE AND COSTS [AB]
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3,024

66,329

5,788

40,026

39,090

(659)

(5,192)

165

7,274

1,175

396

29,187

11,004

514,611

515,322

64,699

54,544
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[Amounts in thousands of euro]

2020

2019

C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
15) Income from equity investments
a) from other investments

-

1

9
9

44
30

11

15

29

89

16) Other financial income
a) from receivables in non-current assets
subsidiaries
associates
other income
Total
b) other non-current securities
c) other income
Total

1

1
421

405

451

495

(6,443)

(7,166)

17) Interest and other financial expenses
a) subsidiaries
b) other interest and financial expenses
17-bis) Foreign exchange gains and losses
TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

(4,054)

(2,127)

(10,046)

(8,797)

639

198

(940)

(827)

D) VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
18) Revaluations
a) of investments
19) Write-downs
a) of investments
b) of other non-current financial assets
Total

(253)
(1,193)

(827)

(554)

(629)

54,099

45,118

20) Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes for the year
21) Profit for the year including minority interests

16,609

19,931

37,490

25,187

22) (Profit) Loss for the period relating to minority interests
23) Profit (loss) for the year

(17,656)

(14,623)

19,834

10,564

TOTAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES [A-B±C±D]
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for 2020 and comparative figures for
2019
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

2019

2020
A) CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) for the period

37,490

25,187

Income taxes

16,609

19,931

5,992

6,672

9,225

(8,843)
(13,629)

69,316

38,161

32,800

33,302

4,756

629

Interest expense (income)
Other (income) and financial expenses
(Gains)/losses on disposal of non-current assets
Profit (loss) before taxes, interests, dividends, gains/losses
on disposal
Adjustments for non-monetary items
Amortization and depreciation on fixed assets
Write-down of fixed assets
Net change in post-employment benefits (TFR)
Net change in other provisions
Total adjustments for non-monetary items
Cash flow before change in net working capital

(616)

(928)

(4,276)

3,775

32,664

36,778

101,980

74,939

1,214

(2,173)

(12,499)

(144)

Changes in net working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables from customers
Increase/(decrease) in payables to suppliers
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income and prepaid
expensesIncrease/(decrease) in accrued expenses and deferred
income

Other changes in the net working capital

Total changes in net working capital

6,381
165

1,669
509

(199)

5,163

643

118

(4,295)

5,142

Other adjustments
Interests and other financial receipts /(Interest expenses and
other financial expenses paid)
(Paid)/Reimbursed income taxes
Other changes of medium/long term receivables
Other changes of medium/long term payables
Other receipts/(payments)
Total other adjustments
TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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(4,642)

(6,037)

(15,614)

(11,005)

(315)

36

330

1,094

(40,562)

(5,826)

(60,803)

(21,738)

36,882

58,343
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[Amounts in thousands of euro]
2020

2019

B) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in tangible fixed assets
(Investments)
Proceeds from divestitures
Total

(26,522)

(29,773)

4,645

2,454

(21,877)

(27,319)

(3,239)

(9,543)

Investments in intangible fixed assets
(Investments)

28

Proceeds from divestitures
Total

(3,239)

(9,515)

Investments in financial fixed assets
(2,150)

(Investments)
Proceeds from divestitures
(Supply) Repayment of loans
( Investments) Divestments other long term securities
Total
Purchase of business units net of cash and cash equivalents
Sale of business units net of cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(3,314)

242

294

3,343
(21)
1,414

(4,369)

(1,713)

(882)

(7,389)
13,000

(25,415)

(32,105)

77,661

38,153

C) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Outside funding
New loans

(42,894)

(61,955)

(15,298)

(11,219)

19,469

(35,021)

(4,139)

702

CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

15,330

(34,319)

CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD (A + B + C)

26,797

(8,081)

CASH AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES AS AT 31.12.2019

36,421

44,502

CASH AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES AS AT 31.12.2020

63,218

36,421

Loan reimbursement
Change in minority reserves
Total
Equity
Change in reserves

Gubbio, 31 May 2021
The Board of Directors
Francesca Colaiacovo
Maria Carmela Colaiacovo
Carlo Colaiacovo
Stefano Farabbi
Mariano Spigarelli
Paola Colaiacovo
Giuseppe Colaiacovo
Cristina Colaiacovo

Chairman
Vice-Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Consolidated Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the provisions of Legislative Decree no.
127/1991 and of the Italian Civil Code interpreted and supplemented by the accounting principles prepared by
the Italian Accounting Body (OIC), comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Income
Statement and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement prepared according to the prescribed structure and
content for the financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation and these notes, and is
accompanied by the management report. The notes to the financial statements serve to illustrate, analyze and
in some cases supplement the financial statement data and contains the information required by art. 38 of
Legislative Decree no. 127/1991 and other provisions of the same decree; they contain all supplementary
information considered necessary to provide a true and fair view, even if not required by specific provisions of
law.
The values of the items in the Balance Sheet and Income Statement as well as the various tables that make up
these notes are expressed in thousands of euro.
The reporting date of the consolidated financial statements, 31 December 2020, is that of the financial
statements of the parent company Financo S.r.l. The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements as at 31 December 2020 of the Parent company and of the companies controlled directly and
indirectly by Financo S.r.l. The companies included in the scope of consolidation using the full consolidation
method are listed below:

SHARE
OWNED BY
THE GROUP

SHARE OWNED
BY THE

COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

CAPITAL PARENT IN %

SHARE OWNED BY SUBSIDIARIES IN %

IN %
Les
Ciments
Colacem
S.p.A.

Artificiels
Tunisiens

Santa
Skydomus
S..r.l.

Inba
S.p.A.

Monica

Domice
m

S.p.A.

S.A.

S.A.

Financo S.r.l.

6,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,000

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

60,000

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

500

60.48

-

-

-

-

-

-

60.48

Inba S.p.A.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]
via Masseria Murrone Soleto
[LE]

500

55.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

55.00

Les Ciments Artificiels
Tunisiens S.A.

Route Z 4, Km 2
Tunisi [Tunisia]

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

Cementos Colacem
España S.L.U.

Darsena de Escombreras
Muelle Principe Felipe
Cartagena [Spain]

Colacem S.p.A.

Colabeton S.p.A.
Tracem S.p.A.

Tourist S.p.A.
Colacem Albania
Sh.p.k.

Via Tifernate s.n. Gubbio [PG]

13,151
400

-

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

10,200

-

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

Rruga Nacionale, km 7 Balldre
Lezhe [Albania]
Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

2,830

Maddaloni Cementi
S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

Aermarche S.r.l.
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[PG]

50

-

-
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Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.

Santa Monica S.p.A.
Domicem S.A.

Somatp S.A.
Cat Transport S.a.r.l.

Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.
Sun Flower S.r.l.
Citadelle United S.A.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

92.89

-

-

-

-

-

92.89

27,664

51.00

-

-

-

-

-

51.00

701

-

81.20

-

-

55

-

45.00

-

-

-

45.00

-

- 100.00

-

-

55.00

-

100.00

Via Daijiro Kato, 10 Misano
Adriatico [RN]

14,818

Avenue Abraham Lincoln 295
Santo Domingo [Dominican
Republic]
41, Rue 8600 la Charguia
2035 Tunis [Tunisia]
25 Bis rue Ibn
Khaldourn Megrine 2033
Tunis [Tunisia]

-

-

Via Masseria Murrone n. 10
Soleto [LE]

10

-

-

Via del Carro, 27 Misano
Adriatico [RN]
Bldg Acierie D'Haiti Rte Nle 1
Delmas [Haiti]

52

-

-

-

-

- 100.00

-

-

-

-

457

Skydomus S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60
Gubbio (PG)

875

Poggiovalle S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60
Gubbio (PG)

1,000

-

-

81.20

5
58

100.00
40.00

58.00
100.00
80.00

40.00

Subsidiaries whose inclusion would be immaterial or not suitable for achieving the purposes of clarity and
providing a true and fair view of the financial performance and financial position are not included in the
consolidation area, since they are not significant. These companies, listed in the table provided in page 68, are
valued using the full consolidation method.
CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Registered office

Sector

Reason for inclusion /
exclusion from the scope
of consolidation

Skydomus S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina 60
Gubbio [PG]

Diversified products

Control

Poggiovalle S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina 60
Gubbio [PG]

Diversified products

Acquisition of control

Route Z 4, Km 2 El Ouardia
1009 Tunis [Tunisia]]

Hydraulic binders

Sale

Companies included:

Excluded companies:
Stenca S.a.r.l.

Given that the parent company Financo S.r.l. already directly held a 40% stake in the associated company
Poggiovalle S.r.l. on 31 December 2019 (a company that has always operated in the agricultural and rural
hospitality sector), following the acquisition of a further 40% stake by the company Skydomus S.r.l., the latter
already a 100% subsidiary of Financo S.r.l. on 31 December 2019, the company Poggiovalle S.r.l. had its
classification within the Financo Group changed from associate to subsidiary company on 31 December 2020
and, consequently, at the same time as its direct participating company Skydomus S.r.l, the consolidation
criterion was changed for the first time for both companies, passing from the equity method to the full
consolidation method, thus including them in the scope of consolidation .The resulting consolidation difference
is described analytically in the Intangible fixed assets - Consolidation Difference paragraph on page 63.
With regard to the exclusion of Stenca S.a.r.l. from the scope of consolidation, it was necessary as the equity
investment in this company was sold in 2020.
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The financial statements used for purpose of consolidation were those of the year ended 31 December 2020,
prepared by the Board of Directors for approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting of each company. They were
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code as interpreted and supplemented by the
accounting principles and standards developed by the ‘Organismo Italiano della Contabilità’ (OIC) – the Italian
Accounting Body and by the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by IASB insofar as compatible
with current rules and regulations.
The financial statements prepared on the basis of accounting principles other than those applied at Group level,
typically those of foreign companies operating in the hydraulic binders sector, have been adjusted/supplemented
during consolidation, so that they are more consistent with the financial statements of the main companies of
the Group.

CONSOLIDATION POLICIES
The most significant consolidation policies used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial
year ended on 31 December 2020, relating to the companies consolidated using the full consolidation method, are
described below:
a) the book value of consolidated shareholdings is eliminated against the related Equity as a result of the
assumption of assets and liabilities, costs and revenues of the companies consolidated using the full
consolidation method. The highest value paid in terms of the subsidiary’s net equity book value on the date of
purchase, is attributed to these individual items of Assets and Liabilities this highest value refers to. The higher
value in the Assets is subject to amortization during the goods utility period; any possible residual difference, if
positive, is recognized under Assets in the item Consolidation Difference and amortized by applying the
measurement policy provided for goodwill; while, if negative, it is recognized in the Equity item under
Consolidation Reserve and recognized in the Income Statement when realized;
b) unrealized profits deriving from transactions between companies consolidated or assessed using the equity
method are eliminated if deemed relevant; tax effects related to eliminated transactions are also reported ;
therefore if taxes have been allocated in the Financial Statement or paid for on inter-group profits in the
companies that have recorded them, these taxes are deferred till the operation is realized with third parties
outside the Group; furthermore, debit and credit entries, cost and revenue entries of relevant amounts existing
between consolidated companies are eliminated;
c) minority interests in shareholders’ equity of consolidated subsidiaries are reported under a specific item under
Equity; minority interests in the net profit of these companies are separately reported in the Consolidated
Income Statement.
d) dividends from consolidated shareholdings recorded as investment incomes in the Income Statement of the
Parent company of the Group or other companies consolidated using the full consolidation method, are
eliminated from the Consolidated Income Statement.
e) the profit or loss deriving from the total management of a subsidiary is recorded in the Consolidated Income
Statement;

f) the financial statements of fully consolidated foreign companies have been converted according to the
spot exchange rate on the financial statement date, to ‘translate’ Assets and Liabilities and Equity items,
and average exchange rate of the financial year for Income Statement items. The following table shows
the exchange rates used:

2020 Average
Exchange Rate

Dominican peso
Haitian Gourde
Tunisian dinar
Albanian Lek
U.S. dollar
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Exchange Rate
as at 31.12.2020

64.61
106.17
3.20
123.79

71.44
87.47
3.29
123.70

1.14

1.23
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STATEMENT OF RECONCILIATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT
COMPANY FINANCO S.R.L. WITH THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE
FINANCO GROUP AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
The items reconciling profit for the year and the Net Equity of Financo S.r.l. and the profit and the Net Equity of
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Financo Group as at 31 December 2020 compared with the figures
as at 31 December 2019, may be analyzed as follows:

2020
Profit (loss)
for the year

Balances resulting from the statutory financial
statements of Financo S.r.l.
Dividends from consolidated companies
Net assets surplus, inclusive of the results for the year,
with respect to book values
Consolidated subsidiaries *

(6,412)

2019
Equity

441,365

(20,833)

63,853

(993)
-

18,318

Subsidiaries valued using the equity method
Adjustments made to adapt the financial statements of
the companies to the group accounting principles

(275)

233

1,157

(2,819)

Share attributable to third parties
Balances resulting from the consolidated financial
statements of Financo S.r.l. and subsidiaries

(17,656)

19,834

Profit (loss)
for the year

(25,279)

Equity

100,826

-

50,955

258,024

(693)

(3,935)

1,197

(4,825)

(34,722)

(14,623)

(32,364)

422,375

10,564

317,726

* Includes the effects of eliminating intragroup transactions

MEASUREMENT POLICIES
The accounting principles shown below have been adjusted with the amendments, additions and innovations
introduced Italian Civil Code by Legislative Decree 139/2015, that has recognized the accounting Directive
34/2013/EU in Italy. In particular, the national accounting standards were reformulated by the OIC in the version
issued on 29 December 2017.
The measurement policies used in the consolidated financial statements are the same as those used by the
parent company Financo S.r.l. and by the major subsidiaries in their financial statements, with the exception of
the measurement policy for investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates.
The items in the financial statements were measured in compliance with art. 2426 et seq. of the Italian Civil
Code and according to the principles of prudence and on an accrual basis, based on the company's ability to
continue as a going concern, also taking into account the economic function of the asset or liability item being
considered. In this regard, it should be noted that some companies of the Group governed by Italian law,in
accordance with Law No. 126 of 13 October 2020, have revalued certain specific categories of tangible assets
in their financial statements, the accounting effects of which have been maintained in these consolidated
financial statements.
There have been no cases in which the application of the principles, criteria and provisions of articles 2423-bis
to 2426 of the Italian Civil Code has led to an untrue and unfair view of the Group's assets and liabilities, financial
position and operating results for the year.
The most significant accounting principles adopted by the Parent Company for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2020, in accordance with art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code
and aforementioned accounting principles, were as follows:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are recognized in the financial statements using the purchase or production cost method,
including incidental charges and systematically amortized over their estimated future useful life.
In the event of impairment, regardless of the amortization already accounted for, the fixed asset is written down
accordingly; if, in subsequent financial years, the reasons that had justified the write-down no longer apply, the
original value is reinstated, within the limits of the carrying amount that would have been determined if no
impairment loss had been recognized, except for the goodwill and long-term expenses pursuant to art. 2426 (5)
of the Italian Civil Code.
Start-up and expansion costs with useful life of more than one year, as well as goodwill acquired for
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consideration, are recorded in the Assets, subject to the consent of the Board of Statutory Auditors and amortized
over a five-year period. Systematic amortization over a limited period of more than five years is commensurate
with the duration of use of the asset to which it refers and is adequately motivated.
Capitalized costs, relating to rights for the use of intellectual property, are represented by direct purchase costs
and incidental charges; the amortization period is determined by the remaining useful life of the asset.
The costs for the acquisition of concessions and licenses are amortized according to the duration of the relevant
concession or license.
Goodwill, acquired for consideration, is recorded with the consent of the Board of Statutory Auditors and, unless
otherwise indicated, it is amortized over its useful life. The useful life is estimated upon initial recognition of the
goodwill and is not changed in subsequent years. If it is not possible to estimate its useful life, goodwill is
amortized over a period of 10 years. For the purpose of calculating the useful life of goodwill, the information
available is taken into account to estimate the period within which the economic benefits associated with the
goodwill are likely to arise.
Advertising costs are fully charged to the Income Statement in the sustaining year.
Leasehold improvements are capitalized and recognized in the item Other intangible assets if they cannot be
separated from the assets and are amortized systematically at the shorter between the period of their expected
useful life and the residual period of the lease, taking into account any renewal period, if dependent on the
company.
The incidental charges incurred to obtain loans, such as application fees, the substitute tax on medium-term
loans and all other initial costs, are capitalized in the item Other intangible assets. The amortization of incidental
charges on loans is made in relation to the duration of the related loans.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are recognized in the financial statements at acquisition or construction cost, adjusted
for certain assets in application of specific monetary alignment laws, as well as for the attribution of the negative
merger differences made in previous years and due to the allocation of the higher value paid for the acquisition of
equity investments. The cost includes incidental charges and direct and indirect costs for the portion reasonably
attributable to the asset. In this regard, it should be noted that some companies of the Group governed by Italian law,
pursuant to Law no. 126 of 13 October 2020 have revalued some specific categories of tangible assets in their financial
statements, the accounting effects of which have been maintained in these consolidated financial statements.
Fixed assets are systematically depreciated each year on a straight-line basis based on economic-technical rates,
determined in relation to the residual possibilities of use of the assets; the rates applied are reported in the section
relating to the explanatory notes on the Assets. Depreciation was also calculated on the temporarily idle assets. Land,
civil buildings that represent a form of investment, works of art and assets whose useful life is unlimited are not
depreciated.
Fixed assets whose economic value at the end of the financial year is lower than the amortized cost over time
according to the above criteria, are written down to the extent of their economic value; if in subsequent years the
conditions for the write-down no longer exist, the original value is restored, within the limits of the value that the asset
would have had if the value adjustment had never taken place.
Ordinary maintenance costs are charged in full to the Consolidated Income Statement. Maintenance costs of an
incremental nature are attributed to the assets to which they refer and depreciated in relation to the remaining useful
life.
Property, plant and equipment, when they are intended for sale, are reclassified under current assets and therefore
valued at the lower between the net book value and the estimated realizable value calculated based on the market
trend.

The parts with a significant unit cost and non-recurring use are classified among property, plant and equipment
and depreciated over their remaining useful life or their useful life, whichever appears shorter.
The assets used under leasing are booked using the "equity method"; the notes to the financial statements
provide, for each contract in place, the information referred to in point 22 of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code,
indicating the effects that would be produced if the "financial method" were adopted.

LONG-TERM EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES
Equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates where significant influence is exercised are
measured using the net equity method.
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The other equity investments are measured at cost. The cost is written down for impairment in the event that the
investee companies have incurred losses and no profit is forecast for the immediate future which might absorb
the losses incurred; the original value is reinstated in subsequent years if the reasons for the write-down no
longer apply.
In the event that a company is obliged to take on the coverage of the losses incurred by an investee, it may be
necessary to enter a provision under the Balance Sheet liabilities in order to meet the deficit coverage for the
equity deficit of the same.
Fixed income debt securities are recorded at purchase cost, after recognition of the premium installments or
issue discount. This cost is written down in the presence of lasting losses in value. The original values of the
depreciated assets are restored in subsequent years if the reasons for the devaluations made no longer apply.
Amortized cost of a security is the amount at which the security was measured upon initial recognition, minus
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization, using the effective interest rate method on any
difference between the initial value and the value at maturity, and minus any write-down (directly or through the
use of a provision) for impairment. The initial recognition value is represented by the purchase or subscription
price, minus any fees.

INTRA-GROUP LOANS
Intra-group loans, with a maturity of more than 12 months, non-interest bearing or at rates significantly lower
than market rates, are initially recognized at a value equal to the future cash flows of the loan discounted at
market rate.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are entered at the lower value between the purchase or production cost, determined according to
the Weighted Average Cost method, and the estimated realizable value that can be inferred from the market
trend; any write-down is eliminated in subsequent years if the reasons for this no longer apply. The cost is
determined by including incidental charges and direct and indirect costs for the portion reasonably attributable
to the asset; the estimated realizable value is calculated taking into account any manufacturing costs still to be
incurred and direct selling costs.

RECEIVABLES
Receivables are recognized in the financial statements according to the amortized cost method, taking into
account the time factor and the assumed realizable value. The amortized cost method is not used when the
impact is immaterial, i.e. when the transaction costs, the fees paid between the parties and any other difference
between the initial value and the maturity value are of little significance or if the receivables are short term (i.e.
with a maturity of less than 12 months).
Trade receivables falling due after 12 months from the time of initial recognition, without payment of interest, or
with interest significantly different from market interest rates, and the related revenues, are initially recognized
at the value determined by discounting future cash flows at the market interest rate. The difference between the
initial recognition value of the receivable thus determined and the forward value is recognized in the Income
Statement as financial income over the duration of the receivable using the effective interest rate criterion.
The value of the receivables, as determined above, is adjusted, where necessary, by a specific allowance for
doubtful accounts, stated as a direct reduction in the value of the receivables, in order to adjust them to their
assumed realizable value. The estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts includes the loss forecasts both
for credit risks that have already arisen or deemed probable and for other bad debts that have already arisen or
have not yet arisen but are considered probable. The amount of the write-down at the reporting date is equal to
the difference between the book value and the value of the estimated future cash flows, reduced by the amounts
that are expected to be not collected.
The amount of the write-down is recognized in the Income Statement.
Receivables sold as a result of factoring transactions are eliminated from the Balance Sheet only if transferred
without recourse, and if substantially all credit risks are transferred. Receivables transferred without recourse,
or in any case without the transfer of all the risks, remain recorded in the financial statements and a financial
liability of the same amount is entered under the liabilities against the advance received.
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SHORT-TERM EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES
Short-term equity investments and securities that do are measured at the lower of the cost, calculated according
to the LIFO method, and the estimated realizable value, taking into account the market value of the negotiable
securities. In the event of impairment, the asset is written down accordingly. The value adjustment is recognized
among the Write-downs of equity investments; if in subsequent years the reasons for the write-down no longer
apply, the original value is reinstated.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents are made up of bank deposits, postal deposits and checks and are valued according
to the general principle of the presumable value, which normally coincides with the nominal value. Cash and
revenue stamps are measured at their face value. Cash and cash equivalents in foreign currency are measured
at the exchange rate in force on the closing date of the year.

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
This item includes the share of costs and revenues pertaining to two or more years, according to the accrual
basis of accounting.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
Provisions for risks and charges are prudently set up and provisioned to cover specific losses or liabilities whose
existence is certain or likely, but whose amount or timing is not yet known at the end of the reporting period. The
provisions reflect the best possible estimate based on the information available. The risks, for which a contingent
liability is only possible, are indicated in the notes to the financial statements without setting up a provision for
risks and charges.
Provisions for risks and charges are recorded primarily in the cost items of the Income Statement of the relevant
classes (B, C or D).
If the nature of the provision cannot immediately be linked to one of the items in the above classes, the provisions
for risks and charges are recorded in items B12 and B13 of the income statement.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)
Post-employment benefits (TFR) correspond to the accruals gained during the employee's employment period
and is determined in accordance with the laws and employment contracts in force. It reflects the liability accrued
with respect to all employees at the reporting date, revalued on the basis of indices provided for by the specific
regulations, net of advances paid in accordance with the law, tax advances, as well as the amounts allocated to
pension funds. For companies operating under the Italian law, the Social Security Reform was implemented on
1 January 2007, with Legislative Decree no. 252/2005. This established the right for employees to choose to
which complementary pension fund to allocate the portion of post-employment benefits (TFR) accrued. Based
on these choices, the portions of the TFR accrued since 1 July 2007 are paid to the supplementary pension
funds or to open funds or to the State Treasury Fund managed by INPS (The National Institute for Social
Security). The TFR accrued up to the date of choice is set aside at the company and will be liquidated at the end
of the employment relationship, increased by the legal revaluations.

PAYABLES
Payables are recognized in accordance with the amortized cost method taking into account the time factor. The
amortized cost method is not applied to payables where they have an immaterial impact. The effects are
considered irrelevant for short-term payables (i.e. with a maturity of less than 12 months). For information on the
amortized cost method, please see the section on receivables. The payables for holidays accrued by employees,
including the amounts due to social security institutions, are allocated on the basis of the amount that should be
paid in the event of termination of the employment contract at the reporting date.

OPERATING GRANTS
Operating grants are recognized when there is a reasonable certainty that the conditions for providing the grant
are met and that the grants will be disbursed. They are indirectly reduced in cost since they are charged to the
Income Statement under item A5 Other income, on a straight-line basis over a period of time related to the
residual useful life of the asset to which they refer, and therefore deferred by accrual to subsequent years through
the entry of a specific item of accrued expenses and deferred income.
Capital grants are recognized when there is a reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to them will be
met and the grants will be received.
Capital grants related to the cost of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement on a
systematic basis, gradually over the useful life of the assets. This can be accounted for in two ways:
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a) using the indirect method according to which they are indirectly deducted from the cost as they are recognized
in the income statement under the item A5 "other revenue and income" and thus carried forward to subsequent
years under "deferred income";
b) using the direct method according to which they are deducted from the cost of the property, plant and
equipment to which they apply.
With the first method, depreciation calculated on the gross cost of the property, plant and equipment is
recognized in the income statement, as is the other revenue and income for the portion of the grant pertaining
to the year. With the second method, only the depreciation calculated on the value of the property plant and
equipment, less the grants, are recognized in the income statement.
Recognition of the grant in a specific item under deferred income, reduced each period with the reversal to the
income statement, leaves the cost of the fixed asset unchanged, but produces the same effects on the profit for
the period and on accounting for the grant as a reduction in the cost.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSION ALLOWANCES
The costs relating to the obligation to deliver emission allowances to the competent national authority are
recognized on an accrual basis and entered under the item Other operating expenses in the year in which the
obligation arises in proportion to the greenhouse gas emissions for the year. In return, the debt to the national
authority is entered at the market value of the emission allowances at the year-end date, under the item Other
payables on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet.
Any surplus of emission allowances purchased and not sold at the end of the year is recognized at purchase
cost, under the item Accruals and Deferrals in the Balance Sheet, while any surplus of emission allowances
reducing payables already entered in previous years, is recognized on an accrual basis and entered under the item
"Other income and revenues" in the year in which the obligation arises, as an offset to payables towards the National
Authority entered under the liability item of "Other payables" of the balance sheet.
Any contingent assets or liabilities resulting from the purchase or sale of emission allowances subsequent to the
end of the relevant year are entered, respectively, under the item Other revenues and Other operating expenses
in the Income Statement ..

WHITE CERTIFICATES (WhC)
White certificates (i.e. energy efficiency certificates) are recognized on an accrual basis at the time of their
accrual and entered under the item Operating grants. This is offset by a receivable recognized under the current
assets item Other receivables, quantifying the aforementioned certificates at the unit market value on the credit
date or, if later, at the end of the year, at the market value on the year end date. Any contingent assets or
liabilities resulting from the purchase or sale subsequent to the end of the relevant year are entered, respectively,
under the item Other revenues and Other operating expenses in the Income Statement.

REVENUES AND COSTS
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognized when the material and non-official transfer of ownership title
has taken place, using the transfer of risks and benefits as the reference parameter.
Revenues from the sale of products and goods or from the provision of services relating to ordinary operations
are recognized net of returns, discounts, allowances and bonuses, as well as taxes directly related to the sale
of products and rendering of services.
Revenues for services are recognized upon their completion and/or accrual.
Costs are accounted for on an accrual basis, regardless of the date of collection and payment, net of returns,
discounts, rebates and bonuses.
Financial revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends are accounted for in the year in which they are resolved by the shareholders' meeting. Dividends are
recognized as financial income regardless of the nature of the reserves subject to distribution.

INCOME TAXES FOR THE YEAR
Current taxes are recorded in the financial statements on the basis of a reasonable estimate of the taxable
income of each consolidated company in accordance with the provisions in force, taking into account the
applicable exemptions and the tax credits. Deferred and advance taxes are also set aside on the temporary
differences between the result for the year and the taxable income, as well as between the result for the year
and the consolidated result. Deferred tax assets are recorded under Assets only for those for which there is a
reasonable certainty of their future recovery, or if it is reasonable to estimate the existence of taxable income
that is not less than the amount of the differences that will be canceled. Their assessment is carried out taking
into account the presumed tax rate that the company is expected to sustain in the year in which these differences
will contribute to the formation of the tax result, considering the rates in force or already issued on the date of
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the Financial Statements and are booked respectively under the “Deferred tax provision” in the liabilities under
the Provisions for risks and charges and under the item “Deferred tax assets” in current assets.
Deferred tax assets, in compliance with the principle of prudence, are recorded only if there is reasonable
certainty, proven by objective supporting elements, of their future recovery, i.e. when it is reasonable to estimate
the existence of taxable income not lower than the amount of the differences that will be canceled.
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if there is little likelihood of this debt arising.

DERIVATIVES
In order to protect the value of individual assets and liabilities from the risk of fluctuations in interest rates,
exchange rates and market prices, derivative instruments (so-called derivative contracts) are used.
Financial derivatives are assets and liabilities booked at fair value.
Derivatives are classified as hedging instruments only when, at the beginning of the hedging, there is a close
and documented correlation between the characteristics of the hedged item and those of the hedging instrument
and this hedging relationship is formally documented and the effectiveness of the hedge, verified periodically, is
high.
When derivatives hedge the risk of changes in future cash flows of the hedged instruments (cash flow hedge),
the effective portion of the gains or losses on the derivative financial instrument is suspended in the net equity.
The profits and losses associated with a hedge for the ineffective portion are recognized in the Income
Statement. When the related transaction takes place, the cumulative gains and losses, recognized in equity up
to then, are reclassified to the Income Statement when the related transaction takes place (as an adjustment or
supplement to the Income Statement items impacted by the hedged cash flows).
The Group has decided to apply hedge accounting to hedge the variability in cash flows of financial
assets/liabilities arising from changes in interest rates.
Therefore, the changes in the related fair value of hedging derivative financial instruments are recognized:
- in the Income Statement under items D18 or D19 in the case of fair value hedging of an asset or liability
recorded in the Financial Statements as well as changes in the fair value of the hedged items (in the event
that the change in fair value of the hedged item is greater in absolute value than the change in fair value of
the hedging instrument, the difference is recognized in the Income Statement item affected by the hedged
item);
- in a special equity reserve (under item AVII Reserve for expected cash flow hedges) in the case of hedging
of cash flows according to methods that counterbalance the effects of the hedged flows (the ineffective
component, as well as the change in the time value of options and forwards, is classified in items D18 and
D19).
Derivative instruments incorporated in other financial instruments must also be assessed at fair value. An
embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
- the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract; There is a close correlation in cases where the hybrid contract
is entered into in accordance with market practice;
- all elements of the definition of derivative financial instrument are satisfied, according to the definition
provided by OIC 32.11;
- financial instruments held for the purpose of making a profit in the short term are recorded and valued at fair
value, with recognition of the effects on the Income Statement.

EUROPEAN UNION ALLOWANCES (EUA) FUTURES
EUA futures transactions are excluded from the scope of OIC 32 if (i) the contract is entered into and maintained
to satisfy the need for forward purchase of EUAs to be used for the purpose of return to the appropriate authority
(ii) the contract has been earmarked for that purpose since its conclusion and (iii) the contract is expected to be
performed through the delivery of the instruments.
For these transactions, the bank credits relating to the haircuts connected to the difference between the market
price of the EUA and the agreed subscription price of the future, which are not connected with the deficit of
allowances at the end of the financial year, are recognized within deferred income, while the haircuts connected
with this deficit of allowances are included in the payable shown in the balance sheet due to the Ministry of the
Environment for EUAs.

TRANSLATION POLICY FOR AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN FOREIGN CURRENCY
Receivables and payables originally expressed in foreign currency are translated into euro at the historical
exchange rates of the date of the related transactions. The exchange rate differences realized on the occasion
of the collection of the receivables and the payment of the debts in foreign currency are recorded in the Income
Statement.
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Foreign currency assets and liabilities, with the exception of fixed assets, are entered in the Financial Statements
at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year and the related exchange gains and losses, even if not realized,
are recognized in the Income Statement pursuant to art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code. If a net profit emerges
from the valuation process of foreign currency items at the year-end exchange rates, this value is set aside in a
specific reserve that cannot be distributed until realization.
Tangible, intangible and financial fixed assets, consisting of equity investments, recognized at cost in foreign
currency, are recorded at the exchange rate at the time of their purchase or at the lower rate at year end, if the
reduction is deemed to be permanent.

OTHER INFORMATION
CHANGES IN MEASUREMENT POLICIES AND METHODS
In the annexed consolidated financial statements, the measurement policies were not changed with respect to
those used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the previous year.

DEROGATIONS PURSUANT TO ART. 2423, PAR. 4., OF THE ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
In the attached consolidated financial statements, no derogations were made pursuant to art. 2423, paragraph
4 of the Italian Civil Code.

INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 2427, PAR. 1, POINTS 22-BIS AND 22-TER OF THE
ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
These Notes provide, where appropriate, the information required by art. 2427, paragraph 1, points 22-bis and
22-ter of the Italian Civil Code.

PROCESSABLE XBRL FORMAT AS PER LAW DECREE NO. 223 OF 4 JULY 2006 AND
SUBSEQUENT IMPLEMENTING PROVISIONS
It should be noted that these consolidated Financial Statements have not been prepared in the “processable
format” XBRL. However, the information contained therein is in line with that necessary for the processing
envisaged by Decree Law no. 223 of 4 July 2006, and subsequent implementing provisions.
The Company's Board of Directors will have the exclusive responsibility for (i) codifying the consolidated financial
statements submitted for approval of the shareholders' meeting according to the XBRL technical specifications
envisaged by Decree Law no. 223 of 4 July 2006 and subsequent implementing provisions, (ii) assess
compliance with the principles of clarity, fairness and truth of the consolidated financial statements thus codified
and (iii) proceed with the subsequent filing with the Company Register, as required by current legislation. These
draft consolidated financial statements, insofar as they contain more extensive information than that required by
the XBRL coding, will be filed with the Company Register together with the one prepared in XBRL format.
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COMMENTS ON THE MAIN ASSET ITEMS
FIXED ASSETS
For the three classes of fixed assets (intangible, tangible and financial), specific statements have been
prepared, shown in the following pages, which for each item indicate the information referred to in art 2427,
paragraph 1, point 2 of the Italian Civil Code.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Concessions,
Start-up and expansion Industrial patent and
licenses, trademarks Goodwill
costs
intellectual property
and similar rights
rights

Opening balance
Original Cost
Amortization
BALANCES AT 31/12/2019

1,591
(1,565)
26

Change in the scope of consolidation
Original Cost
Amortization
Merger contributions
Original Cost
Amortization
Changes in the year
Acquisitions
9
Translation
(2)
differences
Consolidation
adjustments
Reclassifications [*]
Net divestments [**]
Amortization
(8)
Closing balance
Original Cost
Amortization
BALANCES AT 31/12/2020

1,601
(1,576)

25

27,597
(25,826) 2
1,771 3)
-

Other intangible

Consolidation

and advances

assets

difference

12,51
(8,47
4,039

85,567
(76,162)
9,405

1,237
o
1,237

1
(1)

-

-

32
(31)

2,239

122
(6)
67
(654)

97 421
(1) (104)
(453)
(1,65
5)

27,901
(26,600) 8
1,301 )

Assets in progress

321
5
- (599)
-

38,214
(32,221)
5,993 )

Total

66,222 232.940
(52,488 (196.735)
13,734
36,205

19
(4)

20
(5)

85
(85)

2,356
(116)

192
(7)
532
(1,001)

1,162
(115)
(63)
-)
(5,397)

12,34
(8,666

83,821
(73,515)

964

39,133
(33,409)

3,68

10,306

964

5,724

(599)

532

(63)
(1,626)

66,159
231,927
(54,114) (197,880)

12,045

34,047

2
[*] Of which
Original Cost
Amortization
Total
[**] Of which
Original Cost
Amortization
Total

-

67

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

67

-

-

-

4,407
(4,407)

-

-

1
121 (1)
(119)
-

3
3
-

-

-

(599)

-

-

532

-

-

-

4,411
-4.411 (4,411)
1,158 (4.411
)

The item Start-up and expansion costs consists of costs applicable to multiple years, amortized over five years.
The value remains substantially in line with the 2019 figure as the amounts related to acquisitions have been
almost offset by the effect of the amortization for the period.
The item Industrial patent and intellectual property rights, which at year end showed a balance of 1,301
thousand euro, mainly included the rights to use data processing software. The decrease for the year, in the
amount of 470 thousand euro, was due to the combined effect of the amortization charge for the year and the
capitalization of other costs incurred mainly by Colacem S.p.A. to activate management software accounting
for a total amount of 110 thousand euro.
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The item Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights included the following values at year end:
2020

2019
2,042
1,140
465
21
14
3,682

Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipalities of Caravate and Sangiano (VA)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Presenzano (CE)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Caprese Michelangelo (AR)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Acuto (FR)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Jesi (AN)
Other concessions
TOTAL

2,191
1,355
465
21
7
4,039

Amortization in 2020 amounted to 453 thousand euro. This item decreased by a total of 357 thousand euro
mainly due to period amortization effects.
The item Goodwill, at the end of the year has the following values:
2020
Goodwill of Toscana Cementi S.r.l.
Goodwill of Colabeton company branches
Goodwill of Transcommunication Media Management
Goodwill of Calcestruzzi S.p.A. - Matelica (MC) company branch
Goodwill of Calce Cementi Lauriano merger
TOTAL

2019
7,403
98
394
301
2,110
10,306

8,740
9
656
9,405

The total value increased by 901 thousand euro. The increase can be attributed to the following aspects:
- 2,110 thousand euro related to goodwill deriving from the portion of the deficit generated by the merger through
acquisition of Calce e Cementi di Lauriano S.r.l. into Colacem S.p.A., which took place in December 2020 following
the cancellation of the investment. Goodwill will be amortized over five years starting from 2021, taking into account
the positive effects that the merger will produce already in the next financial year;
- 301 thousand euro related to goodwill deriving from the acquisition of a company branch of Calcestruzzi S.p.A.
related to a concrete production plant located in the municipality of Matelica (MC);
- 89 thousand euro related to goodwill deriving from the acquisition by Colabeton S.p.A. of a company branch of
Sical S.r.l., which operates in the ready-mixed concrete sector.
The goodwill relating to Toscana Cementi S.r.l. will be amortized over ten years, while the one relating to
Transcommunication Media Management S.r.l. will be amortized over five years.

The item Assets in progress and advances, the balance of which was 964 thousand euro, recorded an overall
decrease of 273 thousand euro mainly due to the reclassification of capitalized costs for improvements on third party
assets made by Colabeton S.p.A. for a total of 289 thousand euro , of which 266 thousand euro related to maintenance
on third party assets related to works on leased concrete construction sites completed in 2020.
The item Other includes the following sub-items at year-end:
2020
Costs for improvements on third-party assets
Costs for leasehold improvements
Surface right on the industrial complex of Ravenna (RA)
Surface right on the industrial complex of Fossato di Vico (PG)
Long-term charges referring to land used for mining
Additional charges on medium and long-term loans
Share capitalized expenses Galatina energy efficiency development
project
Development of unprotected application software
Other
TOTAL

2019
877
396
2,404
72
350
28
1,111
199
287
5,724

602
447
2,481
73
571
1
1,494
1
324
5,993
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Amortization for the year came to 997 thousand euro.
The most significant amounts recorded within the item Other were attributable to the surface rights of some
industrial complexes, the long-term charges related the land used for mining, the capitalized expenses related
to the energy efficiency development project of the Galatina (LE) plant owned by Colacem S.p.A., the costs for
improvements on third party assets and costs for leasehold improvements and expenses capitalised by
Colacem S.p.A. relating to the development of unprotected application software.
The item Consolidation differences refers to the differences between the value paid to purchase the shares
and quotas and related net equity when they are not attributable to assets, arising during full consolidation of
the subsidiaries. At year end, the item is as follows:
2020
Tourist S.p.A.
Toscana Cementi S.r.l.
Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.
Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
Somatp S.A.
TOTAL

Year-end amortization
2020
2026
2027
2029
2029

2019
606
6,103
5,056
280
12,045

11
707
6,975
5,669
372
13,374

Amortization for the year had a decrease of total of 1,689 thousand euro, due to the amortization performed
during the year.
The amortization criteria used for the various items under intangible assets is explained below.
-Start-up and expansion costs

5 years

-Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
-Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights

3 / 5 / 10 years
duration of the authorization or in
proportion to the extracted
material

-Goodwill and consolidation difference

estimate of the useful life
(10 years)

-Other intangible assets
• Improvements on third party assets

shorter of expected useful life
and remaining lease term

• Other

duration of the contract

Regarding the above, please note that the amortization criterion used for the items Industrial patent and
intellectual property rights, Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights and Goodwill is considered to
be consistent with their remaining useful life.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The durable goods in the Group's permanent organization are included in this asset item. When there is
property, plant and equipment held for sale by the Group companies they are recognized separately from
property, plant and equipment in a specific item of current assets.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
machinery

Land and buildings

Opening balance
Original Cost
Revaluations
Allowance for doubtful
accounts
Accumulated depreciation

Assets under
construction and
advances

Other assets

982,135
325,489
(600)
(1,210,882)
96,142

22,119
628
(21,598)
1,149

81,765
4,951
(77,037)
9,679

27,296
(2,737)

437
(390)

410
(362)

1,511
(1,166)

2,165
1,214
(1,857)

5,973
(4,716)

91

50
(48)

Reclassifications [**]
DL 104/2020 Revaluations
Net divestments [***]
Depreciation
Impairment

4,077
(1,532)
117
585
1,182
(1,876)
(6,712)
(4,202)

2,652
(1,115)
42
4,915
90,603
(11,729)
(16,889)
-

617
(13)
8
74
(4)
(660)
-

4,003
(161)
2
72
(198)
(2,474)
-

Accelerated depreciation return

(668)

-

-

-

Balances at 31/12/2019
Change in the scope of consolidation
Original Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Merger contributions
Original Cost
Revaluations
Accumulated depreciation

366,794
54,117
(260,332)
160,579

Industrial and
commercial
equipment

(89)

16,756
(591)
(590)
15,575

Total

1,469,569
385,185
(1,191)
(1,570,439)
283,124

-

29,654
(4,655)

623
-

8,902
1,214
(6,710)

Changes in the year
Acquisitions
Translation differences [*]
Consolidation adjustments

8,654
(2,151)
(5,770)
(63)
-

20,003
(4,972)
169
(124)
91,785
(13,870)
(26,735)
(4,202)

-

(668)

Closing balance
Original Cost
Revaluations
Allowance for doubtful
accounts
Accumulated depreciation
BALANCES AT 31/12/2020

391,760
56,513
(668)

901,758
413,171

22,939
626

84,061
4,889

18,049
-

1,418,567
475,199

(600)

-

-

(591)

(1,859)

(590)

(1,518,992)

(269,974)

(1,148,404)

(22,344)

177,631

165,92

1,221

5

(77,680)

16,868

372,915

(2,151)

(19,529)

11,270

[*] Of which

Original Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total
[**] Of which
Original Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total

(3,748)
2,216

(11,526)
10,411

(299)

(1,805)

286

1,644

(1,115)

(13)

(161)

-

4,915
4,915

74
74

5,409
(3,533)
1,876

82,828
2,921
(74,020)
11,729

(1,532)

585
585

72
72

-

14,557

(2,151)

(5,770)
(5,770)

(4,972)

(124)
(124)

[***] Of which
Original Cost
Revaluations
Accumulated depreciation
Total

73
2
(71)
4

1,535
62
(1,399)
198

63
63

89,908
2,985
(79,023)
13,870
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The main increases/(decreases) in the year, with reference to the net book value of the assets, concerned:
- Land and buildings increased by 17,052 thousand euro. This increase mainly refers to:
- an amount of 23,977 thousand euro for the inclusion in the scope of consolidation of Poggiovalle S.r.l.. This
increase is referred for the total amount of 16,293 thousand euro to a capital gain allocated to the land and
buildings item on the basis of an appraisal conducted in 2018. The following table summarizes the evolution of the
capital gain under analysis :
Residual3%
Year of
purchase

Acquired
%

Purchase value

Pn Poggiovalle on
purchase date

Surplusvalue

Residual land capital

amortized building

gain on 31/12/2020

capital gain on

Total residual
capital gain on
31/12/2021

31/12/2020

1997
2019
2020

40%
20%
20%

9,827
6,006
6,200

674
1,239
1,223

9,152
4,767
4,977
TOTAL CAPITAL GAIN

5,857
920
2,272
2,345
2,372
2,527
ON POGGIOVALLE S.R.L.

6,777
4,617
4,899

16,293

- an amount of 582 thousand euro for the inclusion of Skydomus S.r.l. in the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 1,522 thousand euro for the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into
Colacem S.p.A;
-an amount of 1,182 thousand euro for the revaluation carried out by Santa Monica S.p.A. as permitted
by Decree Law 104/2020. In this regard, it should be noted that the company jointly applied both the
suspension of depreciation and amortization, pursuant to paragraphs 7-bis and 7-quinquies of article 60 of
Decree Law no. 104 of 14 August 2020, as converted with amendments by Law no. 126 of 13 October 2020,
article 1, paragraph 1, in light of the interpretation documents prepared by the OIC. With regard to the
suspension of amortization and depreciation, the company opted to exercise the exemption provided for by
the above-mentioned Decree Law no. 104/2020, as the activities carried out in 2020 were particularly
affected by forced closure and the consequent decrease in revenues, especially due to the subsequent
measures which, in some cases, squashed, and in others, considerably reduced the possibility of working
with the public. The reduction applied took into account the 43.33% drop in turnover. The reduction was not
applied to the ODIC assets included in the agreement with the Municipality of Misano Adriatico relating to
the construction costs of two neighborhood centers for which the leasehold estate will be combined with the
full ownership right in 2022.
The company adopted the “value in use” approach to identify the maximum limit value of the revaluation.
For the purpose of determining the revaluation, the company used the reduction of accumulated
depreciation method. The company decided not to allocate deferred taxes on the revaluation reserve, in
suspension for tax purposes, based on the assumption that it did not intend to distribute this reserve and,
in any case, use it in a way that would entail its taxation. With regard to the greater value attributed to
assets during the revaluation process, a provision has been made, starting in 2021, for recognition of
income tax and regional tax on productive activities purposes, of payment of a substitute tax of 3% of the
aforementioned taxes in addition to any additional taxes;
- an amount of 1,690 thousand euro to Santa Monica S.p.A. mainly due to costs incurred for the
construction of the asphalt surface of the track;
- an amount of 1,033 euro thousand to Colabeton S.p.A. relating to the purchase of land for 465
thousand euro and the purchase of some industrial buildings for 568 thousand euro;
- an amount of 834 thousand euro to Colacem S.p.A. mainly related to the purchase of buildings included
in the acquisition of three business branches for the production of concrete located in the municipalities of
Spello (PG), Gualdo Tadino (PG) and San Severino Marche (MC)) from Betontir S.p.A. of the
HeidelbergCement Group for about 470 thousand euro, and, as already described in the comments on
intangible fixed assets, to the purchase of a business branch for the production of concrete in the
municipality of Matelica (MC) from Calcestruzzi S.p.A. of the HeidelbergCement Group for 406 thousand
euro. The purchases described herein are part of the broader acquisition process carried out in the
previous year with the purchase of the Spoleto (PG) cement plant by Colacem S.p.A..
Some decreases were recorded during the year and mainly related to:
- an amount of 988 thousand euro for the disposal of certain properties by Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.;
- an amount of 360 thousand euro for the disposal of certain properties by Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.;
- an amount of 296 thousand euro for the disposal of certain properties by Citadelle Uniteci S.A.;
- an amount of 232 thousand euro for the disposal by Colacem S.p.A. of land in Montelago in the municipality
of Nocera Umbra (PG) and the depreciation of the industrial site in Acquasparta (TR), Palazzone, for which
a complex demolition and reclamation project began in December.
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The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2020 of the value of the
assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the assets
under review equal to 1,532 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization accounted for 6,460 thousand euro , while write-downs, which had a total
negative impact for 4,202 thousand euro , were made by Spoleto Cementi for 2,502 thousand euro,
Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. for 1,500 thousand euro and by Colacem S.p.A. for 200 thousand euro.
- Plants and machineries increased by 69,783 thousand euro. This increase is mainly attributable to the
combined effect generated by:
- an amount of 1,257 thousand euro for the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into
Colacem S.p.A;
- an amount of 75,801 thousand euro for the revaluation carried out by Colacem S.p.A and 14,200 thousand euro
for the revaluation carried out by Ragusa Cementi S.r.l., as permitted by Decree Law 104/2020. For both
companies, the revaluation involved the “Plants and machineries ” item , specifically the firing lines and some
grinding plants falling within the categories of "furnaces and related appurtenances " and "generic and specific
plants“. The aforementioned revaluations were carried out by revaluing the historical cost of each asset. In order to
identify the maximum limit value of the revaluation, the Directors of the two companies referred to an expert’s report
drawn up by an independent third party specifically appointed to evaluate the "MVICU - Market Value in Continued
Use" of revalued assets. The revaluation involved, however, an amount lower than the potential amount emerging
from the estimate outcomes. Therefore, the values entered in the financial statements after revaluation do not
exceed those actually attributable to the assets with regard to their size, production capacity and actual possibility of
economic usage. Said expert’s reports also redefined the "remaining useful life" of revalued assets, ranging from
12 to 18 years, depending on the plant analyzed. Consistently with this approach, starting from the 2021 financial
year, the companies will redefine the depreciation scheme for these assets on the basis of the residual useful life
thus redefined. This approach makes the revaluation recognition method irrelevant in terms of its effects on the
calculation of depreciation rates, viz. its impact on the depreciation period. With regard to the greater value
attributed to assets during the revaluation process, a provision has been made, starting in 2021, for recognition of
income tax and regional tax on productive activities purposes, of payment of a substitute tax of 3% of the
aforementioned taxes in addition to any additional taxes.
The companies decided not to allocate deferred taxes on respective revaluation reserves, in suspension for tax
purposes, based on the assumption that they did not intend to distribute this reserve and, in any case, use it in a
way that would entail their taxation.
- an amount of 602 thousand euro for the revaluation carried out by Santa Monica S.p.A. as allowed by Italian
Legislative Decree no. 104/2020. As regards the method and logic of the revaluation of the company's plants,
reference shall be made to what has already been said above concerning the revaluation of the property and
buildings of Santa Monica S.p.A.;
- an amount of 2,746 thousand euro for investments made by Colabeton S.p.A.;
- an amount of 1,733 thousand euro for investments made by Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 1,247 thousand euro for investments made by Citadelle Uniteci S.A.;
- an amount of 680 thousand euro for investments made by Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.; and
- an amount of 532 thousand euro for investments made by Colacem S.p.A.in the production plants of Caravate (VA),
Rassina (AR), Gubbio- Ghigiano(PG), Galatina (LE), and Sesto Campano (IS) that involved upgrading, adaptation ,
and improvement of technical characteristics and management of energy resources, as well. The construction of
a new cement bagging and palletizing line is nearing completion, in addition to the realization of new
ash dosing hoppers to feed the "raw "line at the Galatina (LE) cement plant, the conversion of the industrial building
for indoor storage of pet coke , the construction of a new feeding and drying plant for the production of
pozzolanic cements, and the revamping of the "raw" line mill reducers at the Sesto Campano (IS) plant;
- an amount of 366 thousand euro for investments made by CAT S.A..
Some decreases were recorded during the year and mainly related to:
- an amount of 7,417 thousand euro for the disposal of some plants by Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.;
- an amount of 3,612 thousand euro for sales made by Citadelle Uniteci S.A;
- an amount of 403 thousand euro for the disposal of some plants by Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
- an amount of 213 thousand euro for sales made by Colabeton S.p.A..
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The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2020 of the value of the
assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the assets
under review equal to 1,115 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 16,889 thousand euro.
- Industrial and commercial equipment increased by 72 thousand euro. This increase is mainly attributable to
the combined effect generated by:
- an amount of 91 thousand euro for the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into
Colacem S.p.A;
- an amount of 680 thousand euro for investments made by Ragusa Cementi S.p.A..;
- an amount of 372 thousand euro for investments made by Colacem S.p.A.;
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2020 of the value of the
assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the assets
under review equal to 13 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 660 thousand euro.
- Other assets increased by 1,591 thousand euro. This increase is mainly attributable to the combined effect
generated by:
- an amount of 345 thousand euro for including Poggiovalle S.r.l. in the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 1,078 thousand euro for investments made by Colacem S.p.A., for the purchase of a new Hitachi
excavator at the Caravate (VA) plant, equipped with devices allowing its interconnection with the company
systems, which benefited from the "Tax credit for investments in capital goods 4.0" provided for by Law
160/2019;
- an amount of 905 thousand euro for investments made by Tracem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 604 thousand euro for investments made by Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 511 thousand euro for investments made by Citadelle Uniteci S.A.;
- an amount of 433 thousand euro for investments made by Cat Transport S.A.;
- an amount of 157 thousand euro for investments made by CAT S.A.;
- an amount of 136 thousand euro for investments made by Citadelle Uniteci S.A.;
- an amount of 104 thousand euro for investments made by Colabeton S.p.A..;
increases offset downwards by sales:
- an amount of 83 thousand euro for disposals made by Cat Transport S.A.
- an amount of 58 thousand euro for disposals made by Colabeton S.p.A.;
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2020 of the value of the
assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the assets
under review equal to 161 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,474 thousand euro.
At year end, the item Assets under construction and advances, in the amount of 16,868 thousand euro, refers
to plants, machinery not yet completed, and advances paid to suppliers for the acquisition of durable goods,
and arose mainly from:
- an amount of 623 thousand euro for the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into
Colacem S.p.A
- an amount of 5,038 thousand euro for Colabeton S.p.A.
- an amount of 4,246 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 2,890 thousand euro for Santa Monica S.p.A..;
- an amount of 1,862 thousand euro for Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 1,809 thousand euro for CAT S.A.
- an amount of 1,039 thousand euro for Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.;
- an amount of 183 thousand euro for Tourist S.p.A.;
- an amount of 112 thousand euro for Inba S.p.A.;
- an amount of 101 thousand for Somatp S.A..
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2020 of the value of the
assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the assets
under review equal to 2,151 thousand euro.
In previous years, some tangible fixed assets have been subject to economic and/or monetary revaluation in
accordance with the specific laws. With regard to the economic revaluations carried out in previous years by
attributing the "negative merger differences", it is acknowledged that the new values recorded, sworn by an
independent expert, are not higher than market prices.
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Pursuant to art. 10, Law no. 72/1983, the table below shows information on the assets still part of the Equity as at
31 December 2020 on which revaluations were made in previous financial years in accordance with specific laws .:
Law
Historical no. 576 Law no. 72
2/12/1975 19/03/1983
cost
Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Industrial and commercial
equipment
Other assets
TOTAL

Law
no. 413
30/12/1991

Law
no. 342
Law no.
21/11/2000 266/2005

Law decree
no.
185/2008

4,329

Law no.2
28/01/2009

Law decree no.
1042020

Revaluation
from
conversion

Merger
Balances at
deficit
Total
attribution revaluations 31/12/2020

82,157

723

3,198

10,341

-

1,214

1,182

11

35,515

56,513

138,670

279,835

1,521

12,884

1,155

152,710

115,433

-

-

76,402

65

53,001

413,171

693,006

2,871

5

37

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

584

626

3,497

7,708

12

83

-

1,922

-

-

-

-

5

2,867

4,889

12,597

372,571

2,261

16,202

11,496

154,632

115,433

4,329

1,214

77,584

81

91,967

475,199

847,770

-

Depreciation, shown in the specific table, was calculated on the basis of rates deemed representative of the remaining
useful life of the tangible assets. The rates applied were as follows:

HOMOGENEOUS CATEGORIES OF ASSETS
LANDS AND BUILDINGS
Land under concession
Industrial buildings
Buildings for hotel use
Quarries, Lands and Yards
Light construction
PLANTS AND MACHINERY
Generic and specific plants
Furnaces and related appurtenances
Water treatment and purification plant
Operator machinery and specific plants
Internal and special plants
Audio-visual and alarm systems
Telephone and telegraph systems
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL EQUIPMENT
Miscellaneous minor equipment and parts
OTHER ASSETS
Vehicles and internal means of transport
Cars and aircrafts
Ordinary office furniture and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic office equipment

Rates applied %
1.10
2.00 / 5.56
1.50
4.00 / 8.00
10.00
3.33 / 25.00
7.75 / 15.50
5.50 / 6.25
10.00 / 20.00
25.00
30.00
20.00
15.5 / 40.00
10.00 / 25.00
20.00 / 25.00
10.00 / 25.00
10.00
14.29 / 33.33

r
_________________________________________
j

89

Consolidated Financial Statements 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS
CHANGES IN FINANCIAL ASSETS
FINANCIAL ASSETS
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGES FROM ASSESSMENT ACCORDING
TO THE NET EQUITY METHOD

CHANGES IN YEAR

CLOSING BALANCE

Investments

4,225

Subsidiaries

919

(18)

1,394

(791)

(53)

168

314

(2)

66

(11,610)

(863)

471

(301)

(4)

1

4

(242)

(24)

1,461

(12,397)

(242)

(5,930)

(623)

31

(232)

5,957

1,066

8,681

--Associates
Other

18,553
6,039

investments

Total

(919) (1,291)

28,817

(1,291)

2,378 1,133

5,798
(916)

639

13

2,409 1,133

834

20,436

Receivables

7,108

Subsidiaries

4,500

Associates

7,951

(253)

19,559

(253)

Other receivables

Total
Other Securities

TOTAL

48,376

O (1,291)

(277)

o

555

496

(1,041)

3,955
(3,216)

4,482

496
21

(6,971)

(3,839)

8,992
21

1,978

(19,368)

(4,081)

(916)

639

13

2,409 1,133

834

29,449

INVESTMENTS
Equity investments, shown in the table below according to the measurement policy used, may be broken
down as follows.
2020
Measured using the equity method

2019
12,573

21,654

- Subsidiaries

4,497

3,708

- Associates

8,076

17,946

7,863

7,163

20,436

28,817

Measured using the cost method
TOTAL

Equity investments measured using the equity method are listed below:
COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

SHARE CAPITAL

SHARE OWNED BY
PARENT IN %

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

Colacem
S.p.A.

CONSOLIDATED
BOOK VALUE

SHARE
OWNED BY
GROUP IN %

Inba
S.p.A.

Subsidiaries excluded from line-by-line consolidation due to dissimilar activities or irrelevance
Via della Vittorina, 60
Gubbio [PG] - ITALY

115

75,00

55

75,00

Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers
S.p.A.

Via Mario Ageloni 80/C
Perugia [PG] - ITALY

201

93,83

774

93,83

1,361

35,70

6 Wellington Piace Kingston
BHCS.A.

Perugia [PG] - ITALY

Trading Puglia S.p.A.

Contrade Murrone
Soleto [LE] - ITALY

Total
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COMPANY

REGISTERED
OFFICE

SHARE
SHARE OWNED BY
CAPITAL PARENT IN
%

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

Colabeton
S.p.A.
Umbria Televisione
S.r.l.
Luciani S.p.A.

Via Monteneri, 37 Perugia [PG]
- ITALY
Fraz. Valdottavo,
Borgo a Mozzano [LU]
- ITALY

Co.Riobeton S.r.l.

Tracem
S.p.A.

1,086

46,.65

0

-

-

228

516

-

50.00

-

-

985

20,026

-

24.00

-

-

4,813

11

-

50.00

-

-

168

10

-

50.00

-

10

-

50.00

-

Via Stazione, 6/L Cucciago [MI]
- ITALY

260

-

50.00

-

-

1,055

Via Marconi, 1 Solignano [PR] ITALY

20

-

50.00

-

-

12

10

-

50.00

-

-

43

15

-

50.00

-

Via Cupa, 13
Foligno [PG] - ITALY

100

-

35.00

-

Via Cupa, 13
Foligno [PG] - ITALY

1,000

-

20.00

-

82

-

50.00

-

100

-

-

10

-

Fraz. S. Eraclio
Foligno [PG] - ITALY
Edilcalce Viola
Olindo & Figli S.p.A.
Calcestruzzi
Coriano S.r.l.

Colacem
S.p.A.

CONSOLIDATED
BOOK VALUE

Via Pagadebit, 6 Rimini [RN] ITALY
Via Macchioni Spilamberto [MO]
- ITALY
Via Cascina del Bosco, 2
Cusago [MI] - ITALY

-

37

-

1

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Lario
80 S.p.A.

Gre.Col. S.r.l.
Nuova Calcestruzzi
Colabeton S.r.l.

Bervan S.r.l.
Consorzio Stabile
San Francesco
S.c.a.r.l.
San Francesco
S.c.a.r.l.
Monteverde
Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
Movit S.r.l.
Eugreen S.c.a.r.l.

Total
TOTAL

Strada Teverina
km 3,600
Viterbo [VT] - ITALY
Via Flaminia, 171 Rimini [RN] ITALY

Via della Cava Culturano [CO] ITALY
Contrada Murrone
Soleto [LE] - ITALY
Via degli Artigiani, 60
Gubbio [PG] - ITALY

-

-

-

0

-

50.00
-

2

105

-

-

-

619

50.00

8
8,076

12,573

As mentioned above, subsidiaries whose inclusion would be immaterial or not suitable for achieving the
purposes of clarity and providing a true and fair view of the Group’s financial performance and financial position
are not included in the consolidation area, since they are not significant.
Overall, the value of equity investments valued at net equity decreased 9,081 thousand euro compared with
the previous year. This decrease was mainly due to :
-

the inclusion of Poggiovalle S.r.l. and Skydomus S.r.l. within the scope of consolidation, which had a
decreasing effect of 9,232 thousand euro and 760 thousand euro, respectively;
the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into Colacem S.p.A., which resulted in a
decrease of 70 thousand euro;
the increase effect generated through the comparison between the book value of investment held in
subsidiary companies with the respective amount of net equity.
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Equity investments measured at cost are listed below:
COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

SHARE
OWNED
BY SUBSIDIARY IN %

SHARE SHARE OWNED
CAPITAL BY PARENT IN

CONSOLIDATED
BOOK
VALUE

%

Colabeton
S.p.A.

Colacem
S.p.A.

Energy For Growth Via Giovanni
da Procida, 11
S.c.a.r.l.
Milano [MI] - ITALY
Trasporti Ferroviari Via Roma, 203
Casentino S.r.l.
Poppi [AR] - ITALY
Corso Umberto I,
Cava Nacalino S.r.l. 46 Modica [RG] ITALY
Les Cementerie
de Bizerte S.A.

BP 53 Baia
de Sebra
Bizerte - [TUNISIA]

n.a.

n.a.

SHARE
OWNED BY
PARENT IN %

Cat S.A.

-

8.70

-

-

5,462

8.70

-

8.25

-

-

196

8.25

-

-

50.00

-

555

50.00

-

-

-

0.23

58

0.23

10
n.a.

Other

1,592

7,863

TOTAL

RECEIVABLES
This item includes short, medium and long-term receivables, the details of which, at year end, are as follows:

2020

2019

DUE DATE IN YEARS
TOTAL
WITHIN 1

Non-consolidated subsidiaries
Associates

TOTAL

FROM 1 TO 5 OVER 5

-

555

-

555

7,108

303

3,652

-

3,955

4,500

Other receivables

1,043

3,439

-

4,482

7,951

TOTAL

1,346

7,646

-

8,992

19,559

The item Receivables from non-consolidated subsidiaries refers to interest-bearing loans in line with market
conditions granted by Financo S.r.l. to Finanza Editoriale S.r.l. in the amount of 555 thousand euro .
The decrease in this item is due to the fact that, following the inclusion of the subsidiary Skydomus S.r.l. in the
scope of consolidation area, the financial receivable that Financo S.r.l. had with it as at 31 December 2019,
amounting to 5,930 thousand euro, was canceled .
The receivable that Financo S.r.l. had with Radio Gubbio S.r.l. as at 31 December 2019, amounting to 573
thousand euro, following the merger by acquisition of Umbria Televisione S.r.l. into Radio Gubbio S.r.l.,
resulting in the establishment of Umbria Televisione S.r.l., an associated company of Financo S.r.l., led first
to the partial repayment of the receivable in question and then to its inclusion in the item Receivables due
from associates in the amount of 170 thousand euro .
The item Receivables due from associates mainly related to:
- non-interest bearing loans granted by Colabeton S.p.A. to the companies Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l. in the
amount of 500 thousand euro, to the consortium Vallemme, in the amount of 285 thousand euro, Luciani
S.p.A., in the amount of 70 thousand euro, Bervan S.r.l. in the amount of 36 thousand euro, Cava Nacalino
S.r.l., in the amount of 33 thousand euro and Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l., in the amount of 18 thousand
euro;
- loan for a total amount of 2,540 thousand euro granted by Colabeton S.p.A. to Cava di Cusago S.r.l. detailed
as follows: interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions in the amount of 2,240 thousand euro and
non-interest bearing loan in the remaining amount of 300 thousand euro ;
- interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions granted by Financo S.r.l. to Umbria Televisioni S.r.l in the
amount of 170 thousand euro;
- interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions granted by Tracem S.p.A. To Eugreen S.c.a.r.l. in the
amount of 303 thousand euro;
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The item Other receivables, in the total amount of 4,482 thousand euro, comprised:
- deposits paid in the amount of 3,966 thousand euro, of which 3,469 thousand euro with expiry after 12
months, referring to: 1,852 thousand euro as sums paid by Colacem S.p.A. to the guarantee fund
established by law no. 208 of 28 December 2015 at Terna S.p.A. for the commitments undertaken by the
Company as assignee in the financing of works for the construction of the interconnection infrastructures
(so-called Interconnector) with foreign countries.
- receivables of Financo S.r.l. in the amount of 500 thousand euro;
The 3,469 thousand euro decrease in this item, mainly refers to the collection by Colacem S.p.A. of receivable
in the amount of 3,307 thousand euro that the company had with Beton Provincial Ltd following the sale of
Colacem Canada lnc .

BREAKDOWN OF NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
The table below shows the breakdown of non-current receivables by geographic area.
Geographic area
Italy
Non-current assets by geographic area
Subsidiaries
Associates
From others
TOTAL

Central
America

Europe

North
Africa

TOTAL
_________ À

555
3,955

-

-

-

555

-

-

-

3,955

2,857
7,367

113
113

179
179

1,133
1,133

4,482
8,992

NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS WITH BUYBACK OBLIGATIONS
As at 31 December 2020, no receivables resulting from transactions with buyback obligations were recognized
by the Group in the financial statements Therefore, there is nothing to report on this issue, pursuant to art. 2427
no. 6-b of the Italian Civil Code.

CURRENT ASSETS

INVENTORIES
This item is detailed as follows:

2020

2019

Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables

74,045

75,082

Semi-finished products

21,283

22,369

Finished products and goods

13,227

12,182

1,790

1,926

110,345

111,559

Advances
TOTAL
Inventories were measured using the weighted average price method.

RECEIVABLES
This item, in the amount of 231,267 thousand euro, compared with 246,165 thousand euro as at 31 December 2019,
reported a net decrease of 14,898 thousand euro, as explained in more detail below. The entrance of Poggiovalle
S.r.l. and Skydomus S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation led to an increase of 619 thousand euro and 16 thousand
euro respectively .
Subsidiaries

Associates

Customers

Opening balance
Change in year
Closing balance
Share with expiry over 5
years

147,594
12,499
160,093 2
-

Taxes

361
1,55
1,913
-

27,005
(19,537)
7,468
-

Total current
receivables

Prepaid taxes

7,191
1,105
8, 296
-

Other

40,718
(38)
40,680
-

23,296
(10,479)
12,817
-

246,165
(14,898)
231,267
-
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CUSTOMERS
This item, which primarily includes receivables from sales of cement and ready-mixed concrete, was as follows at
year end:

2020
Receivables due within the next year

2019

166,081

152,182

4,982

5,108

Allowance for doubtful accounts

(10,970)

(9,696)

TOTAL

160,093

147,594

Receivables due after the next year

Receivables from customers consist of receivables arising from normal sales transactions and mainly regard
domestic customers.
The item under review is shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts set aside in order to evaluate trade
receivables at their presumed realizable value that, after the provision for the year in the amount of 3,024
thousand euro, came to 10,970 thousand euro.
The portion due beyond the following year refers to credits for VAT paid in advance to the tax authorities and
not yet recovered due to the non-payment by customers undergoing bankruptcy proceedings. For these
receivables, which are expected to be recovered in normal commercial terms, the Group did not use the
amortized cost method.
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
This item includes non-current receivables from Group companies that are not fully consolidated and at the end of the year were made up
as follows:

Non-consolidated subsidiaries
Associates
TOTAL

2020
1,913
7,468
9,381

2019
361
27,005
27,366

The aforementioned receivables, which do not show amounts due beyond the next year, mainly relate to sales
of finished products made by Group companies to some subsidiaries that are not fully consolidated and
associates such as Buying House Cement Ltd., Co.Riobeton S.r.l., Cava di Cusago S.r.l., Consorzio Stabile
San Francesco S.c.a.r.l., Consorzio Vallemme, Luciani S.p.A., Calcestruzzi Germaire S.r.l. and Monteverde
Calcestruzzi S.r.l..

TAX RECEIVABLES

2020
Tax receivables
- amounts due within the next year
- amounts due beyond the next year
TOTAL

7,951
19
8,296

2019
7,172
19
7,191

Tax receivables, in the amount of 8,296 thousand euro, mainly related to tax receivables claimed by Colacem
Spain in the amount of 2,369 thousand euro, Financo S.r.l. in the amount of 2,211 thousand euro, Colacem
Albania Sh.pk in the amount of 1,721 thousand euro and Colacem S.p.A. in the amount of 1,052 thousand euro.
National Tax Consolidation Scheme
Some companies of the Financo Group have joined the "National Consolidation" tax scheme provided for under
the tax reform, introduced with Legislative Decree no. 344 of 12 December 2003, and governed by articles 117129 of the TUIR (the Consolidated Income Tax Act).
The following subsidiaries participate in this scheme:
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Consolidating company
Hydraulic binders
Colacem S.p.A.
Ragusa
Cementi S.p.A.
Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l.

Financo S.r.l.

Consolidated companies
Concrete
Colabeton S.p.A.

Transportation
Tracem S.p.A.

Diversified
Tourist S.p.A.

.

Inba S.p.A.
Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.

Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Skydomus S.r.l.
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Sunflower S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers
S.p.A.
Aermarche S.r.l.

r
_________________________________________
j

The consolidating company, Financo S.r.l., calculated a single Group tax base equal to the sum of the taxable
incomes for each consolidated company, decreasing it based on the interest payable which is not deductible
for tax purposes, set off by non-utilized gross operating results pursuant to paragraphs 5-a, 7, and 8 of Article
96 of the TUIR. As at 31 December 2020, the net position with the Tax Authority was a tax saving of 9,586
thousand euro.

GROUP VAT
Some companies of the Financo Group participate in the “Group VAT” system provided for by Art. 73, paragraph
three, of Pres. Decree no. 633 of 26 October 1972.
The following subsidiaries participate in this scheme:

Consolidating company

Financo S.r.l.

Hydraulic binders
Colacem S.p.A.
Ragusa
Cementi S.p.A.
Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l.

Consolidated companies
Concrete
Colabeton S.p.A.

Transportation
Tracem S.p.A.

Diversified
Tourist S.p.A.

.

Inba S.p.A.
Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Skydomus S.r.l.
Trading Puglia S.r.l.
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Sunflower S.r.l.
The parent company, Financo S.r.l, makes a single VAT payment consisting of the sum of the payments of
Grifo Insurance Brokers
each participating company, if necessary paying the balance to the Tax Authority.S.p.A.
As at 31 December 2020,
Aermarche S.r.l.

the net position with the Italian tax authorities was a debt of 1,661 thousand euro.

DEFERRED TAXES
This item is made up entirely of deferred tax assets relating to negative components deductible in subsequent years with
respect to the year in which they were recorded in the Income Statement and losses that can be carried forward for tax
purposes. The item may be broken down as follows:

2020
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Service costs
Provisions for Risks and Charges
Losses that can be carried forward
Cash flow hedge
Unrealized foreign currency losses
Other
TOTAL

2019
3,995
2,030
916
1,601
31,831
272
1
34
40,680

4,471
2,305
727
1,365
31,545
218
83
4
40,718
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The balance of this item, in the amount of 40,680 thousand euro, mainly includes:
-

-

-

-

an amount of 31,831 thousand euro for deferred tax assets on tax losses, of which 30,866 thousand euro
carried forward by the parent company Financo S.r.l., relating to the establishment of the national tax
consolidation scheme and an amount of 788 thousand euro by Colacem Esparia S.L.U
an amount of 3,995 thousand euro to deferred tax assets mainly recognized on the higher depreciation
carried out in the consolidated financial statements to align the depreciation rates with the rates applied at
Group level, of which 3,761 thousand euro relating to Domicem S.A.;
an amount of 2,030 thousand euro to deferred tax assets mainly recognized on goodwill costs deductible in
future years, of which 1,933 thousand euro relating to Colacem S.p.A
an amount of 916 thousand euro to deferred tax assets mainly recognized on services costs deductible in
future years, of which 440 thousand euro relating to Colacem S.p.A and 261 thousand euro relating to
Colabeton S.p.A:
an amount of 1,601 thousand euro for deferred tax assets recognized in the provisions for risks and charges,
of which 1,362 thousand euro relating to Colabeton S.p.A. for statutory bad debt provision.

The recognition of deferred tax assets is supported by estimates according to which future income will make it
possible with reasonable certainty to absorb the differences that originally generated them in the years in which
they will be reversed. Indeed, the recognition of these receivables is consistent with future income that can be
deduced from the industrial and financial plan, which highlights taxable results such as to allow the complete
recoverability of the values in question. For this reason, the Directors consider these receivables entered in the
financial statements to be fully collectable.

OTHER RECEIVABLES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2020

2019

Receivables from employees

166

384

Receivables from social security institutions

370

290

Receivables from the Electricity Equalization Fund

3,382

3,382

Receivables from energy efficiency certificates

2,856

1,942

Receivable for the A.G.CoM penalty instalment

-

11,541

6,313

5,757

12,817

23,296

Other
TOTAL

The above receivables are all collectable and no value adjustments have been made on them.
During the year, the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. accrued receivables for energy efficiency certificates (white
certificates), related to certain projects, approved by the Authority for Electrical Energy and Gas, which are
carried out at production plants and are aimed at saving energy by upgrading the plants used in the production
cycle.
Receivables from the Electricity Equalization Fund refer to the registration of the benefit, pursuant to Ministerial
Decree of 5 April 2013, linked to the adjustment of the general charges of the electricity system in favor of
energy-intensive companies. The amount relates for 2,104 thousand euro to Ragusa Cementi S.p.A, for 802
thousand euro to Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. and for 476 thousand euro to Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. .
The Receivable for the AGCM penalty instalment, the amount of which was of 11,541 thousand euro in the
previous year and was attributable to Colacem S.p.A, and was related to the instalments paid, up to 31
December 2019, of the penalty imposed by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM), which has already been
discussed in the "Pending disputes and proceedings" section of the management report. On 16 March 2020,
the ruling of the Council of State was delivered. Despite the fact that Colacem S.p.A. attempted - through its
legal counsel - to challenge the ruling, the penalty was confirmed in the amount of 18,274 thousand euro; this
credit was offset against the payable arising from the aforementioned ruling, against which, as at 31 December
2019, the related provision for risks was aligned, as reported below in the comment on the item Other provisions.
The item Others, in the amount of 6,210 thousand euros, relates to:
- an amount of 1,578 thousand euro in receivables from Colabeton S.p.A. for the amount paid as a result of
the pending litigation notified to and challenged by the company:
- an amount of 389 thousand euro and 201 thousand euro in receivables from suppliers for advances on
services respectively pertaining to Colabeton S.p.A. and Colacem S.p.A.;
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- a total amount of 379 thousand euro in receivables relating to government incentives on investments waiting
to be collected made by Tracem S.p.A. relating to 2017, 2018 and 2019;
- a total amount of 345 thousand euro in receivables to government grants waiting to be collected made by
Poggiovalle S.r.l. following its inclusion in the scope of consolidation;
- a total amount of 310 thousand euro in receivables of Santa Monica S.p.A., of which 45 thousand euro are
grants to be collected from GSE for the supply of electricity produced by its photovoltaic plants, and, for the
amount of 178 thousand euro, from other public grants waiting to be collected;
- an amount of 58 thousand euro for deposits paid by Colabeton S.p.A.;
Pursuant to Art. 2427, point 6 of the Italian Civil Code, the following table shows a geographic breakdown of the
receivables recognized:

Geographic area
Customers
Italy

Subsidiaries

145,184

74

Associates

7,468
-

-

North America

8,287
-

-

-

Central America

9,835

1,839

7,757

-

-

(10,970)

-

-

Europe

North Africa
Risk Fund
TOTAL

160, 093

1,913

7,468

Taxes

Prepaid taxes

Other

3,926

36,131

12,415

4,090
-

788
-

45

-

3,761
-

280
8,296

TOTAL
205,198
-

13,210
-

254

15,689

-

103
-

(10,970)

40,680

12,817

231,267

8,140

CURRENT RECEIVABLES RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS WITH BUYBACK OBLIGATIONS
As at 31 December 2020, the Group companies did not record any receivables relating to transactions with
buyback obligations. Therefore, there is nothing to report in relation to these transactions pursuant to art. 2427
no. 6-ter of the Italian Civil Code.
OTHER SECURITIES
The value of the securities held at the end of the year totaled 3,351 thousand euro and relates to short-term
certificates of deposit signed by CAT S.A.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
This item, in the amount of 59,867 thousand euro, includes interest accrued at 31 December 2020.
The increase in the individual items, compared with the previous year, came to a total of 30,358 thousand euro.
The bank deposits in question are not subject to restrictions or constraints of any kind. The change in financial
assets is detailed in the attached cash flow statement.

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
At year-end, this grouping may be broken down as follows:

2020
Accruals

-

2019
42-

Deferrals

4,036

4,142

TOTAL

4,036

4,184

The item Deferrals mainly relates to lease payments and rent receivable pertinent to subsequent years. In
particular, the amount of 1,200 thousand euro regards a single contract for the multi-year lease of land used for
extraction activity, entered into by Colacem S.p.A. in 2015.
CAPITALIZED FINANCIAL EXPENSES
All interest and other financial charges were fully expensed during the year. For the purposes of art. 2427, para.
1, no. 8 of the Italian Civil Code we confirm that no financial charges were capitalized.
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NOTES ON THE MAIN LIABILITY ITEMS
Below is a detailed description of the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share
capital

BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2018

Revaluation
reserves

6,000

Legal
reserve

Consolidated
NonConsolidated
Shareholders controlling shareholders'
’ Equity of interests - equity pertaining
Profit (loss)
the Group
share
to the group and
for the year
capital
minority interests

Other
Cash flow hedge
reserves
reserve

124,927 18,559

145,865

(554)

(11,663)

306,460

28,960

335,420

11,422

-

(11,663)

-

-

-

-

-

(10,076)

(10,076))

Allocation
Net Income 2018
-

-

-

Dividends distributed
Change in shares,
consolidated companies

Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

-

(7)

(145)

Translation reserve

-

-

-

854

-

-

Net income 2019
BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2019

6,000

124,927

(241)
-

18,800

158,134

(152)

(131)

(21)

854

(1,274)

(420)

-

10,564

10,564

14,623

25,187

(699)

10,564

317,726

32,364

350,090

Allocation
Net income 2019
-

-

-

-

10,564

-

( 10,564)

-

-

Dividends distributed
Change in shares,
consolidated companies

Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(10,890)

(10,890)

-

224

Revaluation reserve

-

Translation reserve

-

Net income 2020

-

BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2020

-

6,000

88,991

2,607

-

-

-

-

(6,399)

-

-

213,918

18,576

-

164,906

(160)

-

2,223

87

2,310

-

-

88,991

-

88,991

-

19,834

(6,399)
19,834

(4,495)
17,656

(10,894)
37,490

(859)

19,834

422,375

34,722

457,097

. ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

The main classes making up the Equity and the related changes are discussed below. The table below shows the
changes in the classes making up Equity.

SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital as at 31 December 2020, fully subscribed and paid up, amounted to 6,000 thousand euro,
divided into shares pursuant to the law.

REVALUATION RESERVE
At 31 December 2020, this item came to a total amount of 213,918 thousand euro, made up of the positive
balances of the monetary revaluation reserve following the application of the following laws:
2019

2020
Revaluation reserve Law no. 576/1975
Revaluation reserve Law no. 72/1983
Revaluation reserve Law no. 413/1991
Revaluation reserve Law no. 342/2000
Revaluation reserve Law no. 266/2005
Revaluation reserve Decree Law no. 185/2008
Revaluation reserve Law no. 126/2020
TOTAL

98

211
956
385
86,417
36,419
576
88,954

205
929
381
86,417
36,419
576
-

213,918

124,927
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Increases relating to the revaluation reserves under Laws 576/1975, 72/1983 and 413/1991 are attributable to
the effects of the merger by acquisition of Calce Cementi Lauriano S.r.l. into Colacem S.p.A., while, as
regards the increases relating to the revaluation reserve under Law 126/2020, as already mentioned above,
these relate to the revaluations carried out by Colacem S.p.A., Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. and Santa Monica
S.p.A. in the amounts of 73,526 thousand euro, 13,774 thousand euro and 1,654 thousand euro
respectively. The amount of revaluations made by Colacem S.p.A. and Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. will have both
tax as well as accounting effects, and the related reserves have been recognized net of the substitute tax due
of 2,274 thousand euro, which will be paid in three annual instalments starting from the next tax payment date
due for the financial year 2020, while as regards the revaluation made by Santa Monica S.p.A., a provision for
deferred taxes of 54 thousand euro has been recognized.
All reserves, excluding the reserve of Legislative Decree 185/2008, operate under the tax suspension regime.
No tax allocation has been made, as there are no transactions that could determine its taxation.
The Group companies that performed the revaluation, as pursuant to Law No. 126/2020, did not consider it
appropriate to take advantage of the additional possibility of tax relief on the Revaluation Reserve provided for
by the law, through the payment of a 10% substitute tax as the probability that this reserve will be distributed
is very low .

OTHER RESERVES
The composition of this grouping is as follows:

2020
Extraordinary reserve
Available reserve
Consolidation reserve
Capital gains from contribution
Capital contribution reserve pursuant to art. 55 T.U.I.R.
TOTAL

2019
90,277
46,528
1,372
20,728
6,001

84,960
35,952
10,493
20,728
6,001

164,906

158,134

The increases in the Extraordinary reserve and Available reserve were mainly due to the combined effect of
the income of the previous year and the inclusion of Poggiovalle S.r.l. and Skydomus S.r.l.. into the scope of
consolidation. The decrease in the Consolidation reserve is due to the consolidation of Poggiovalle S.r.l. using
the full consolidation method, which implicitly led to the elimination of part of the amount entered in this item,
referring to a capital gains of Poggiovalle S.r.l., which was improperly entered originally in this specific
reserve.

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE
The negative reserve changes due to the accounting of future cash flows stemming from derivative instruments
that are destined as "cash flow hedging instruments". The other information section of these notes contains
further details on hedging transactions. Below is an analysis of the changes in the cash flow hedge reserve :
2020
Cash flow hedge reserve
TOTAL

Changes in the year and
changes in fair value

(859)
(859)

(160)
(160)

2019
(699)
(699)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit, in the amount of 19,834 thousand euro, represents the result for the year.

MINORITY INTEREST IN CAPITAL AND RESERVES
The changes in this item are provided in the annex.
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PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Opening balance

Change in the year
Closing balance

Provision for
Provision for
pensions and
taxes, including
similar obligations deferred taxes
182
3,878

18
200

(714)
3,164

Other
provisions

Total provisions
for risks and
charges

920

24,771

29,751

216
1,136

(15,498)
9,273

(15,978)

Derivative
instruments,
liabilities

13,773

The item Provision for pensions and similar obligations, includes 179 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A. and 21
thousand euro for Colabeton S.p.A.
The Provision for taxes, including deferred taxes, in the amount of 3,164 thousand euro, mainly includes
deferred taxes relating to negative components of income deductible in advance of their recognition in the
Income Statement or to positive components of income already recognized in the Income Statement, but taxable
in subsequent fiscal periods. This provision includes an amount of 2,177 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A.,
525 thousand euro for CAT S.A, 164 thousand euro for Colacem Espana S.l.u., 107 thousand euro for Tourist
S.p.A. and remaining amount of 191 thousand euro for other consolidated companies of the Group.
The table below shows a breakdown of the Provision for Deferred Taxes.

2020
Accelerated depreciation
Revenues taxable in subsequent years
Capital gains on disposals
Deferred taxes on revaluations L. 126/2020
Other minor charges
TOTAL

764
109
2,184
54
53
3,164

2019
1,241
2,637
3,878

The Provision for derivatives, liabilities includes the effects of the fair value valuation (Mark to Market) of the
existing derivative financial instruments. For information on “Financial derivatives, liabilities”, please see the
specific paragraph in the Other Information section of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
The item Other provisions as at 31 December 2020, amounted to 9,273 thousand euro.
As the Financial Statements show, the item in question recorded an overall decrease of 15,498 thousand euro, of
which the amount of 18,274 thousand euro referred to the " Provision for penalties imposed by the Italian
Competition Authority (AGCM) " entered in the 2019 consolidated financial statements by Colacem S.p.A. as a
result of an antitrust penalty imposed during 2019. Despite the fact that Colacem S.p.A. attempted - through its
legal counsel - to appeal the fine decided by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM), the same was confirmed
for the entire amount with the ruling of the Council of State delivered on 16 March 2020.
The total amount entered in the Financial Statements, mainly refers to:
-

100

1,282 thousand euro for charges connected with the extension and expansion of the Sasso Poiano mine in
Caravate (VA), which Colacem S.p.A. undertook to bear during 2019 and in the coming years;
1,100 thousand euro for expenses related to operating result variable bonus to be paid to Colcem S.p.A. staff in
2021;
1,083 thousand euro for provisions made during consolidation with the equity method of investments in the
associated companies Cava di Cusago S.r.l. for 822 thousand euro, Consorzio Stabile San Francesco for 127
thousand euro, Bervan S.r.l. for 80 thousand euro and Monte Verde Calcestruzzi S.r.l. for 54 thousand euro, as
an adjustment of the book value as illustrated in the table below;
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COMPANY

REGISTERED
OFFICE

SHARE
CAPITAL

SHARE OWNED BY THE
PARENT IN %

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

CONSOLIDATED BOOK
SHARE OWNED BY THE
VALUE
GROUP IN %

Colabeton S.p.A

Associates

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.

Consorzio Stabile San
Francesco

-

-

-

Via Cupa, 13 Foligno IPG] ITALIA

-

50.00

(822)

50.00

100

-

35.00

(127)

35.00

10

Bervan S.r.l.

Via Flaminia, 171
Rimini [RN] - ITALY

15

-

50.00

(80)

50.00

Monte Verde Calcestruzzi
S.r.l.

Via della Cava, Culturano
[CO] - ITALIA

82

-

50.00

(54)

50.00

TOTAL

-

Via Cascina del
Bosco, 2
Cusago [MI] - ITALY

(1,083)

1,081 thousand euro for provisions made by Colabeton S.p.A. for disputes relating to work carried out: 700
thousand euro pertaining to 2019 and a further 381 thousand euro pertaining to 2020 , of which 250 thousand
euro following the Court of Appeal's ruling in the dispute with Inerti Pedemontana S.r.l., that Colabeton
S.p.A. has decided to appeal; 116 thousand euro for provisions against presumable losses on advances on
supplies granted to the investee company Cocave Esino S.c.a r.l., the collectability of which is considered
doubtful in connection with the decision to liquidate the company and for which a waiver is envisaged in
order to provide the necessary capital instruments, and 15 thousand euro for provisions for the company's
executives performance bonus .
1,026 thousand euro for provisions made by CAT S.A. relating to tax audits referring to the tax periods from
2013 to 2015;
854 thousand euro for provisions made by Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. mainly relating to the restoration of the
Vittoria quarry;
639 thousand euro for provisions made by Aermarche S.r.l. for maintenance related to the helicopter;
571 thousand euro for provisions made by Colacem S.p.A., of which 300 thousand euro referring to the
provision for restoration costs of an area previously used for mining activities at Palazzone in the
municipality of Acquasparta (TR), in view of a complex environmental recovery project to be carried out.
171 thousand euro referring to provisions made by Colacem S.p.A. in relation to its commitment towards the
Lombardy Region to carry out hydraulic and forestry works on the Viganella stream in the municipality of
Caravate (VA) and 99 thousand euro connected to the aforementioned merger by acquisition of Calce e
Cementi di Lauriano S.r.l. into Colacem S.p.A. and relating environmental restoration works;
253 thousand euro for provisions made by Colacem Albania Sh.P.K. relating to tax assessments;
217 thousand euro for provisions made by Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l., of which 214 thousand
euro for tax assessments related to the 2008 tax year currently pending before the Supreme Court of
Cassation;
206 thousand euro for provisions made by Colacem S.p.A. for tax liability ,of which the increase recorded in
the year, amounting to 150 thousand euro, relates to the provision made by Colacem S.p.A. for disputes
relating to IMU property tax pertaining to some past years , for which the company is evaluating conciliation
and settlement proposals.

Additional pending disputes exist, which are related to ordinary company business activities. Although it is not
possible to predict or determine with certainty the outcome of these proceedings, the Group feels that the final
rulings will not have a significant adverse impact on its economic-financial conditions, taking into account the
provisions already recognized in the Financial Statements.
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)
The changes in the item during the year were as follows :

2019

2020
16,633

Opening balance
Change in the scope of consolidation

46

17,561
269

187

0

4,081
(4,930)

4,225
(5,422)

16,017

16,633

Merger contribution
Provision for the year
Uses/payments
CLOSING BALANCE

This item increased as a result of the inclusion of Poggiovalle S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation, which contributed
for a total of 46 thousand euro, for the amounts set aside in favor of staff for post-employment benefits (TFR) pursuant
to the law, and decreased due to the payments made to former employees, for advances granted for healthcare
expenses and for the purchase of their first home and, since July 2007, for companies under Italian law, based on
the reform of the supplementary pension (Legislative Decree no. 252/2005), for payments made to closed pension
funds and to the Treasury Fund managed by INPS.

PAYABLES
Below we explain the composition and changes in the year of the items included in this grouping
Pension and
Other
Advances

115,439

52,901

1,713

40,572

(5,805)

156,011

47,096

Banks
Opening balance
Change in year

Closing balance
Share with expiry over 5 years

Subsidiaries Associates

lenders

-

-

Suppliers

social
security
Taxes
institutions
12,865
4,830

Other

91,952

945

14,832

227

6,154

(667)

(11,969)

5,837

389

(26,653)

8,085

1,940

98,106

278

2,863

18,702

5,219

24,681

354,896

-

-

-

-

-

-

51,334

Total
Payables

-

346,811

-

PAYABLES TO BANKS
Payables to bank comprise the following:
2020

2019

DUE DATE IN YEARS
WITHIN 1

Pool financing UniCredit, MPS Capital Services, BPM 2018
Pool financing with SACE guarantee (ECGD) 2020
Popular Bank Limited
Intesa San Paolo
UniCredit
Ministero dello Sviluppo Economico

Banco BHD Leon
Banca Popolare di Desio
BCC Pergola e Corinaldo
BCC Centro
ICCREA Banca Impresa
BCC Leverano
UBCI
Banco Popular Dominicano
Syndicated loan Unicredit - BPM - Banca Popolare Valconca
- MPS - ICCREA
Ubi Banca
Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena
Banco BPM
Veneto Banca
Cassa di Risparmio di Orvieto
Amortized cost effect on POOL loan 2018
Amortized cost effect on POOL loan 2020

TOTAL

102

15,000
4,489
196
496
3,030
1,741
1
49
4
89
(425)
(65)

24,605

5

FROM 1 TO

TOTAL

OVER 5

TOTAL

52,500
37,500
14,676
7,2984,452
2,023
836
1,766
976
1,000
200
-

7,500
1,000
516
-

67,500
45,000
19,165
8,298
4,648
3,035
3,030
2,577
1,767
1,025
1,000
204
89
-

75,000
25,075
234
824
1,145
2,127
1
28
4,226

(635)
(198)

(4)

(1.060)
(267)

2,848
2,500
1,668
746
394
250
(1,627)
-

9,012

156,011

115,439

122,394
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The change in payables due to banks, following the inclusion of Poggiovalle S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation,
amounted to 1,706 thousand euro.
Details are provided below on the main transactions with credit institutions shown in the table above. With regard to
the loan granted by the Pool UniCredit, MPS Capital Services and BPM, taken out by Colacem S.p.A. on 28 June
2018, for a total of 120 million euro, which provided for a first line of 90 million euro, maturing on May 30, 2024, and
a second line of RCF facility for a total of 30 million euro, which was reduced to 10 million euro by a waiver agreement
and amendment in March 2019, maturing on 31 December 2021.
As a guarantee for the obligations deriving from the loan agreement, a pledge on the shares of the share capital of
some subsidiaries is provided, accompanied by the personal guarantee issued by the parent company Financo S.r.l..
With reference to the first line of the Re-Financing agreement, with a waiver and amendment deed signed on 29 May
2020, a moratorium on the 7,500 thousand euro instalment due on 30 May 2020 was formalized, postponing its
payment to 30 May 2024. At the same time, the final maturity date of the credit line was postponed to 30 November
2024.
Further amendments to the original contract were formalized with a subsequent deed signed on 8 July 2020. Said
amendments mainly referred to the updating of extraordinary transactions and allowed financial debt, as well as the
suspension of financial covenants verification for the 2020 financial year.
For the recognition of the syndicated loan in the amount of 90 million euro, whose residual debt amounted to 67,500
thousand euro as at December 31, 2020, the amortized cost method was applied, by entering the debt nominal value
net of related transaction costs. At year-end, the effect of the application of the amortized cost method on the
remaining structuring costs amounted to 1,060 thousand euro.
The RCF line was undrawn as at 31 December 2020.

As part of the measures put in place by the government to deal with the Covid 19 emergency, on 8 July 2020
Colacem S.p.A. formalized a new loan granted by the Pool UniCredit S.p.A., Banco BPM S.p.A. and MPS
Capital Services Banca per Imprese S.p.A. for a total amount of 45,000 thousand euro 90% of which
guaranteed by a surety issued by SACE,S.p.A. pursuant to Decree-Law no. 23 of 8 April 2020, as converted
by Law no. 40 of 5 June 2020 ("Decreto Liquidità "). This loan, having a total duration of six years, shall be
repaid in quarterly instalments by 30 June 2026.
For the recognition of the pool financing in the amount of 45,000 thousand euro, the amortized cost method
was applied by entering the debt nominal value net of the related transaction costs. At the end of the year, the
effect of the application of the amortized cost on the residual structuring costs amounted to 267 thousand
euro.
To limit the interest rate risk of the loan, three Interest Rate Swap (IRS) transactions were formalized with the
same pooling banks for a total notional equal to 50% of the loan amount.
Financial transactions with the Popular Bank Limited Inc., in the amount of 19,165 thousand euro, include:
- 13,039 thousand euro paid to Citadelle United S.A. for two loans which include a short-term amount of 2,037
thousand euro and 11,002 thousand euro due beyond the next year.
- 6,126 thousand euro of disbursements to Domicem S.A. of which 3,674 thousand euro relating to a medium
term loan maturing beyond the next year on 13.05.2020 and 2,452 thousand euro relating to short-term
credit lines;
Financial transactions with Intesa San Paolo., in the amount of 8,298 thousand euro, include:
- a new loan of 5,000 thousand euro to Colabeton S.p.A., which was granted during the year repayable in 20
constant quarterly instalments, starting on 31 January 2022 and ending on 31 October 2026. This loan is
backed up, to the extent of 90 % of the capital disbursed, by the Guarantee Fund for Small and MediumSized Enterprises set up at Banca del Mezzogiorno - MedioCredito Centrale S.p.A., pursuant to Legislative
Decree no. 23/2020 and the 'Temporary framework for State aid measures to support the economy in the
current Covid 19 emergency' adopted by the European Commission. There are no interest-rate hedging
transactions on existing loans.
- a new loan of 1,300 thousand euro to Tourist S.p.A. was granted during the year. This loan is backed up,
within the limit of 90% of the disbursed capital, by the Guarantee Fund for small and medium-sized
enterprises established at Banca del Mezzogiorno - MedioCredito Centrale S.p.A., pursuant to Law Decree
23/2020 and the "Temporary framework for State aid measures to support the economy in the current Covid
19 emergency" adopted by the European Commission.
- a new loan of 1,998 thousand euro in a single disbursement to Santa Monica S.p.A. was granted during the
year. This loan, with maturity date on 30 October 2026, is backed up, within the limits of 90% of the disbursed
capital, by the Guarantee Fund for small and medium-sized enterprises set up at Banca del Mezzogiorno MedioCredito Centrale S.p.A., pursuant to Law Decree 23/2020 and the "Temporary framework for State
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aid measures to support the economy in the current Covid 19 emergency” adopted by the European
Commission.
Financial transactions with UniCredit S.p.A., for a total of 4,648 thousand euro, regard:
- an amount of 4,452 thousand euro of disbursements to Santa Monica S.p.A. relating to a pool financing with
BPM, Banca Popolare Valconca, MPS, ICCREA, of which Unicredit is the syndicate leader
- an amount of 196 thousand euro of disbursements to Tourist S.p.A. relating to a bank overdraft.
Financial transactions with the Ministero dello Sviluppo Economico- Ministry of Economic Development-, in the
amount of 3,035 thousand euro, is entirely attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and related to the energy efficiency
development project of the Galatina plant (LE). The repayment date of the loan under review, a second
disbursement of which in the amount of 2,216 thousand euro was made on 10 September 2020, is scheduled
for 31.12.2026.
Financial transactions with Banco BHD Leon, for a total of 3,030 thousand euro, relate entirely to loans granted
to Domicem S.A. for short-term credit lines.
Financial transactions with Banco Desio S.p.A., in the amount of 2,577 thousand euro, regard:
- an amount of 1,105 thousand euro to the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A., for a loan initially repayable by 3 April
2020. The final maturity of the loan under review was postponed by 12 months to 3 April 2021, following a
proposal made by the bank in 2020;
- an amount of 915 thousand euro to the subsidiary Poggiovalle S.p.A., following its first inclusion in the
scope of consolidation, and related to a loan granted in previous years for a photovoltaic plant of one mega
Kwh installed on the roofs of its buildings, of which 79 thousand euro repayable within 12 months and 836
thousand euro repayable beyond one year with maturity during 2028;
- an amount of 557 thousand euro to the subsidiary Colabeton S.p.A., for a loan initially repayable by 21
June 2020 and then postponed to 21 June 2021, with payment of just interest instalments to be made during
the year;
Financial transactions with BCC di Pergola e Corinaldo, in the amount of 1,795 thousand euro, regard:
- an amount of 790 thousand euro for disbursements to Poggiovalle S.r.l. following its first inclusion in the
scope of consolidation and specifically referring to:
- an amount of 600 thousand euro for a loan of which 98 thousand euro with maturity within 2021 and the
remaining amount of 502 thousand euro due beyond the next year;
- an amount of 190 thousand euro for a loan whose total repayment will be completed by 2026, due beyond
the next year and backed up, to the extent of 90 % of the capital disbursed by the Guarantee Fund for
Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises set up at Banca del Mezzogiorno - MedioCredito Centrale S.p.A.,
pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 23/2020 and the 'Temporary framework for State aid measures to
support the economy in the current Covid 19 emergency' adopted by the European Commission.
Financial transactions with BCC Centro, in the amount of 1,000 thousand euro, relate to a new loan granted to
Tracem S.p.A. during the year. This loan is backed up, within the limits of 90% of the disbursed capital, by the
Guarantee Fund for small and medium-sized enterprises set up at Banca del Mezzogiorno - MedioCredito
Centrale S.p.A., pursuant to Law Decree 23/2020 and the "Temporary framework for State aid measures to
support the economy in the current Covid 19 emergency” adopted by the European Commission.
Financial transactions with Banca ICCREA, in the amount of 1,000 thousand euro, relate entirely to a new loan
granted to lnba S.p.A..

PAYABLES TO OTHER LENDERS
This item had a balance of 47,096 thousand euro. The increase compared to the previous year, in the amount
of 5,620 thousand euro, was mainly attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and Citadelle United S.A.
With regard to Colacem S.p.A.:
payables to other lenders came to a total of 45,671 thousand euro.
The amount of 41,492 thousand euro reflects the outstanding debt towards Italcementi S.p.A. of which 26,072
thousand euro for the deferred payment, with final maturity on 31 December 2025, for the purchase of the equity
investment in Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l., 13,420 thousand euro related to the deferred payment, with final
maturity on 31 December 2025, for the purchase of the equity investment in Spoleto Cementi S.r.l., 890 thousand
euro for the deferred payment , with final maturity on 31 December 2025, for the purchase of the equity investment
in Calcestruzzi Marchegiani S.r.l. , and 1,100 thousand euro related to the deferred payment, with final maturity on
31 December 2025, for the purchase of some business branches for the production of concrete based in Umbria
and Marche.
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Total payables of 41,492 thousand of Euro were secured by a pledge made on the shares representing 100%
of the share capital of the subsidiary Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. which, starting from 1 March 2019, was the subject
of the contribution by the parent company Colacem S.p.A. of the cement production plant located in Contrada
Tabuna - Ragusa (RG) and the related mining activities.
This item, in the amount of 4,179 thousand euro, is related to the disposal of the investment in the subsidiary
Colacem Canada Inc. by Colacem S.p.A., which was preceded by the buy back by Colacem Canada Inc. of the
shares held by the shareholder Simard Beaudry, the payment of the price of which has been deferred and last
instalment is expected in April 2022. At the same time as the sale of the shareholding, Colacem S.p.A. took on
this debt, of which it received the relative nominal value from the subsidiary Colacem Canada Inc, guaranteeing
it, in part, by channeling the cash flows stemming from the extension of the sale price of the investment granted
to BW Materials Inc, accompanied by the personal guarantee issued by the parent company Financo S.r.l.
As regards Citadelle United S.A., the balance as at 31 December 2020, in the amount of 1,425 thousand euro,
refers to the interest-bearing loan with a repayment obligation granted by the non-controlling shareholder Bigio
Gilbert.

PAYABLES FOR ADVANCES
Payables for advances, in the amount 1,940 thousand euro, regard advances received from customers for
future sales; during the previous year they amounted to 1,713 thousand euro.

PAYABLES TO SUPPLIERS
This item, in the amount of 98,106 thousand euro, increased by 6,154 thousand euro compared with the
previous year, as a result of the inclusion of Poggiovalle S.r.l. and Skydomus S.r.. into the scope of consolidation,
which led to an increase of 255 thousand euro and 204 thousand euro in payables to suppliers respectively , as
well as the combined effect of the increases recorded by Colacem S.p.A.. in the amount of 5,103 thousand euro,
Colabeton S.p.A. in the amount of 3,542 thousand euro and by Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. in the amount of 933
thousand euro, which were offset by the decreases in payables to suppliers recorded by Domicem S.A. in the
amount of 3,650 thousand euro, CAT S.A.. in the amount of 1,075 thousand euro and by Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
in the amount of 633 thousand euro.

PAYABLES TO SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
The nature and composition of the Payables to subsidiaries and associates are shown below:
2020

2019

Payables due to subsidiaries
Group IRES
Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Granulati Centro Italia S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers S.p.A.
Total
Group VAT
Trading Puglia S.p.A.
Skydomus S.r.l.
Total
Other
Skydomus S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers S.p.A.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Total
Total

262
262

263
105
465
23
856

-

1
85
86

16
16
278

1
2
3
945
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The nature and composition of Payables to associates are shown below:
2020
Payables due to associates
Trade
Calce e Cementi Lauriano S.p.A.
Cava di Cusago S.r.l.
Consorzio Stabile San Francesco S.c.a.r.l
San Francesco
San Francesco S.c.a.r.l., in liquidation
S.c.a.r.l. Umbria Televisioni
Coriobeton S.r.l.
Edilcalce Viola Olindo & Figli S.p.A.
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l.
Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
Luciani S.p.A.
Consorzio Vallemme
Nuova Calcestruzzi Colabeton S.r.l.
Eugreen S.c.r.l.
Total
Other
Monte Verde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
Nuova Calcestruzzi Colabeton S.r.l
Other
Total
Total

2019

495
1,364
1
46
31
99
7
137
621
21
2,822

2
493
13,319
1
31
95
35
8
79
41
692
1
3
14,800

39
2

31
1
32
14,832

41
2,863

TAX LIABILITIES
This item may be broken down as follows:
2020

2019

Payables to tax authorities
Income taxes for the year

12,720

8,088

Payables for withholdings
VAT

5,700
282

4,476
301

18,702

12,865

TOTAL

PAYABLES TO PENSION AND SOCIAL SECURITY INSTITUTIONS
This item, in the amount 5,219 thousand euro, refers to the payables due at the end of the year to these
institutions for the portions paid by the Group companies and borne by the employees in relation to the wages
and salaries of December, as well as for the share of deferred remuneration.
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OTHER PAYABLES
This item may be broken down as follows:
2020

2019

Short-term payables
Payables to employees for wages and salaries

6,784

5,081

Payable for the purchase of a company branch

310

310

Payable for the purchase of equity investments

1,008

134

Payable to the Ministry of the Environment (Italy) for EUAs

9,951

34,593

Payable due to the Province of Varese
Payable to AGCM
Payable for differences on futures contracts for the repurchase
of EUAs

36

121

1,447

1,542

-

5,155

Other

3,610

2,790

23,146

49,726

Payable for the purchase of a company branch

-

310

Payable for the purchase of equity investments

866

198

Payable due to the Province of Varese
Payable to AGCM

363

362

286

710

20

28

1,535

1,608

24,681

51,334

Total
Long-term payables

Other
Total
TOTAL

Among Other Payables, the most significant change related to the recognition by Colacem S.p.A. of the payable
due to the Ministry for the Environment connected with the obligation to return EUAs on the basis of greenhouse
gas emissions produced during the year. This debt was entered at its presumed expiry value, which coincides
with the value of the allowances as at 31 December 2021, as deducted from the market trend. During 2020, the
Company recognized a surplus of allowances, as the difference between the free allocation of EUAs and those
consumed during the year which, in addition to the purchase of 579,497 allowances on the market, reduced the
allowance deficit for the year ending 31 December 2020 compared to the previous year. The debt of the previous
year was therefore reduced in proportion to the surplus allowances and as a counter-entry was recognized in
the item Other Revenue and Income, while the correction related to the expiry cost from 24.6 euro/ton in 2019
to 32.54 euro/ton as at 31 December 2020, was recognized under the item Other operating expenses .
The payables due to the Lombardy region ( ex-Province of Varese) posted by Colacem S.p.A. already in 2015,
is related to the charges due to the Entity for the expansion and extension of the "Sasso Poiano" mining
concession in Caravate (VA).
The payables for the purchase of a company branch, in the total amount of 310 thousand euro, refers to the
outstanding debt contracted by Colacem S.p.A. for the purchase of the company branch for the exercise of
mining activities already mentioned in the section on “Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights”.
The payables to AGCM, in the total amount of 1,733 thousand euro, of which 286 thousand euro refers to the
fines resulting from the decision of AGCM that became final with the ruling of the Council of State, of which
612 thousand euro to Colacem SpA , with maturity within the following year, and the remaining 835 thousand
euro, with maturity within the next year, and 286 thousand euro, maturing beyond the next year, to
Colabeton S.p.A .
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MATURITIES OF PAYABLES DUE BEYOND THE NEXT YEAR
Payables due after the next financial year, broken down by maturity, are as follows:

DUE DATE IN YEARS
FROM 1 TO 5

BEYOND 5

Payables to banks

122,296

9,012

Payables to other lenders

43,709

-

131,308
43,709

68

-

68

2,020

-

2,020

305

-

305

1,535

-

1,535

Payables to suppliers
Payables to tax authorities
Payables to pension and social security institutes
Other payables

169,933

TOTAL

TOTAL

9,012

178,945

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL PAYABLES BY INTEREST RATE CATEGORY
The breakdown of financial payables by interest rate category is as follows :
2020

2019

Interest rate classes
Up to 2%

53,461

56,107

2.01 to 4%

67,536

23,066

82,110
203,107

89,480
168,653

Over 4.01%
TOTAL

Pursuant to art. 2427 of point 6 of the Italian Civil Code, the following table shows a geographic breakdown of
the payables reported in the financial statements:

Geographic area

Other lenders

Banks

Italy

133,727

Europe
North America

108

45,671
-

-

Central America
North Africa

22,195
89

TOTAL

156,011

Advances
180

-

9

-

-

Suppliers

Subsidiaries

82,729

Associates

Pension and
social security

Taxes

Other

TOTAL

278

2,863

8,576

4,434

21,816

300,274

2,997

-

-

249

37

44

3,336

34

-

-

-

-

-

34

1,425
-

1,751
-

6,447
5,869

-

-

7,985
1,892

78
670

2,409
412

42,320
8,932

47,096

1,940

98,106

2,863

18,702

5,219

24,681

354,896
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PAYABLES BACKED BY COLLATERAL ON CORPORATE ASSETS
Banks

Other lenders Advances

Suppliers

Subsidiaries Associates

Pension and
Taxes social security Other
institutions

TOTAL

Payables backed by Collateral
Backed by Mortgages

4,650

Backed by Pledges

73,612

41,492

78,262

41,492

-

-

-

-

77,749
156,011

5,604
47,096

1,940
1,940

98,106
98,106

278
278

2,863
2,863

Total
Unsecured debt
TOTAL

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,848

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

81,680

18,702
18,702

5,219
5,219

-

84,528

24,681
24,681

235,142
354,896

The mortgages recorded on the Group's assets refer to those recorded on the property owned by Santa Monica
S.p.A. to guarantee financing obtained by these companies.
As for pledges, the amount indicated in the previous table may be broken down as follows:
-

-

-

with reference to the loan granted by the Pool of banks, of which Unicredit is the syndicate leader, Colacem
S.p.A. has made a pledge in favor of credit institutes on some equity investments held in its subsidiaries. In
particular, a pledge was made on the equity investment held in Tourist S.p.A. for a nominal value of 10,200
thousand euro, representing the entire share capital of the company, on the equity investment held in Santa
Monica S.p.A., for a nominal value of 13,764 thousand euro, representing 92.89% of the share capital, and
on the entire stake held in Les Ciments Artificiels Tunisiens S.a.;
as already discussed, to fully guarantee the payment of the receivables and related interest relating to the
transactions for the acquisition of the equity investments in Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. and Spoleto Cementi
S.r.l., Colacem S.p.A. has made a pledge on the shares representing 100% of the share capital of the
subsidiary Ragusa Cementi S.p.A, in which Colacem S.p.a., starting from 1 March 2019, has assigned the
cement production plant located in Contrata Tabuna, Ragusa (RG) and the related mining activities.
6,112 thousand euro for a pledge made by Domicem S.A. on machinery relating to the new Loesche mill in
favor of Popular Bank Limited to guarantee the loan granted.

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
As at 31 December 2020, this grouping was as follows:
2019

2020
Accruals

2,552

2,465

Deferrals
TOTAL

942
3,494

20,284
22,749

The item Accrued expenses was mainly attributable to personnel costs, such as the performance bonus for the
year including additional personnel contributions and payments accrued during the year but paid in 2020, and
interest on loans.

The amount of 19,905 thousand euro, recognized in the item Deferred income in 2019 and pertaining to
Colacem S.p.A., is no longer present in these financial statements. This amount referred to the positive
differentials relating to futures contracts on the surplus allowances as at 31 December 2019 and credited on
31 December 2019, in consideration of the positive differential between the EUA market price and the price
agreed with the subscription of the future , whose positive economic manifestation pertains to 2020 as a result
of actual realization, consistent with the hedging strategy applied by Colacem to mitigate the risk of EUA price
changes estimated by the company, in a context not affected by COVID-19.
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NOTES TO THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE INCOME STATEMENT
OPERATING REVENUE
SALES AND SERVICE REVENUES
Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services are as follows:

2020

2019

Cement and hydraulic binders

409,347

397,909

Concrete and aggregates

113,234

102,159

2,679

3,640

10,940
536,200

19,759
523,467

Transports
Other
TOTAL

These revenues are from sales to domestic customers for 58% and sales to foreign countries for the remaining 42%.
Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services are broken down by geographic area as follows:

2019

2020
Italy

310,628

327,086

Europe

60,130

42,259

North Africa
North America

37,577

40,227

-

2

Central America
Other
TOTAL

127,862
4
536,200

113,891
2
523,467

CHANGES IN INVENTORIES FOR IN-PROGRESS, SEMI FINISHED AND FINISHED PRODUCTS
The item under review had a negative balance of 1,178 thousand euro, mainly attributable to the decrease in
the inventories of semi-finished products.

INCREASE IN OWN WORK CAPITALIZED
In 2020, costs relating to materials and labor for a total of 1,453 thousand euro were capitalized in this item,
mainly including an amount of 613 thousand euro attributable to Domicem S.A. and an amount of 249 thousand
euro attributable to Colacem S.p.A.

OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME
This item comprises:

2020

110

2019

Operating grants
Farming grants
Other
Other revenue and income
Operating income
Capital gains from disposals
Rental income

306
1,380

436

32,751
373
1,671

26,610
13,748
1,903

Other
Total
TOTAL

6,354
41,149
42,835

5,717
47,978
48,414
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The item Other in Operating grants amounted to 1,380 thousand euro and mainly related for 876 thousand euro
to Colacem S.p.A., which saw an increase in the item of Grants for research and development projects with
reference to the project "Study and development of materials, design and construction criteria, technological
and process solutions able to guarantee an improvement in the performance, energy efficiency and
environmental sustainability of small- and medium-sized cement production systems" obtaining the grant for
the second and last stage of progress. Farming grants refer to Poggiovalle S.r.l. for the entire amount.
Operating income also includes the revenues of Colacem S.p.A. relating to the energy interruptibility and
“interconnector” service and revenues relating to the EUA emission allowances. The change compared to the
previous year, is due to the higher revenues from the realization of differentials on futures contracts settled in
March 2020 and the quantification of the surplus on Eua allowances, which reduced the overall payables due
to the Ministry.
The item Other in Other revenue and income, amounting to 6,354 thousand euro, included 4,261 thousand euro
pertaining to Colabeton S.p.A, and in particular in the amount of 2,763 thousand euro in revenue related to the
management of Colabeton S.p.A.'s consortia activity attributable to the pro-rata chargeback of the portion of
revenue pertaining to Colabeton S.p.A. concerning the Consorzio Stabile San Francesco S.c.a.r.l. and
Consorzio Vallemme.

OPERATING COSTS
COSTS FOR PURCHASES
Costs for purchases comprised the following items:

2020
Raw materials
Subsidiary materials and consumables
Finished products and goods
Maintenance materials
Energy products
TOTAL

65,207
53,570
4,630
9,493
34,433
167,333

2019
60,629
42,530
4,347
10,167
51,636
169,309

The item Costs for purchases, in the amount of 167,333 thousand euro, is mainly attributable to costs
contributed by Colacem S.p.A. for 61,149 thousand euro, by Colabeton S.p.A. for 34,326 thousand euro, by
Domicem S.A. for 30,651 thousand euro, by CAT S.A. for 9,274 thousand euro, by Citadelle United S.A. for
8,423 thousand euro, by Colacem Albania for 6,459 thousand euro, by Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. for 6,135
thousand euro, by Colacem Spagna for 4,014 thousand euro and by Tracem S.p.A. for 2,570 thousand euro.
The decrease in this item came to a total of 1,976 thousand euro. The change in the item Energy products,
mainly attributable to Colacem S.p.A., reflects both lower consumption compared to the previous year and an
effect of the average procurement prices of electricity and fuels used in the production process.

SERVICE COSTS
Service costs comprise the following items:

2020
Production services
Sales services
General administrative services
Remuneration of corporate bodies
Directors' fees
Statutory Auditors' fees
Independent auditor
Supervisory body
Total
Other
TOTAL

2019

91,556
58,717
10,334

95,491
58,302
9,982

3,758
297
270
75
4,400
16,926
181,933

3,722
292
301
58
4,373
22,268
190,416
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The item Service costs, in the amount of 181,933 thousand euro, is mainly attributable to costs relating to
Colacem S.p.A. for 79,786 thousand euro, to Colabeton S.p.A. for 38,818 thousand euro, to Domicem S.A. for
20,271 thousand euro, to CAT S.A. for 10,525 thousand euro, to Ragusa Cementi S.r.l. for 6,467 thousand
euro, to Tracem S.p.A. for 5,637 thousand euro, to Santa Monica S.p.A. for 5,493 thousand euro, to Citadelle
United S.A. for 3,756 thousand euro, to CAT Transport S.A. for 1,723 thousand euro , to Inba S.p.A. for 1,604
thousand euro, to Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. for 1,598 thousand euro, to Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. for 1,359
thousand euro, to Colacem Albania for 1,312 thousand euro and to Tourist S.p.A. per 1,064 thousand euro.
The item Other mainly refers to insurance premiums, EDP and external consulting costs.

COSTS FOR USE OF THIRD-PARTY ASSETS
This item comprises:

2020

2019

Rental fees

4,875

5,128

Leasing fees
TOTAL

1,820
6,695

1,830
6,958

Rental fees are mainly related to the use of production plants by Group companies, while Leasing fees are
mainly related to the use of vehicles.

PERSONNEL COSTS
The composition of this item has already been provided in the Income Statement. The average number of employees
broken down by category is as follows:

2020

2019

Senior management

39

39

Middle managers

88

84

744

737

1,120
1,991

1,091
1,951

White-collar employees
Blue-collar workers
TOTAL

Other personnel costs in 2020, in the amount of 3,184 thousand euro, included the costs for temporary workers,
costs pertaining to the year for early retirement and leaving incentives, and expenditure incurred for gifts to
employees.

DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND WRITE-DOWNS
The breakdown of this item is already provided both in the Income Statement and in the tables reporting changes
in tangible and intangible fixed assets.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS
As has been largely explained in the section on Provisions for risks and charges in these notes, the provision
under review relates to an amount of 150 thousand euro set aside by Colacem S.p.A. for disputes relating to
IMU property tax pertaining to some past years, for which the company is evaluating conciliation and settlement
proposals. The item Other miscellaneous provisions refers to:
- Colacem S.p.A. for an amount of 472 thousand euro. The value mainly refers to the provision for restoration
costs of an area previously used for mining activity in Palazzone Acquasparta [TR] in view of a complex
environmental recovery project to be carried out.
- Colabeton S.p.A. for an amount of 419 thousand euro. During the 2020 financial year, the Company set aside
250 thousand euro for the Provision for various charges relating to the dispute with Inerti Pedemontana S.r.l.
and 116 thousand euro for the assessment of collectability of receivables for advances on supplies claimed
from Consorzio Cocave Esino S.c.a r.l.
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2020
Taxes other than income taxes

5,476

6,063

365
772

350

9,598

119

12,976
29,187

3,633
11,004

Miscellaneous commercial costs
Advertising and entertainment
Losses on disposal of assets and contingent liabilities
Other
TOTAL

2019

839

Taxes other than income taxes include mainly the IMU (municipal property tax) pertaining to the year.
The increase in the item Losses on disposal of assets and contingent liabilities was mainly attributable to the
economic effects related to the disposal of assets of Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. for an amount of 7,777 thousand
euro and of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. for an amount of 1,372 thousand euro.
The increase in the item Other was mainly due to Colacem S.p.a. for an amount of 9,870 thousand euro, of
which 5,813 thousand euro related to an increase in the purchase of Eua allowances.

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES)
OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME
This item may be broken down as follows:

2020
Receivables entered as fixed assets
Interest on loans granted to subsidiaries
Interest on loans granted to associates
Other income
Total
From other non-current securities
Miscellaneous income
Other income
Bank interest received
Other
Total
TOTAL

2019

9
9
11
29
1

44
30
15
89
1

407

395

14
421
451

10
405
495

INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCIAL EXPENSES
The item Other interest and financial expenses may be broken down as follows:

2020
Interest expense on financial debt
Subsidiaries
Other interest and financial expenses
Interest expense on bank debt
Interest expense on other debts
Other
Total
TOTAL

2019

-

-

4,706
369
1,368
6,443
6,443

5,046
452
1,668
7,166
7,166
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Interest and other financial expenses mainly related to the loan agreements in place with the various credit
institutions as already explained in the item Payables to banks.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES
This item suffered a net loss of 4,054 thousand euro due to the combined effect of exchange gains in the amount
of 42,334 thousand euro and exchange losses in the amount of 46,388 thousand euro, both mainly attributable
to the companies Citadelle United S.A., Domicem S.A. and Colacem S.p.A..

VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
REVALUATIONS
The item Revaluations of equity investments, in the amount of 639 thousand euro, relates to the positive
differences resulting from the valuation of the equity investments using the equity method.

WRITE-DOWNS
The item Write-downs, in the amount of 1,193 thousand euro, mainly relates to the negative differences resulting
from the valuation of equity investments using the equity method.

AMOUNT AND NATURE OF INDIVIDUAL ITEMS OF INCOME/EXPENDITURE OF EXCEPTIONAL
SIZE OR INCIDENCE
No items of income or expenditure of exceptional size or incidence were recognized in 2020 which, pursuant to
article 2427 paragraph 13 of the Italian Civil Code must be indicated separately.

CURRENT, DEFERRED, AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES FOR THE YEAR
This item, in the amount of 16,609 thousand euro, comprises current taxes for the year in the amount of 28,011
thousand euro, the allocation of prepaid taxes in the amount of 430 thousand euro and the allocation of deferred
taxes in the amount of 11,832 thousand euro.
The expense for income taxes for the year is significantly influenced by permanent differences between the
before tax result for purposes of financial reporting and the taxable income of subsidiaries, due to the nondeductibility for tax purposes of certain costs and expenses. Following is a table reconciling the theoretical tax
burden with the actual charges posted to the Income Statement.
2020
2019
Earnings before taxes
Applicable tax rate % - IRES

(a)
(b) %

62,534
24

31,249
24

(c) = (a) x (b)

15,008

7,500

Effect of the difference between the tax rate of the parent
company and that of the other companies

(d)

1,577

1,399

Tax effect on permanent differences

(e)

3,356

388

Tax effect on temporary differences

(f)

(552)

2,883

Taxes pertaining to previous year

(g)

88

-

Effects of the change in tax rates

(h)

83

128

Withholding taxes on foreign dividends

(i)

1,910

Net effect on current, deferred , prepaid taxes

(l)

(318)

Other taxes

(m)

-

Other changes

(h)

Theoretical tax

Actual income tax burden
Actual IRAP tax charge (for Italian companies)

1,444
559

(6,577)

5,091

(o) = (d) + (e) + (f) + (g) + (h)+(i)+(l)+(m)+(n)

14,575

19,392

(p)

2,034

539

16,609
19,931
Actual tax charge recorded in the Income Statement
(q) = (o) + (p)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

NOTES TO THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
A cash flow statement has been prepared which represents the summary document that links the changes that
occurred during the year in the company's assets to the changes in the financial situation; it highlights the values
relating to the financial resources generated by the company during the year as well as the related uses. With
regard to the method used, it is specified that the Group has adopted, according to the provisions of OIC 10,
the indirect method according to which the cash flow is reconstructed by separating the operating result from
the non-monetary items.
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OTHER INFORMATION
COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES NOT DISCLOSED IN THE
BALANCE SHEET
Details of the commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities not included in the Balance Sheet as at 31
December 2020 are shown below.

2020
2019
A) PERSONAL GUARANTEES PROVIDED
1) Sureties in favor of
a) others
TOTAL PROFESSIONAL GUARANTEES PROVIDED

60

60

60

60

3,670

4,087

1,020

2,002

C) COMMITMENTS
1) Upcoming lease payments
3) Letters of comfort to
a) subsidiaries
b) associates
4) For financial instruments
TOTAL COMMITMENTS
TOTAL MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS

40

-

-

61,500

4,730

67,589

4,790

67,649

SURETIES
OTHER COMPANIES
Sureties, in the amount of 50 thousand euro refer to those issued by Inba S.p.A. in favor of Tirrenia S.p.A.,
relating to tolls and sea freights in progress.

COMMITMENTS
UPCOMING LEASE PAYMENTS
The commitments for financial leasing fees falling due, in the total amount of 3,670 thousand euro, mainly
represent the total value of the leases falling due and to be paid to the lessor companies, including the final
redemption value envisaged by the contracts and excluding the fees already paid.
The accounting system followed for these assets complies with the civil law in force in Italy and provides for the
recognition in the Income Statement of paid lease fees. The adoption of the financial method, the effects of
which would not determine significant values, would have led to the recognition in the consolidated Income
Statement of the year of the interest accrued on the financed capital and of the amortization portions on the
value of the assets themselves, in addition to the entry of the assets under Assets and the residual debt under
Liabilities.

LETTER OF COMFORT
The binding letters of comfort were issued by the parent company Financo S.r.l. to the subsidiaries Grifo
Insurance Brokers S.p.A. and Umbria Televisioni S.r.l.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The amount for 2020 is equal to 0 (zero) as Colacem S.p.A. terminated the futures contracts for the forward
repurchase of 2.5 million energy certificates.
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DISCLOSURE ON DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Some Group companies are exposed to different types of financial risks, including interest rate risks. Therefore,
in order to minimize these risks, the companies use derivative instruments as part of their "risk management"
activities, while derivatives or similar instruments are not used or held for purely trading purposes.
The exposure to interest rate risk in terms of fluctuations in interest rates is essentially linked to the existence
of loans negotiated at variable rates. This risk manifests itself in the possibility of a rise in market rates leading
to a greater disbursement in terms of interest expense.
The aim of this type of hedging is to minimize the fluctuation in interest flows generated by variable rate passive
loans. The exposure to the risk of interest rate fluctuations is calculated on the basis of the amortization schedule
for the loan and the reference parameter used to determine the interest.
All the companies involved have designated under hedge accounting both the derivative instruments present in
previous years and in 2020, having verified the eligibility criteria of the hedge accounting.
The aforementioned hedging transactions concern derivative financial instruments having characteristics very
similar to those of the hedged element, so that they can be defined as “simple hedging relationships” and the
derivative financial instrument is subscribed at market conditions.
Therefore, the subscribed derivative financial instruments have been designated as hedging instruments
pursuant to article 2426 paragraph 1, number 11-bis, of the Italian Civil Code, which sets out “hedging is
considered to exist in the presence of a close and documented correlation between the characteristics of the
hedged instrument or transaction and those of the hedging instrument”.
As at 31 December 2020, the subsidiaries Colacem S.p.A. , Santa Monica S.p.A. and Inba S.p.A. had the
following interest – rate hedging transactions in place on some loans. In accordance with the provisions of article
2427-bis of the Italian Civil Code and the OIC document no. 32, the following information is given regarding
these contracts:

Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (531,062)

Liabilities covered:

UniCredit Pool Loan no. 23433413

Notional value on the reporting date:

24,750,000 euro

Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020:

24,750,000 euro

Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (176,661)
Liabilities covered:
Monte dei Paschi Pool loan no. 35814 901
Notional value on the reporting date:
8,250,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 8,250,000 euro

Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (141,424)

Liabilities covered:
BPM Pool loan no.118601
Notional value on the reporting date:
6,600,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 6,600,000 euro
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Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (60,247)

Liabilities covered:
Unicredit Spa Pool loan no.27049976-SACE guarantee
Notional value on the reporting date:
7,500,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 7,500,000 euro
Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (60,479)

Liabilities covered:
Monte dei Paschi Spa Pool loan no.36338901-SACE guarantee
Notional value on the reporting date:
7,500,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 7,500,000 euro
Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (60,072)

Liabilities covered:
Banco BPM Spa Pool loan no.36338901-SACE guarantee
Notional value on the reporting date:
7,500,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 7,500,000 euro

Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (11,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
285,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 3,000,000 euro
Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (3,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
157,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 1,650,000 euro
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Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (31,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
840,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 3,000,000 euro
Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (8,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
462,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 1,650,000 euro
Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (11,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
285,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 3,000,000 euro

Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (3,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
157,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 1,650,000 euro
Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (31,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
840,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 3,000,000 euro
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Company:

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (8,000)
Pool loan with: Unicredit,, BPM,Banca Popolare Valconca,
Liabilities covered:
MPS, Iccrea
Notional value on the reporting date:
462,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 1,650,000 euro
Company:

Inba S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2020:

Euro (12,000)
BCC Leverano and ICCREA Pool loan

Liabilities covered:
Notional value on the reporting date:
1,000,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2020: 1,000,000 euro

INFORMATION ON RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions were carried out during the year. However, these transactions were concluded at
market conditions, therefore, based on current legislation, no additional information is provided with respect to
what has already been reported in these notes to the financial statements and further explained in the
Management Report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
With reference to point 22-quater of article 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, after the end of the year no significant
events occurred after the reporting period whose effects could require changes or additional comments with
respect to the financial position and financial performance as at 31 December 2020.

TRANSPARENCY OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO ART. 1, PARAGRAPH 125, OF LAW NO. 124
OF 4 AUGUST 2017
Law 124/2017 has introduced in article 1, paragraphs 125-129, new disclosure obligations regarding the
transparency of public funds received and granted; in particular, for companies, the legislation requires the
publication in the explanatory notes to the financial statements for the individual companies under Italian law
included in the consolidation area, of all economic benefits of an amount equal to or greater than 10,000 euro,
received from public sources of the Italian state. More recently, law no. 12 of 11 February 2019 (with which the
"simplification decree" was converted), created a link between the obligations established by law no. 124/2017
and the discipline of the National Register of State Aid, with the aim of simplifying the publication for the
companies benefiting from the aid.
In addition to what is indicated in the National Register of State Aid, section “Transparency”, available at
(https://www.rna.gov.it/RegistroNazionaleTrasparenza/faces/pages/TrasparenzaAiuto.jspx)the
following
additional disbursements were collected from the companies under Italian law included in the consolidation
area:

Colacem S.p.A.
As for the benefits stemming from the application of art. 39 of Legislative Decree No. 83 of 22 June 2012,
converted into Law no. 134 of 7 August 2012 (so-called energy-efficient tariffs), which the company received in
2020, reference should be made to the National Register of State Aid (RNA), introduced by art. 52 of Law no.
234 of 24 December 2012, subsequently amended by art. 14 of Law no. 115 of 29 July 2015 and whose
operation is regulated by Ministerial Decree 115/2017.
Finally, it should be noted that the company received benefits from the so-called virtual import of foreign
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electricity prices (pursuant to Law no. 99 of 23 July 2009). These benefits, however, entail a precise series of
obligations for the company, which together with other "assignee companies", has undertaken to participate in
investments aimed at the construction of power lines connecting the neighboring countries. This is evidenced
by the company Terna S.p.A.., which fulfills the related publication duty.

Granting Entity

Economic Benefit Amount
(thousands of Euros)

150

INVITALIA

Description of the type of benefit received

Operating grants - Call for proposals "Impresa Sicura" - Purchase of
Covid- 19 emergency PPE

Ministry of Economic Development – MISE

395

Operating grants - Fund for Sustainable Growth - Project to develop a
thermal energy recovery system to reduce emissions through the use of
catalytic filtration systems. The project is partly financed by the MISE
through the granting of a subsidized loan.

UE through Alma MATER STUDIORUM –
UNIVERSITY OF BOLOGNA

52

Operating grants - European research project Horizon 2020 NanoMEMC2

Following the conclusion of the project "Study and development of materials, design and construction criteria,
technological and process solutions able to guarantee improvements in terms of performance, energy
efficiency and environmental sustainability of small- and medium-sized cement production plants" presented
pursuant to the Decree of 15 October 2014 and subsequent amendments and additions concerning the
"Intervention of the Fund for Sustainable Growth of large-scale research and development projects addressed
to sustainable industry specific issues ", a contribution was received relating to the second and last stage of
progress status.
The amount of the grant received during the year was 2,610,846.59 euro , of which 394,508.23 euro as an
expenditure contribution and 2,216,338.36 euro as a subsidized loan. The amounts were paid off on 2
September 2020 and 11 September 2020 respectively. In October 2018, the company received the first
payment in the amount of 1,536,156.68 euro , of which 232,118.75 euro as an expenditure contribution and
1,304,037.93 euro as a subsidized loan.

Colabeton S.p.A
Following the merger by acquisition of Calcestruzzi Gubbio S.r.l., the Company has been managing a
photovoltaic plant located in Scheggia (PG) since 2019, the data of the agreement and of the "Incentive Rate
– Feed-in-Tariff" contributions are published on the institutional website of the granting body GSE S.p.A.. No
contributions were collected during 2020, as the payments were all released and collected only during 2021.
In addition to what specified in the aforementioned National Register of State Aid, the following contributions
were received:

Granting Entity

Economic Benefit Amount
(thousands of Euros)

INVITALIA

INVITALIA- MEDIO CREDITO CENTRALE

100
9

Description of the type of benefit received
Oprarting grants - Call for proposals "Impresa Sicura" - Purchase of
Covid- 19 emergency PPE
GUARANTEE FUND - F.Gar.L.662 / 96 – L.D. of 17/03/2020 no. 18 "Cura
Italia" - Issue of a guarantee on the loan of 5 million euro granted by
Intesa Sanpaolo

Inba S.p.A.
In 2020, Inba S.p.A. took advantage of the reduction in excise duties on diesel for automotive use in relation to
the liters consumed, for which the economic benefit during the year was 127,530 euro. Moreover, as a result of
the Relaunch Decree, the company benefited in 2020 of an allowance on the 2019 lrap balance and the first
2020 lrap advance for a total of 16,505 euro and the investment tax credit of 32 euro.
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Poggiovalle S.p.A.
During the year, the Company entered in its Financial Statements and collected the amount of 324,725.39
euro as a contribution from the "GESTORE DEI SERVIZI ENERGETICI G.S.E. S.P.A." based in Rome, for the
photovoltaic system installed and commissioned in the municipality of Fabro on 15/06/2012, Identification
Code 735003, for a total power of 995.22 kW and consisting of 3,942 solar panels.
Said amount is made up of the "CONTO ENERGIA" ( FEED-IN TARIFF) incentive contribution related to
Agreement No. R01L247953007 for 290,913.01 euro and for 33,812.38 euro from the indirect sale "RITIRO
DEDICATO" ( WITHDRAWAL OF DEDICATED SALE ELECTRICITY) as per Agreement No. 47805 dated
04/07/2012.
The Company entered and collected contributions for aid applications for the agricultural and zootechnical
sector submitted to "Agea" , the agency for agriculture subsidy , with the advice of the “Confagricoltura
Umbria” Association of Perugia for an amount of 497,343.07 euro . The same "Agea" paid to the Company a
part of the premiums related to the insurance policies stipulated to guarantee existing crops for 3,668.39
euro.
Contributions in a total amount of less than 10,000 euro were received from the Umbria Region for damages
suffered by the livestock population due to wolf attacks.
This information is easily available on the GSE website as far as contributions from renewable sources are
concerned, and at the Confagricoltura office in Perugia, the body authorised to consult the company file in the
SIAN computer system, where all the agricultural contributions paid out and to be paid by Agea are displayed.
Santa Monica S.p.A.
Santa Monica S.p.A. in 2010 opened a workshop for the production of electricity through a photovoltaic system,
part of the European incentive program for the production of electricity from solar sources through plants
permanently connected to the electricity grid.
This led to an agreement with the Gestore dei Servizi Energetici (GSE) for the recognition of a financial
contribution for each KWh produced. In 2020, energy production amounted to 484,227 kWh, resulting in a
contribution of 143,577 euro, of which 109,252 euro was paid out during the year.
In addition, Santa Monica S.p.A., from 2014, started participating in tourism promotional marketing projects,
falling under the minimum regime, financed by the Emilia Romagna Region according to Regional Law 7/98, as
amended, in the form of an ATI (temporary association of companies).
In 2020, the project led to a contribution of 40 thousand euro not yet paid up at the time this document was
drawn up. With regard to the emergency situation caused by the Covid 19 pandemic, in 2020 the Company
benefited from a series of contributions for both the purchase of specific materials for sanitizing purposes and
PPEs for employees, as well as for belonging to the ATECO codes to be compensated.
In addition, a loan was also granted to the company, corresponding to twice the cost of personnel budgeted in
2019, guaranteed by the guarantee fund, to meet current expenses for which reference to the National
Register of State Aid should be made.

Granting Entity
GSE
Municipality of Misano Adriatico

Economic Benefit Amount
(thousands of Euros)

109
30

Description of the type of benefit received

Photovoltaic system contribution
Contribution for two races of the 2020 Moto GP 2020
event ( motorbike world championship)

Tourist S.p.A.
Pursuant to the requirements set forth in Law no. 124/2017, it is hereby noted that the granting in 2020 of the
contribution referred to in Article 58 of Law Decree 14 August 2020 "Interventions in favour of the catering
sector" for an amount of 9,000 euro, was still pending in the 2020 financial year. A request for non-repayable
grant was made in 2020 according to article 1 of Decree-Law no. 137 of 28 October 2020 and article 2 of
Decree-Law no. 149 of 9 November 2020 (Ristori and Ristori bis -Relief and Relief -bis decrees), which was
paid in January 2021 for an amount of 91,896 euro.
Tracem S.p.A.
During 2020, Tracem S.p.A. received an economic benefit of 337 thousand euro relating to the reduction of
excise duty on diesel for automotive use in relation to the liters of fuel consumed during 2020.
In addition, in 2020 the company made investments benefiting from the contributions provided for by Mit Decree
no. 336 of 22 July 2019,. The related contribution benefit to the plant was 160 thousand euro related to the
purchase of 8 vehicles fueled by LNG (Liquefied Natural Gas) .
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Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l.
During 2020, Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l. took advantage of the reduction in excise duties on
diesel for automotive use in relation to the liters consumed, for which the economic benefit during the year was
88,185 euro. In addition, the company benefited from an investment tax credit -ex super depreciation and
amortization- for 3,159 euro and did not pay the 2019 irap ( Italian regional tax on production activities) balance
of 4,785 euro and the first advance payment of 1,892 Relaunch Decree , as pursuant to the Relaunch Decree.

Gubbio, 31 May 2021
The Board of Directors
Francesca Colaiacovo
Maria Carmela Colaiacovo
Carlo Colaiacovo
Stefano Farabbi
Mariano Spigarelli
Paola Colaiacovo
Giuseppe Colaiacovo
Cristina Colaiacovo
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The undersigned Francesca Colaiacovo hereby declares that the balance sheet and income
statement were not prepared according to the format prescribed in Italian XBRL taxonomy, as it is
not sufficient to represent the Company's specific situation, in accordance with the principle of
transparency and providing a true and fair view as per art. 2423 of the Italian Civil Code.
"Stamp duty paid using the virtual system via the Chamber of Commerce of Perugia
authorized with Ord. Prot. no. 159194/01 of 22/11/2001 of the Ministry of Finance - Dept. of
Revenue - Revenue office of Perugia".
Self-certification, pursuant to and for the purposes of articles 21, first paragraph, 38, second
paragraph, 47, third paragraph and 76 of Presidential Decree no. 445 of December 28, 2000, and
subsequent additions and amendments: "The undersigned Colaiacovo Francesca, as Chairman
of the Board of Directors, hereby declares that this electronic document is consistent with
the document transcribed and signed in the in the company’s ledgers.
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INDEPENDENT Auditors' Report

Deloitte.

Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.
Via della Camilluccia, 589/A 00135 Rome
Italy
Tel: ♦39 06 367491
Fax: ♦39 06 36749282
www.deloitte.it

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
PURSUANT TO ART. 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO. 39 of 27 JANUARY 2010

To the Shareholders of
Financo S.r.l.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group (the "Group"), comprising the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and the cash flow statement for the year ended
on that date and the notes to the financial statements.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the Group as at 31 December 2020, the results of operation and the cash flow for the year
ended in accordance with the Italian standards regulating the basis of preparation of financial statements .
Basis for opinion
We have audited the accounts in compliance with the international standards on auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities pursuant to these standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent from Financo S.r.l. in accordance with the standards and principles relating to ethics and
independence applicable to Italian law on the auditing of financial statements.
We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate evidence on which to base our opinion.
Emphasis of Matter- Revaluation pursuant to Law no. 126/2020
We would like to draw your attention to the paragraph on Property, plant and equipment in the notes to the
financial statements in which the Directors indicate that, in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended on 31 December 2020, some subsidiaries performed a revaluation of "Land and buildings" and "Plant
and machinery". The notes to the financial statements provide information on the methods used for the
revaluation of the assets and the accounting effects of the aforementioned revaluations, in the consolidated
financial statements, on the value of the assets on equity and the tax liabilities for the substitute tax.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Ancona Bari Bergamo Bologna Brescia Cagliari Firenze Genova Milano Napoli Padova Parma Roma Torino Treviso Udine Verona
Registered Office Via Tortona 25- 20144 Milano – 10,328,220,00 euro fully-paid share capital
Tax Code. Business identification number recorded with the Milano Monza Brianza Lodi Business Registry no. 03049560166- R.E.A. No. MI- 1720239 , V.A.T.
no. 03049560166
Deloitte refers to one or more of the following entities: Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, an English limited liability company, and the member firms in its
network, each of which is a legally separate and independent entity. Please read the full disclosure describing the legal structure of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Limited and its member firms at www.deloitte.com/about.
Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.

124

Consolidated Financial Statements 2020

Deloitte.
Responsibilities of the directors and the board of statutory auditors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that provide a true and fair view
in accordance with Italian regulations on the basis of preparation and, within the time limits established by
law, for that part of the internal control deemed necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In drafting the
consolidated financial statements, they are responsible for the appropriateness of the assumption of the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, as well as for adequate disclosure on the subject. The
directors prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless they have
determined that conditions exist for winding up parent company Financo s.r.l. or for interruption of business
operations or have no realistic alternatives to these choices.
The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for monitoring, within the terms provided by law, the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (Italian International Standards) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with international audit standards (ISA Italia), we exercised professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit of the accounts. We also:



identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;



obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control;



evaluated the appropriateness of accounting standards used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;
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reached a conclusion on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concerns.



evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation;



obtained skepticism sufficient and appropriate evidence on the financial information of
the companies or of the different economic activities carried out within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
management, supervision and performance of the Group's audits. We have the
exclusive responsibility of the audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We communicated to the heads of governance activities, identified at an appropriate level as required by ISA
Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit .

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Assessment pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 39/10
The Directors of Financo S.r.l. are responsible for preparing the Financo Group management report as at 31
December 2020, including its consistency with the skepticism related consolidated financial statements and
its compliance with the law.
We carried out the procedures indicated in the auditing standard (SA Italia) no. 720B in order to express an
opinion on the consistency of the management report with the consolidated financial statements of the
Financo Group as at 31 December 2020 and on its compliance with the law, and to issue a statement on any
material misstatements.
In our opinion, the management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of the Financo
Group as at 31 December 2019 and was prepared in compliance with the law.
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With reference to the statement required by art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e) of Legislative Decree 39/10, based
on our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained through our audit, we
have nothing to report.

Rome, 28 June 2021

